A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF MAINSTREAM CLASSROOM TEACHERS AND OVERLY ACTIVE, DISTRACTED STUDENTS

by

Elizabeth Irene Minney

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2024

A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF MAINSTREAM CLASSROOM TEACHERS AND OVERLY ACTIVE, DISTRACTED STUDENTS

by Elizabeth Irene Minney

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

APPROVED BY:

Amy Jones, Ed.D., Committee Chair Brian K. Jones, Ed.D., Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream elementary teachers to initially modify inclassroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. Bandura's (1977) social learning theory was the lens through which this study was examined. In essence, social learning theory suggests that individuals learn what they know and how they should act through formal and informal interactions with others. The central research question around which this study revolved was: What are the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who prefer to first initiate in-classroom instructional modifications to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for testing? Using a qualitative research method, guided by Moustakas (1994), data collected consisted of lived experiences shared by participants. To collect this data, the online study was structured to include a semi-formal individual interview, four written reflective prompts, and one focus group. Triangulation among the data collection methods contributed to validity. The ten teacher participants were current or former mainstream classroom teachers, who had taught for a minimum of four years, at any combination of grades K-6, who preferred to initially modify instruction for overly active, distracted students before referring them for a formal ADHD assessment. Saldana (2021) informed data collection, analysis, and eclectic coding and synthesis. The central research question and three sub-questions were all successfully answered using different combinations of the three emergent themes: Self-agency, School Leadership, and Parents.

Keywords: ADHD, teacher self-efficacy, self-agency, social learning theory, school leadership, labeling students

Copyright

2024

by

Elizabeth I. Minney

All Rights Reserved

Dedication

For Mike

Dandy, Laura, Chris, Ed

Acknowledgments

Thank you, Lord, for everything.

Many thanks to my dissertation committee, Amy Jones Ed.D. and Brian Jones Ed.D.

Much appreciation for those who participated in this study.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Copyright	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
List of Tables	13
List of Abbreviations	14
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	15
Overview	15
Background	16
Historical Context	16
Social Context	19
Theoretical Context	22
Problem Statement	24
Purpose Statement	25
Significance of the Study	26
Theoretical Significance	27
Empirical Significance	27
Practical Significance	28
Research Questions	29
Central Research Question	29
Sub-Question One	29
Sub-Question Two	29

	Sub-Question Three	29
	Definitions	30
	Summary	31
СНАР	TER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	32
	Overview	32
	Theoretical Framework	32
	Related Literature	34
	Preconceptions and Prejudice	35
	Teachers' Use of Social Media	38
	Teacher Self-Efficacy	44
	Teacher Burnout and Work Fatigue	50
	Labeling Students	56
	Medication and Classroom Management	62
	The Influence of Administrators and Fellow Teachers	66
	Summary	71
CHAP	TER THREE: METHODS	73
	Overview	73
	Research Design	73
	Research Questions	75
	Central Research Question	75
	Sub-Question One	75
	Sub-Question Two	76
	Sub-Question Three	76

Setting and Participants	76
Setting	77
Participants	77
Researcher Positionality	79
Interpretive Framework	79
Philosophical Assumptions	80
Researcher's Role	82
Procedures	83
Permissions	84
Recruitment Plan	84
Data Collection Plan	86
Individual Interviews	86
Reflective Prompts	91
Focus Groups	93
Data Synthesis	96
Trustworthiness	99
Credibility	99
Transferability	99
Dependability	100
Confirmability	100
Ethical Considerations	101
Summary	102
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	104

Overvi	iew	104
Partici	pants	105
	Meg	107
	Gwen	108
	Lori	108
	Anne	109
	Pam	109
	Chris	109
	Fran	110
	Deb	110
	Beth	111
	Adelle	111
Result	s	112
Result	S	
Result		113
Result	Theme 1 – Self-Agency	113
	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership	113
	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership Theme 3 - Parents	113 116 119
	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership Theme 3 - Parents The Question Responses	113 116 119 121
	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership Theme 3 - Parents Theme 3 - Parents The Question Responses Central Research Question	113116119121121
	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership Theme 3 - Parents The Question Responses Central Research Question Sub-Question One	113116119121122
Resear	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership Theme 3 - Parents The Question Responses Central Research Question Sub-Question One Sub-Question Two	113116119121122122
Resear	Theme 1 – Self-Agency Theme 2 - School Leadership Theme 3 - Parents The Question Responses Central Research Question Sub-Question One Sub-Question Two Sub-Question Three	113116119121122122123

Overview	126
Discussion	126
Summary of Thematic Findings	127
Implications for Practice	127
Empirical and Theoretical Implications	129
Limitations and Delimitations	145
Recommendations for Future Research	147
Conclusion	148
References	151
Appendix A	199
IRB Approval	199
Appendix B	200
Consent Form	200
Appendix C	203
Social Media Recruitment	203
Appendix D	204
Verbal or Written Recruitment (E-Mail)	204
Appendix E	205
Recruitment Follow-Up (Reminder)	205
Appendix F	206
Permission to Solicit Participants (Facebook)	206
Appendix G	208
Screening Questionnaire	208

Appendix H	209
Individual Interview Questions	209
Appendix I	210
Research Questions	210
Sub-Question One	210
Sub-Question Two	210
Sub-Question Three	210
Appendix J	211
Audit Trail	211

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant Details	.105
Table 2. Teachers' Descriptions of Overly Active, Distracted Students	.107
Table 3. Experiences That Shaped Teachers' Attitudes About Students	124
Table 4. Theme Development.	.113
Table 5. Alignment Between Themes and Research Questions	.121

List of Abbreviations

Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD)

Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

Disability Critical Race Theory (Dis Crit Theory)

Individualized Education Program (IEP)

Intentional Professional Network (IPN)

Response to Intervention (RTI)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

An overly active, distracted child is constantly active, fidgety, mentally restless, and displays difficulty attending (Barkley & Peters, 2012; Bob & Konicarova, 2018; Lange et al., 2010). The introduction of an overly active, distracted student to a mainstream classroom requires teachers to draw upon their own professional judgement on how best to serve that child's needs. Some teachers will initially make instructional modifications for the wiggly child. However, often classroom teachers will immediately recommend that the active distracted child be evaluated for ADHD (CDC, 2022; Chunta & DuPaul, 2022; Gascon et al., 2022; Kulakowski et al., 2020). Teachers' professional judgements are the product of countless factors among which are their own life experiences, beliefs and prejudices towards groups and individuals, their personal mental health, and their feelings of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1986; D'Urso & Petrucceli, 2021; Verkuyten et al., 2020). This phenomenological study explores, in the teachers' own words, why they personally choose to initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students. Social, academic, and personal and professional experiences that have influenced their attitudes and classroom practices were explored. This chapter delves into the background of the issue, and identifies the problem, purpose and significance of the study. The background examines the issue through historical, social, and theoretical contexts. The problem is discussed, and the purpose of this study explained. Significance is described theoretically, empirically, and practically. The chapter concludes with the research questions and definitions.

Background

At issue is the tendency of some mainstream elementary teachers to refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation before they attempt in-classroom instructional modifications (Chunta & DuPaul, 2022; Gascon et al., 2022; Kulakowski et al., 2020; Maki et al., 2020; Smith, 2012; Verkuyten et al., 2020). To appreciate the importance of this qualitative phenomenological study it is necessary to examine the historical, social, and theoretical contexts of the issue. The historical context includes the purpose and evolution of identifying special educational needs of students in the United States (Groark et al., 2011; Kauffman et al., 2018; Smith, 2012), and the emergence of ADHD as a unique field of study. The social context examines teacher perceptions of students as a function of their own learned beliefs (Gemmink, 2021; Skiba et al., 2019) and the implications of labeling a child (Gnas et al., 2022; Hetrick, 2021; Mueller, 2021). The theoretical context suggests external and social factors working in unison to affect behavior, specifically teacher behavior (Bandura, 1977; Bogdanov, 1912; Vygotsky, 1978). Framing the issue in its' historical, social, and theoretical contexts underpins the foundational knowledge necessary to better understand the problem.

Historical Context

Attention deficit hyperactive disorder (ADHD) and the evolution of special education in the United States must be examined as it developed over time. Attention deficit and hyperactive behaviors have been identified as unique conditions in people for over 200 years. Barkley and Peters (2012) noted some of the earliest references to hyperactive distracted behavior were found in early German medical textbooks written by Weikard (1742-1803) in 1775. References to inattention were found in writings by Crichton (1763-1856) dated to 1798. And Still (1868-1941), is recognized as the individual responsible for the dawn of modern ADHD. He wrote

about children with these symptoms in 1902 (Barkley & Peters, 2012; Lange et al., 2010).

According to Barkley and Peters (2012), Weikard described ADHD as a state of constant activity, doing many things at a shallow level and incompletely. In addition, afflicted individuals were represented as reckless and failing to finish what they started (Barkley & Peters, 2012; Lange et al, 2010). Weikard's description of ADHD behavior was seminal as it made no reference to astrology or religion (as cited in Barkley & Peters, 2012). Weikard noted physical manifestations and possible origins of ADHD as environmental, physical, or biological.

Twenty-four years after Weikard (1742-1803), Creighton (as cited in Lange et al., 2010) described ADHD as restlessness of the mind. Creighton did not mention hyperactive behavior when discussing attention deficit. Lange et al. (2010) noted that according to Creighton, there were two origins of ADHD: one present at birth and the other a consequence of an accident. In both cases, it was an inability to attend. In addition, Creighton suggested attention deficit present at birth often diminished with age (as cited in Lange et al., 2010).

Still (1868-1941), a British pediatric physician, described children with an inability to sustain attention and who were extremely fidgety (as cited in Bob & Konicarova, 2018). Still's focus was mainly children whose behavior was extreme. He attributed their extreme behavior to biological, psychiatric, and moral maladaptation. Still lay the groundwork to frame ADHD conduct as a mental disorder (as cited in Lange et al., 2010).

The encephalitis lethargica epidemic of 1917-1928 left nearly 20 million damaged people in its wake. Countless children suffered residual effects of brain damage that included destructive behavior, impulsivity, being easily distracted, and learning difficulties (Shorter, 2021). Extensive post-epidemic research conducted by Hall (1866-1951) documented severe overactive distracted behavior related to a brain physically damaged by encephalitis (Kroker, 2021). In 1937, Bradley

(1902-1979), using the stimulant Benzedrine to alleviate headaches in children, discovered that the drug also improved academic performance and behavior in school age students who displayed ADHD behavior (as cited in Strohl, 2011).

Prior to the 1970's, children who succeeded in traditional classroom settings were funneled into higher education, and children who displayed an inability to learn as quickly as the general population were steered toward training for blue collar jobs (Hanford, 2014; Smith, 2012). Children with disabilities were often not served at all by public school districts (Smith, 2012). The start of the space race in the United States marked the beginning of a change in attitudes about the role of schools. Anything that hindered the advancement of math and science in public schools took a backseat. This included students with disabilities. At best these students were lumped into classes with mainstream students, and at worst they were denied any education (Kauffman et al., 2018; Smith, 2012).

Mills v. D.C. Board of Education 1972 was a landmark case for students with disabilities. It was one of several cases from which federal legislation arose. This legislation protected the rights of handicapped children and required that they be provided an equitable education (Groark et al., 2011). The courts found that taxpayer education provided to any group must be provided to all groups. Groark et al. (2011) noted that children who had previously been denied public education were now afforded the opportunity to attend school. These court cases resulted in Federal Law 94-142, The Education of All Handicapped Children Act. It was renamed The Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act in 1990. Renamed again in 2004, The Individuals with Disabilities Improvement Act was reauthorized in 2017 (Kauffman et al., 2018).

The 1970's ushered federal funds into public schools to assist with the cost of educating any child with a designated disability (Macht, 2017). The CDC (2023) classifies ADHD as a

neurodevelopmental condition. The CDC does not identify ADHD as a Specific Learning Disability, but rather categorizes it under Other Health Impaired which does not automatically qualify a student for special or additional educational services. According to the National Resource Center on ADHD (2023), students with ADHD can qualify for educational assistance in the form of an IEP if the student also has an accompanying identified learning or emotional disorder, or if the child needs special services to succeed in school. In addition, the student may qualify for services under Section 504 if they have been formally identified as having ADHD and it significantly interferes with learning. As a result, many easily distracted hyperactive children have been marshalled in front of behavioral psychologists and psychiatrists often to be identified with additional cognitive and behavioral deficiencies that interfered with their ability to learn. According to the CDC (2022) half of all students with ADHD are also diagnosed with a behavior or conduct disorder. It was the identification of comorbidities, not ADHD itself that qualified the student for additional in-school educational assistance. Some of this student behavior was previously attributed to childish immaturity (Smith, 2012). Macht (2017) noted that now these cognitive and behavioral deficiencies justified the need for additional educational resources. By 2009, nearly 10 percent of all public-school students were diagnosed with ADHD, with 60 percent of them being medicated (Herr, 2009). In 2016 the CDC counted 6.2 million public school students identified as having ADHD with 62 percent of those children receiving medication for symptoms (CDC, 2022). Regrettably, according to Smith (2012), the behavior of many of these now labeled students was once considered to be normal immature behavior.

Social Context

The social context of labeling a child includes the individual teacher's perception of the situation, the child's behavior, and the potential impact on the student. An examination of

teacher motivation can help explain a teacher's rationale for referring a student for ADHD assessment (Gemmink, 2021; Owens et al., 2018; Polizzi et al., 2021).

The social context of the problem must be addressed from two perspectives: the first one is the social lens through which a teacher interprets a child's overly active, distracted behavior (Bandura, 1977; D'Urso & Petrucceli 2021; Mowrey, 2020; Wexler, 2019); and the second lens is the social effect of labeling a child (Gillespie-Lynch et al., 2020; Tran & Burman, 2019; Zeinalipour, 2022). Teachers do not exist in a vacuum. An aggregate of experiences shape teachers' perceptions of student behavior (Crawford & Brandt, 2019; D'Urso & Petrucceli, 2021; Evans et al., 2019). Individuals initially internalize attitudes toward people and events through the lens of family and caregivers (Osborn et al., 2021). As human beings grow, the lens through which the world is analyzed and understood is further influenced by interactions with friends, school, professional associations, and society in general (Bandura, 1971).

Teachers harbor beliefs about students based on their own life experiences and in the contexts of their interactions with them (Gemmink, 2021). The strength of the teacher-student affective relationship mediates a teacher's interpretation of overly active, distracted student behavior (Crawford & Brandt, 2019). Teacher's beliefs about demographic groups also shade their perception of certain children's conduct (Cruz et al., 2019; Skiba et al., 2019). African American children are up to four time more likely to be identified as having behavior problems than their classmates (D'Urso & Petrucceli, 2021. Teachers often interpret the behavior of younger students in a class as inappropriately active or distracted; not taking into account the difference in students ages (Karlstad et al., 2017). Teachers also project negative sub-intellectual traits on to quiet students, although teachers' views of quiet students can be somewhat mitigated by their own tendencies toward those same behaviors (Coplan et al., 2011).

In addition to preconceived notions about people, teacher attitudes and behaviors are influenced by their academic surroundings. A school's overall climate, administrative support and expectations, mastery experiences, in-service educational opportunities, and interactions with other teachers also shape classroom practice (Bellocchi, 2019; Castro-Felix et al., 2018; Owens et al., 2018; Polizzi et al., 2021). The intimation that a child's behavior and intellect is aberrant and warrants a formal assessment is also not lost on a child nor on his or her peers (Gnas et al., 2022; Metzger & Hamilton, 2021). If the well-being of a child and the safety of those around him or her is at stake due to compromised impulse control and intellectual faculty then medical and behavioral intervention is in order (Smith, 2012). However, nearly 11 percent of the entire U. S. student population is officially labelled with ADHD with over half of them medicated (CDC, 2022; Herr, 2009; Wienen et al., 2019). It is often a teacher's arbitrary tolerance for a student's activity level and inattention that lead to families seeking a formal evaluation for ADHD (Gnas et al., 2022).

Countless life experiences influence teacher thinking and classroom practices. At the same time, the decision to recommend assessment and possibly label a child should not be made lightly (Metzger & Hamilton, 2021) as it will have consequences for a student beyond the immediate classroom. A student's relationship with future teachers can be affected by a label (Dort et al., 2020; Owens, 2020; Wienen, et al., 2019). A student's perception of his or her own abilities are often compromised by labeling. Labeled children often place limitations on themselves, affecting goals, and aspirations that follow them into adulthood. (Bauer et al., 2022; Mueller 2018). The self-fulfilling prophecy is one of the most dangerous effects of labeling (Mueller, 2021). Relationships with peers can be affected by labeling (Bong et al., 2021; Wood & Orpinas, 2021). In addition, Gnas et al. (2022) suggest that teachers' opinions of students can

sometimes be influenced by observing relationships among labelled students and their peers. And, although unintentional, a teacher can perceive a student to be less than competent based on a labeled student's interactions with classmates (Gnas et al., 2022). A multitude of factors influence a teacher's decision to try modifying in-classroom instruction or to immediately refer a student for an ADHD assessment. Therefore, the impact on a student socially, academically, and personally should moderate any decision to proceed with an ADHD assessment (Mueller, 2021).

Theoretical Context

This study explored with mainstream classroom teachers those life experiences, both personal and professional, that shaped their tendency to initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications for their overly active, distracted students. Human interactions shape people's beliefs, behavior, and moderate the way they make sense of life. Bandura's (1977) social learning theory was the theoretical guide for this study. According to Bandura (1986), learning occurs as new information is encountered, processed, and synthesized with existing knowledge. This can occur with active participation or through observation. What an individual incorporates from others influences his or her behavior, thought process, and ability to successfully function alone and in a group (Bandura, 1986; Bandura, 1989). Bandura's (1977) theory of social learning requires interaction or attending between an individual and others. Although social learning describes the influence of social interaction on learning, it fails to identify the influence of motivation, self-confidence, and faith in one's abilities. These influences are addressed with Bandura's 1977 theory of self-efficacy. The theory of self-efficacy examines the factors that contribute to the self-belief that one can in fact successfully execute steps necessary in the pursuit of a goal (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy is influenced by several factors: mastery experiences, internal visualization, observing others, verbal encouragement, and mental well-being (Bandura, 1977). Social learning and self-efficacy theories guided the exploration of events and life experiences that shaped how some elementary classroom teachers initially react to overly active, distracted students.

An older theory that influenced social learning theory is Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivist theory. Social constructivist theory dates to Russian educator Vygotsky (1896-1934). Like social learning theory, this theory also suggests that learning is socially constructed. It suggests that learning occurs through language and cultural interactions. Learners seek meaning by critically engaging with knowledge while using social engagement to actively solve problems (Anderson & Johnston, 2016). Understanding is constructed by the individual within the context of social interaction (Thomas et al., 2014). Social constructivist theory explains a teacher's classroom behavior as a product of the individual teacher's lifelong personal and professional interactions with others.

There is no single unified American philosophy of education (Chambliss, 2009). Even the most passionate theoretical scholars are divided in their opinions (Pendlebury, 1998). Macht (2017) suggests, regardless of stated philosophy, many American mainstream classrooms wedge children into pre-set curricula, static instructional methods, and unvarying rubrics of success. This unwavering uniformity inherent in much of American mainstream education presupposes teacher neutrality and objectivity regarding the students in their care. But teachers are humans and themselves products of society (Bandura, 1977; D'Urso & Petrucceli, 2021). Social learning theory frames teachers' beliefs and behaviors as a product of the teacher's upbringing, experiences with workplace peers and policies, feelings of self-efficacy, preconceptions and prejudices, and the teachers' interactions with social media. The aggregate of life experiences influences attitudes, behaviors, and decisions (Bandura, 1986).

Social-learning, self-efficacy, and social-constructivist theories explain learning as it occurs in the context of culture, experience, and social interaction. As individuals, teachers are both instructors and learners. Teachers communicate, imitate, observe, and model the thoughts, beliefs, and behaviors of others (Bandura, 1977; Hammer, 2011; Vygotsky, 1978). The sum of life experiences, personal and professional, can influence whether a classroom teacher will initially attempt to modify in-classroom instruction before referring a student for formal assessment.

Problem Statement

The problem is that some mainstream elementary classroom teachers refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation before implementing in-classroom instructional modifications (Chunta & DuPaul, 2022; Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020). The gap identified in the literature is the scarcity of qualitative phenomenological research exploring the life experiences that lead some mainstream classroom teachers to initially implement in-class instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation (Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020). This scarcity of literature is problematic for several reasons. For the student, the social, emotional, and cognitive impacts of labeling can be negative and substantial (Gibbs et al., 2020; Owens, 2020). For school districts, frequent immediate referrals suggest teachers who possibly lack self-efficacy or the skills necessary to try to meet the needs of students who require more creative instruction (Zayac et al, 2021). Frequent immediate referrals can also indicate personal intolerance (Verkuyton et al., 2020), teacher burnout (Martinez-Ramon et al., 2021), or general insensitivity (Boda, 2021; Cuba et al., 2021). If we know the lived experiences that lead to greater teacher motivation and feelings of self-efficacy it is possible to incorporate it into teacher training.

ADHD is currently diagnosed in one student in 10 in the United States (Metzger & Hamilton, 2020), with over 62 percent of diagnosed children prescribed medication (CDC, 2022). The number of children diagnosed with ADHD continues to rise, with many displaying only minimal symptoms (Owens, 2020). The effects of formally labeling minimally symptomatic students with ADHD are not inconsequential as it can affect the child's self-perception, peer relationships, and present and future interactions with teachers (Franz et al., 2021; Gibbs et al., 2020; Owens, 2020). For strongly symptomatic children medication can contribute to short and long-term quality of life. But minimally symptomatic children who are diagnosed with ADHD, and receive medication, often experience social and personal upheaval later in life, often as the result of a negative self-fulfilling prophecy (Metzger & Hamilton, 2020). In addition, some teachers routinely and disproportionately refer students from certain demographic groups for ADHD evaluation (Maki et al., 2020). The problem is fraught with consequences for children (Owens, 2020). The study was empirically relevant as it drew upon mainstream classroom teachers to discuss those lived experiences that shaped their propensity to initiate in-classroom instructional for their active distracted students before recommending an ADHD evaluation.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predisposed some mainstream elementary teachers to initially modify inclassroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. The study was conducted online with interviews managed via Microsoft Teams and written prompts sent through e-mail. An overly active, distracted student described a child who was constantly active, fidgety, mentally restless, and displayed difficulty attending (Barkley & Peters, 2012; Bob & Konicarova, 2018; Lange et al., 2010). Bandura's

(1977) social learning and self-efficacy theories guided this study. According to Bandura's (1977) social learning theory humans learn through a combination of personal, social, and symbolic experiences. Self-efficacy is the degree to which one believes they can successfully implement steps necessary to affect a positive outcome (Bandura, 1977). This study examined lived experiences of mainstream elementary classroom teachers who displayed propensity to initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active students before referring them for ADHD evaluation. To put it simply, the study explored why some teachers want to try inclassroom instructional modifications for their overly active, distracted students before or in lieu of referring them for ADHD evaluation.

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study was examined theoretically, empirically, and practically. The theoretical importance of this study illuminated the direct and indirect impact of others shaping what we know and how we behave (Bandura, 1977; Gare, 2000; Gweon, 2021; Vygotsky, 1978). The empirical significance is strong as this study revealed how teachers' emotional wellbeing (Carpentier et al., 2019; Gonzalez-DeHass er al., 2021; Lauerman & Berger, 2021; Lu & Guy, 2019), social interactions, and preconceptions about children (Kulakowski et al., 2020; Schutt & Turner, 2019; Verkuyten et al., 2020) affect decisions made in the classroom. Most crucial is the pragmatic significance of this study. Data from the study helps administrators better understand those lived experiences of mainstream teachers who prefer to initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before recommending an ADHD assessment (Hong & Mastko, 2019; Scallon et al., 2021). In turn they can better address effective continuing education opportunities for teachers specific to the problem. The ultimate beneficiary of the study is the child who is neither

unnecessarily labeled nor the casualty of an erroneous administrative decision (Gillespie-Lynch et al., 2020).

Theoretical Significance

Social learning theory, a lens through which this study was examined, suggests that humans learn through direct experience, communication, observation, and imitation (Bandura, 1986; Gweon, 2021; Vygotsky, 1978). Humans internalize not only concrete knowledge but also attitudes, behaviors, and how to interpret experiences. Sources of information can be symbolic, fictional, and tangible (Bandura, 1977). Learning is rarely the result of a single occurrence but rather a synthesis of life experiences (Bandura, 1989; Gare, 2000). Thus, innumerable events combine to shape a teacher's world view and influence their behavior. In addition, self-efficacy, as suggested by Bandura (1977), examines combined factors that lead one to believe that they are competent to affect a positive outcome. This phenomenological study was an opportunity to explore those lived experiences that made these teachers more prone to initially implement inclassroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before suggesting an ADHD assessment. The theoretical significance of the study is the examination of how society, interactions, and experiences with others affect how teachers think and behave.

Empirical Significance

Teachers interpret overactive distracted student behavior according to personally held beliefs and experiences (Greenway & Edwards, 2020). Given several students displaying identical behavior, some teachers judge the behavior as more problematic based on different factors including the child's gender (Meyer et al., 2020; Slobodin & Davidovitch, 2019), perceptions of their intellect (McCoach et al., 2020), age in a grade (Oner et al., 2019), the child's socioeconomic class (Simoni, 2021), and sometimes racial biases (Fadus et al., 2020;

Wexler et al., 2022). Further complicating teacher judgement is job burnout, which leaves teachers with compromised feelings of self-efficacy (Vidic et al., 2021) and the influences of administrators and school bureaucracy (Hu et al., 2019). This study chronicled the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who prefer not to initially refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation, but instead prefer to first modify their in-classroom instruction. Greenway and Edwards (2020) argue that there is a lack of qualitative research examining the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who serve students with ADHD. They suggest it is discouraging that the overwhelming number of studies are quantitative, with little attention paid to teacher attitudes and life experiences. Gascon et al. (2022) emphasize that the numerical data driven nature of most ADHD studies neglects the human components of teaching. They also note that the questionable rigor of ADHD evaluations suggest caution before recommending a student for testing. There is a scarcity of qualitative studies examining why some mainstream teachers prefer to initially try in-classroom instructional modifications for their overly active, distracted students before suggesting an ADHD evaluation (Greenway & Edwards, 2020).

Practical Significance

The practicality of this study is three-fold. First, informs administrators as they search for meaningful training for teachers with overly active, distracted students in their classrooms (Schachter et al., 2019). Relevant continuing profession education includes not only strategies for instructional modifications, but more importantly raises awareness of teachers' own possible internal biases, assumptions, and beliefs about some children (Damianidou, 2021). The second use of this study is to assist parents. Many children referred for ADHD evaluation do benefit greatly from medication and possible access to additional services (Verlenden et al., 2021), but

there are also many whose behavior is misinterpreted as worrisome, but are in fact just immature, wiggly, and bored (Huguley et al., 2021; Pica, 2020; Rickert & Skinner, 2021). As advocates for their children, parents should be informed about the complex factors that go into a teacher's decision of if or when to refer a student for an ADHD assessment. (Huguley, 2021). Finally, the students themselves are the beneficiaries when mainstream classroom teachers mindfully choose how to best serve the academic, emotional, and physical needs of the children in their care.

Research Questions

This transcendental phenomenological study gathered data from the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers to answer the main research question and three sub-questions.

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who prefer to first initiate in-classroom instructional modifications to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for testing?

Sub-Question One

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers have led them to immediately refer an overly active, distracted student for ADHD assessment instead first trying in-classroom instructional modifications?

Sub-Question Two

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers led them to first try in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation?

Sub-Question Three

What lived experiences beyond the classroom have influenced mainstream teachers who implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation?

Definitions

- 1. Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) An impairing condition marked on a spectrum that includes inability to consistently attend, and impulsive overly active behavior. There are currently no biomarkers or biological tests to confirm diagnosis (Gledd, 2019; Rigoni et al., 2020).
- 2. *Educational Influencers* Educators whose goal is to use social media to monetize brands and followers (Carpenter et al., 2022; Wanless & Pamment, 2019).
- 3. *Mainstream Classroom* Classroom where an average uniform level of academic skill in each subject is assumed. Age homogeneity is stressed. Students generally have not displayed a need for additional academic assistance (Brannstrom, 2021).
- 4. *Overly Active, Distracted Students* Students who are constantly active, fidgety, mentally restless, and displaying difficulty attending (Barkley & Peters, 2012; Bob & Konicarova, 2018; Lange et al., 2010).
- 5. *Self-Efficacy* Self-belief that one can successfully carry out steps necessary to achieve a goal (Bandura, 2011).
- 6. *Social Learning Theory* Humans learn through observation, communication, imitation, and modeling of others (Bandura, 1977).
- 7. *Social Media* Technology and its' associated software and infrastructure that provides a platform for engagement and connectivity between users (Dijck, 2013).
- 8. Student Referral A request for extra academic assistance for a student (Liu et al., 2020).

9. *Teacher Burnout*- A response to stress resulting in feelings of detachment, cynicism, exhaustion, and lack of feeling accomplished (Salovita & Pakarinen, 2021).

Summary

This chapter detailed the foundational information pertinent to the study. Included were the overview, background and contexts, problem and purpose statements, significance of the study, research questions, and definitions. The problem is that some mainstream elementary classroom teachers refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation before implementing in-classroom instructional modifications (Chunta & DuPaul, 2022; Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020). The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation. The theoretical significance of this study is that a teacher's propensity to initiate in-classroom instructional modifications before referring an overly active, distracted students for formal evaluation is determined by learned attitudes, practices, and habits (Cruz et al.; 2019, Greenway & Edwards, 2020). Empirically this study suggests that teacher behavior might be based on erroneous, or emotionally self-constructed beliefs (Braun et al., 2020; Verkuyten et al., 2020). The practical significance of this study is three-fold: (a) its usefulness in offering in-service training relevant to teacher needs; (b) informing parents that a strong rationale for student referral should be provided; and (c) understanding the benefits versus detriments of referring a child for testing. Labeling a student can have long-term ramifications for that child (Cuba et al., 2021). Data produced from this study furnished administrators, teachers, and parents scholarly research to consider when facing decisions concerning overly active, distracted students.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

This chapter examines the literature relevant to the problem and purpose of the study. The theoretical framework, related literature, and chapter summary substantiate the need for further exploration of the subject. Bandura's (1977) theory of social learning is the theoretical framework through which this phenomenon was examined. The review of literature includes studies associated with possible causes and effects of referring overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment. Literature topics include personal prejudice, the use of social media by teachers, teacher self-efficacy, teacher burnout, effects of student labeling, medicine and classroom management, and fellow teachers and administrators. The summary synthesizes the theoretical framework and reviews of literature to validate the rationale for this study. The empirical gap in the literature that this study addresses is the lack of qualitative exploration of personal and professional experiences that influence some mainstream classroom teachers to first try in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment.

Theoretical Framework

Bandura's (1977) theory of social learning suggests that human behavior and thought processes are heavily influenced by an ongoing cognitive synthesis of observations and experience. This cognitive synthesis influences a teacher's decision whether to initially refer an overly active, distracted student for ADHD evaluation, or to first try in-classroom instructional modifications to meet their learning needs (Cruz et al., 2019).

The evolution of Bandura's social learning theory originates with the Russian scientist Pavlov's experiments with classical conditioning in 1927 (Price & Archbold, 1995). Pavlov

(1904), a physiologist, suggested a machine-like interaction between an organism and its mind. His theory of classical conditioning was the result of studies which demonstrated that the nervous system played a large part in the regulation of the digestive system. Operant conditioning, introduced by Skinner, contended that a reward increased the probability a behavior would be repeated, while punishment decreased a given behavior (Skinner & Skinner, 2002). Both Pavlov and Skinner attributed behavior to conditioning. Bandura (1977) suggested that conditioning alone was inadequate when explaining the failure to develop a phobia, the ease of eliminating conditioned responses, or phobias that exist without trauma (Price & Archbold, 1995). Unlike Pavlov and Skinner, Bandura (1977) suggested that motivation for change in behavior can be related to the personal context in which past events were experienced and interpreted if prior events possessed enough merit to be remembered.

The decision of a mainstream classroom teacher to initially refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation or to first implement in-classroom instructional modifications begs an examination of teacher motivation. A teacher's propensity to first implement in-classroom instructional modifications was examined through the lens of Bandura's (1977) social learning theory. Learned behavior is a product of social interaction, internal regulation, modeling, interpretation, and personal assimilation (Bandura, 1986). Social interaction is the catalyst for all learning (Bandura, 1986). How one acts and acceptable behavior and attitudes toward individuals and groups are learned at home, among friends, and from professional peers. In the classroom, the sources of a teacher's attitude and opinion of a student's behavior are a combination of personal and professional experiences. According to Bandura (1989) internal regulation is the process by which an individual measures self-behavior against personal beliefs and standards of self-behavior. In the classroom this is displayed when a teacher judges the best

first course of action for an overly active, distracted student. Modeling, observing the behavior of others, is the primary way individuals learn (Bandura, 1977). At school, teachers' prior learning experiences are continued by watching other teachers, participating in faculty meetings, and inservice training. Whether experienced passively or actively, modeling by others not only teaches but also reinforces and inhibits behavior and thoughts (Bandura, 1977; Bandura, 1989). Interpretation and assimilation allow individuals to analyze and categorize new information with previous beliefs (Bandura, 1977). In the classroom, teachers compare what they see and hear against what they already believe. Prior knowledge is reinforced, modified, or challenged.

Bandura's (1986) social learning theory suggests that humans learn from one another. This study, guided by social learning theory, explored lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students. Other teachers will benefit from this study as participants explore personal and professional experiences that shaped their attitudes and referral practices for overactive students.

Social learning theory informed the research questions and reporting results. Research questions explored the influences of society and the workplace in some mainstream teachers' decisions to initially modify in-classroom instruction for overly active, distracted students.

Results reflect the data shared by participants.

Related Literature

What follows is an exploration of current literature with the goal of justifying the proposed research. Bandura's (1977) social learning theory is the cornerstone of this literature review. The review synthesizes current research to examine how preconceptions and prejudice, teachers use of social media, teacher self-efficacy, teacher burnout, labeling students, medication

and classroom management, and the influence of administrators and fellow teachers influence teachers' judgements of the best way to initially address overly active, distracted students.

Following Bandura's (1977) social learning theory, teachers' perceptions of the needs of overly active, distracted students are learned. A teacher's level of self-efficacy, classroom management skills, potential for job burnout, and general attitudes toward students also influence how a teacher chooses to address the needs of a student (Bandura, 1977; Davis & Yi, 2022; Droogenbroeck et al, 2021; Mowrey, 2020).

Preconceptions and Prejudice

Bandura's (1977) social learning theory contends that most things are learned the way they were originally taught. The theory also asserts that people often behave the way they have seen others act. Prejudice is belief that has formed in the mind prior to personal experience (D'Urso & Petruccelli, 2021) and can influence actions and behaviors. It is difficult to pinpoint the origin of prejudice in humans. A search of literature on this topic is important because the personal lens through which overly active, distracted students are evaluated predicts the course of action most likely prescribed by a classroom teacher. Generally, the more limited a teachers' definition of acceptable classroom behavior the higher likelihood of a student being tagged as an outlier (Crawford & Brandt, 2019; Verkuyten & Kollar, 2021).

It may be uncomfortable to think that some teachers come to the classroom with preconceived feelings and beliefs about demographic groups, but these preconceptions can influence their interactions with individual students. Stereotypes influence teachers' attitudes, interactions, and academic decisions about their students (Lessard & Juvonen, 2020). Preconceptions and prejudices do play a part in some teachers' tendencies to proactively refer overly active students for ADHD evaluation before modifying in-classroom instruction (Cruz et

al., 2019). Classroom teachers often perceive overweight students as academically challenged. They believe these students are lazy, unsuccessful, and unintelligent. Overweight females are projected to have reading difficulties and overweight males as mathematically challenged (Lessard & Juvonen, 2020; Nutter et al. 2019).

Student dialect is another source of teacher preconceptions. Individuals with Appalachian dialects are often viewed as unintelligent (Brashears, 2014). Effeminate sounding voices are interpreted as more musically inclined and organized while straight sounding masculine voices are assumed to be mature with leadership qualities (Taylor & Raadt, 2020). Black vernacular is frequently and erroneously all lumped into one category, (Milu, 2021) resulting in students often being identified as linguistically inferior. Ethnic biases influence teacher perceptions of student cognitive functions (D'Urso & Petruccelli, 2021). Additional studies have found that students from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds are disproportionately identified as requiring special education (Cruz et al., 2019).

A combination of biases can further complicate a classroom teachers' judgement. Disability and critical race theory (Dis Crit) examines the intersection of race and disability. It addresses the phenomenon of intolerance combining both racial and ableist perspectives (Fisher et al., 2021). Studies measuring disparities between white and black male ADHD students demonstrate higher rates of diagnosis and disciplinary action for black students (Cavendish et al., 2020; Connor et al., 2019; Fisher et al., 2021). Furthermore, ableism, sexism, and racism are often unwittingly combined by teachers resulting in intolerance toward a child on many levels (Connor et al., 2019).

According to Metzger and Hamilton (2020) males are twice as likely to be diagnosed with ADHD as their female classmates. Asian children are rarely labeled with ADHD. White and

Puerto Rican children are diagnosed with ADHD at half the rate of black children. The authors further note children with less educated parents and lower income households are more likely to be referred for ADHD evaluation than students of other demographics. Gibbs et al. (2020) raised another poignant observation that children who display a fidgety, active, disinterested behavior regardless of degree are usually only tested for one disorder, ADHD. Additionally, the authors noted that a teacher' assessment of the degree to which active distracted behavior is problematic is completely subjective.

ADHD is viewed by many as existing on a continuum (Chowdhury, 2019; Speerforck et al., 2019) since it can vary in its severity of symptoms. Many prefer to socially distance themselves from individuals labeled with ADHD, believing them to be unstable and potentially dangerous (Godfrey et al., 2020; Speerforck et al., 2019). Some teachers perceive these students as performing at a lower academic level than their classmates (Metzger & Hamilton, 2020; O'Connor et al., 2022) and rarely acknowledge when the labeled students do in fact display subject matter competence (Metzger & Hamilton, 2020).

Theoretical learning experiences alone do little to attenuate bias toward individuals diagnosed with ADHD (Godfrey et al., 2020). Direct experiences between teachers and students result in the greatest decrease in potential bias and increased changes in favorable attitudes (Ewe & Aspelin, 2022). They also point out that the combination of both direct and vicarious learning opportunities reduce intolerance and promote enhanced student-teacher relationships.

Students exhibiting symptoms of ADHD do experience intolerance and are often victimized by classmates (Lee et al., 2021). Developing friendships can be difficult as overly active, distracted students are routinely ostracized by their peers. Lee et al. (2021) suggest the population of labeled students most likely to be victimized by peers are those labeled with

ADHD. As many as 34% of these students are bullied without provocation. An additional 10% of ADHD students provoke bully behavior from their peers (Winters et al., 2020). Loneliness and rejection are common experiences for early and middle school students with ADHD. Younger students are often emotionally and physically shunned because they are not understood by their peers. High school provides greater opportunity for socialization as the larger pool of students creates a greater opportunity for inclusion by individuals with whom they have common experiences (Beristain & Wiener, 2020).

Future studies might seek to develop more consistent and precise definitions of ADHD within the literature (Verkuyten et al., 2020). It. is difficult to compare findings or suggest interventions when terms are not always congruent. In addition, replication of previous studies adding more diverse groups would serve to close some gaps in the literature (Crawford & Brandt, 2019).

Teachers' Use of Social Media

This section examines the personal and professional use of social media by classroom teachers. The literature explores why and how social media has become integral as a learning and decision-making tool for teachers. The potential benefits and pitfalls of social media platforms as sources of professional information are presented.

The use of social media continues to rise across all demographics (Pew, 2021) with 80 percent of American adults accessing at least one platform. It increases with the level of education and income. Females are slightly more active than males. There is little difference in social media access among Black, White, Hispanic, Asian, and other demographics. The greatest variances are by age and education (Khoros, 2022; Statista, 2022). The most notable disparity is among communities, with greater usage in urban settings, followed by suburban, and rural with

the least on-line presence (Bekalu et al., 2020). According to Pew (2022) the most used platforms are YouTube and Facebook, then Instagram, Pinterest, and LinkedIn. Politically partisan differences are embedded in many platforms, some leaning more strongly than others. The exceptions are Facebook and Pinterest where bias is minimal (Vogels et al., 2021).

Productive Uses of Social Media by Classroom Teachers

Through access to on-line groups, it is possible to connect with experts and experienced people with whom interaction would otherwise not exist. In most cases users are not limited by social or professional status, nor by geographical boundaries. Instead, ideas are exchanged among a broad cross section of people who voluntarily make associations (Karimi et al., 2020). Self-driven education is the foundation around which much knowledge is amassed (Greenhalgh et al., 2021). The authors note that social media has the potential to support the teacher both emotionally and professionally. According to Karimi et al. (2020) the format of social media allows for diffusion of information quickly among groups as well as through association via hashtags.

Both formal and informal knowledge spreads through interactions within the immense network of users (Karimi et al., 2020). In years past teachers' sources of information were limited to those with whom they physically interacted. Social media now provides for unlimited and timely interaction at times convenient to the user (Aguilar et al., 2021). Productive platform experiences are reflected in increased teacher confidence, fresh ideas, and improved academic results for students (Simoncini et al., 2021).

Teachers also seek out a professional community with other teachers for purposes of social comradery, sharing professional experiences, professional assistance, and learning about teaching related products (Carpenter et al., 2020). The immediacy of social media and the vast

amount of information available on a global level at any time or any day portends opportunities for both personal and professional development (Shah, 2018). Through media platforms likeminded educators can coalesce, creating and benefiting from both professional and personal communities (Malik & Haidar, 2020).

Instagram, created in 2010, has over a billion followers and provides opportunities to share videos, photos, and hashtags associated with posts. This facilitates users' abilities to find groups or individuals with common interests (Carpenter et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020). Over 87 percent of educators using Instagram for professional purposes report a desire to learn or obtain new ideas from other teachers (Carpenter et al., 2020). As with other social media platforms Instagram requires a posted disclosure of association with financial or commercial connections.

Social Media and Misinformation

The requirement for disclosure of financial connections is often ignored or presented in a manner easily overlooked by a viewer; consequently, many posts present a multitude of unsubstantiated and erroneous claims (Lee et al., 2020; Veirman & Hudders, 2020). Conflicts of interest can be less than apparent to the viewer. Teachers seeking information on social media can find themselves making questionable decisions based on the content of posts they view (Trust et al., 2022).

Viewers follow influencers with whom they identify. Educated individuals, like teachers, tend to seek out influencers offering information relevant to their careers and interests (Croes & Bartels, 2021). Many educators consider social media groups to which they belong akin to virtual teacher lounges. But the reality of influencers suggests an often-intentional commodification of teachers with the actual product deceptively unidentified (Croes & Bartels, 2021; Davis & Yi, 2022). Notwithstanding the mercenary implications of social media, it is indeed responsible for a

large transfer of culture and practice through text and video communication. Ideas and values that reinforce or disrupt culture and accepted beliefs are disseminated freely (Davis & Yi, 2022). It is often impossible to determine the point of financial gain or the genuine purpose of most posts (Carpenter et al., 2020). With large audiences, educational influencers are de facto salespeople promoting merchandise and marketable ideas to teachers and parents (Donelson, 2021). The key quality of successful influencers is their ability to effectively engage with their target audiences (Gil-Quintana & de Leon, 2021). Social media is replete with podcast videos and text dedicated to the subject of ADHD. Some information is produced institutionally and some independently. Unfortunately, as noted by Donelson (2021), when an individual is interacting with social media it is often difficult to determine the genuine motivation of the influencer. And the true source of the content can be difficult to discern.

Social media is fluid in its' volume, content, and availability. Peer reviewed literature analyzing the quality of general ADHD content on social media platforms is scant at best (Ward et al., 2020). Ward et al. (2020) noted that the ADHD content on the YouTube platform has been the most scrutinized. They further suggest that 85 percent of ADHD content videos do not include a medical professional. Some examples of ADHD video topics on YouTube include: ADHD is not a real disorder; drug companies created ADHD; ADHD medications have created drug addiction; and ADHD is just overactive behavior. There are also narrations of personal and family experiences, ADHD information, and entertainment (Kang et al., 2017; Thapa et al., 2018; Ward et al., 2020). According to Thapa et al. (2018), 57 percent of YouTube ADHD related videos are less than five minutes long and 38 percent are misleading. TikTok has over one billion monthly followers and the #adhd hashtag is the seventh most popular health related search on the platform. JAMA benchmark criteria demonstrates that more than half of TikTok

videos related to ADHD are classified as misleading. Most of the videos are created by non-healthcare professionals (Yeung et al., 2022).

The benefits of social media must be tempered with the reality that a user is often unable to clearly recognize the motivation behind the material presented (Shelton et al., 2020). The phenomenon of the educational influencer and their perceived command of authority allows them to influence the purchasing, professional, behavioral, and personal choices of countless followers (Carpenter et al., 2022). The influencers' goal is to monetize their following by promoting ideas, products, or practice (Carpenter et al., 2022; Shelton et al., 2020). Although followers often interact and form other loose networks, the primary purpose of social media interaction with teachers is to create another category of consumers (Davis & Yi, 2022; Schroeder et al., 2021).

Social Media and Professional Growth

Educational technology (EdTech) is a thriving industry within social media that reaches teachers through blogs, social media platforms, and private podcasts (Team Leverage Edu, 2021). These platforms provide channels for ideas to flow freely between teachers, parents, industry, and institutions (Morgan, 2022). Social media posts range from those produced by the International Society for Technology in Education (South, 2022) to privately produced and less formal posts (Duffy, 2020). Popular education influencers on Instagram can draw as many as 100 million followers (Team Leverage Edu, 2021). YouTube is a prolific source of theoretical and instructional videos with some educational channels boasting over 13 million subscribers (Day, 2022). Twitter followers can also access educational influencers including some with over 100,000 followers (Twitter, 2022). And TikTok educational influencers routinely boast over 800,000 followers (Donelson, 2021). Social media is neither inherently good nor bad but rather a

technical platform available to all for community, the exchange of ideas, education, and commerce. The use of these platforms by teachers parallels general population demographic norms. (Carpenter & Harvey, 2019).

Social media has also become a useful tool for administrators and school districts to direct in-service teacher education with the teacher often a passive participant. Other in-service educational opportunities facilitate active participation of teachers, providing opportunities for teachers to initiate searches and interact with other teachers around topics, ideas, or products (Karimi et al., 2020; Yildrim, 2019). With this structure, the teacher enjoys ownership of not only the intellectual product but also the process of learning. More structured professional development can also be conducted on social media platforms (Carpenter & Harvey, 2019; Nelimarkka et al., 2021). But a lot of individual learning and research is casually self-directed (Shah, 2018). Professional development offered within state and school districts are by necessity broad in nature (Aguilar et al., 2021). It is not possible for the nuance of every topic to be addressed by in-service training. According to Carpenter and Harvey (2019), district administrators must logically tailor training to the broadest possible audiences. Unfortunately, broad training is at times inadequate and can fail to meet the specific needs of teachers. There are districts with limited funding that are unable to bring quality training to teachers. In addition to unproductive professional development, teachers sometimes find themselves in situations where proximal teachers are unwilling to provide guidance or assistance (Simoncini et al., 2021). In these situations, teachers who wish to be successful sometimes look outside their immediate educational community for help. Aguilar et al. (2021) suggest these teachers often turn to social media for community and learning opportunities.

Future research should address making the availability of better evidence-based ADHD research more accessible to classroom teachers via social media (DuPaul et al., 2020). According to Aguilar et al. (2021), teachers will continue to turn to social media for camaraderie, information, and professional purposes. Studies raising educator awareness of the benefits and pitfalls of social media as a source of reliable information would be valuable (Carpenter et al., 2022; Shelton et al., 2020).

Teacher Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy plays a role in the likelihood that a teacher might implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring an overly active, distracted student for ADHD evaluation. Self-efficacy is the belief that one possesses the ability to assess and execute measures toward the attainment of a goal, or the expectation that one is competent to execute steps needed to produce a given outcome (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy functions as a measurement of self and is inseparable from one's motivation (Lauerman & Berger, 2021).

Importance of Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy in the classroom includes teachers' beliefs that they can successfully influence student learning. A combination of teacher inner resilience and the ability to establish and meet effective teaching goals contributes to successful outcomes for students, which in turn increase teachers' feelings of self-efficacy (Gonzalez-DeHass et al., 2021). The attainment of goals is the catalyst for internal empowerment. Setting and achieving attainable goals builds feelings of competence which then leads to improvement in other teaching situations. Self-efficacy is also reflected in a teacher's willingness to respond to the needs of a student, outside of his or her direct experiences (Cruz et al., 2019). Teachers possessing higher degrees of self-efficacy display more persistence and resilience than those lacking self-efficacy. A lack of self-

efficacy might explain the lack of motivation needed to attempt to teach overly active, distracted students. Teacher self-efficacy is not static and is improved or diminished through experience (Outlaw & Grifenhagen, 2021). Experience can be enhanced through productive training situations and mentored interactions with students. Teacher self-efficacy matters as there is a positive relationship between teacher self-efficacy and student achievement (Daumiller et al., 2021; Perera & John, 2020).

It is nearly impossible to examine teacher self-efficacy by itself. It is inextricably intertwined with teachers' beliefs about students, job burnout, and peer interaction (Daumiller et al., 2021; Kim & Buric, 2020; Prilop et al., 2021). Self-efficacy needs to be properly addressed in this study given that it does influence teacher-student relationships and teacher practices. To be effective, a teacher must believe that he or she can in fact successfully address the needs of most students in their classroom (Daumiller et al., 2021; Gonzalez-DeHass et al, 2021).

Building Teacher Self-Efficacy

For the teacher facing a crisis of self-efficacy or self-confidence, school support is imperative (Carpentier et al., 2019). If the intention of a school is to maintain and develop successful qualified teaching staff, it is necessary to help unconfident teachers to develop their self-efficacy through productive mentoring that builds a solid base of knowledge (Toropova et al., 2021). The choice by school administrators to ignore or punish teachers who fail to modify their instruction is to further erode any convictions of competence or efficacy they may have possessed.

Teachers experiencing a crisis of self-efficacy can be assisted in several ways: providing them pedagogical and educational learning opportunities, mentoring, and encouragement (McCullough et al., 2022; Toropova et al., 2021). Self-efficacy is often affected when a

mainstream teacher is presented with a student whose behavior, appearance, language, or knowledge level seems outside what the teacher deems normal for his or her classroom (Gonzalez-DeHass et al., 2021). This can influence the decision of mainstream elementary grade teachers to either refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation or to implement in-classroom instructional modifications (Cruz et al., 2019). Deterrents to teacher self-efficacy must be recognized and addressed (Outlaw & Grifenhagen, 2021).

Several factors contribute to building self-efficacy of teachers. The cornerstone is an understanding of the skills involved with successful completion of a given task (Bandura, 1977). Understanding how to address the cognitive, physical, and emotional needs of overly active, distracted students is fundamental (Fernandez et al, 2021). Watching an event successfully carried out by another person indicates to an individual that success is indeed possible. In essence, if one person can do it, it is highly likely that another person can as well (El-Abd & Chaaban, 2021). Self-efficacy can be built by watching an efficacious classroom teacher as he or she attempts to initially address the instructional needs of overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation.

Another element of building self-efficacy is encouragement from others (Innes et al., 2020). The purpose of encouragement is stimulation of growth or action for another. It is the sharing or transmission of faith or confidence from an observer to the doer (Innes et al., 2020; Keller & Szakal, 2021). The knowledge that others believe one can successfully develop and complete a task builds that belief in oneself.

Emotional health also affects self-efficacy. Emotional well-being and self-efficacy are positively related (Muenchhausen et al., 2021). In this context the state of poor emotional health is defined as a tendency to experience depression or emotional disorder. Any state of affective

chaos affects one's ability to rationally assess oneself, and depression effectively hampers self-efficacy (Muenchhausen et al., 2021; Tak et al., 2017).

Formal mainstream classroom teacher education does initially establish self-efficacy in the general population of student teachers. Teachers are academically acquainted with subject matter and classroom management techniques. They experience student teaching where they observe and assist classroom teachers (El-Abd & Chaaban, 2021; Moody, 2022). A student teacher receives feedback on their abilities from their professors, institution, and state and national competency exams. Eventually finding themselves on their own in a classroom the feeling of self-efficacy can be challenged (Carpentier et al., 2019). Faced with challenging students and lacking direct academic and classroom support, new teachers may question their own ability to effectively manage and teach (Hu et al., 2019; McCullough et al, 2022). Teachers with self-efficacy will seek out solutions to these situations. Utilizing academic research or reaching out to more experienced teachers, the self-effective individual can develop and implement a plan of action.

Teachers work in an ever-changing environment of student demographics. This is true not only in the United States but globally (Clark & Andreasen, 2021). Currently White students comprise 50% of the U.S. student population, Hispanics 25%, Blacks 15%, Asians 5%, and Native Americans 1% (NCES, 2022). The statistics also reflect that approximately 9% of students speak English as a second language, 20% speak a different language at home, and nearly 22% of all students live in poverty. The demographics of the U.S. student population is changing, but the demographics of classroom teachers remains predominately White and middle class. Clark & Andreasen (2021) reported that educators must feel that they can effectively teach all children. Teachers' beliefs about groups of individuals can affect their ability to instruct, and

this includes willingness to adapt lessons and modify instruction (Clark & Andreason, 2021; Kunemund et al., 2020).

Teachers possessing self-efficacy believe that they can affect learning outcomes for students with overly active, distracted behavior (Hanisch et al., 2020). Teachers provided with strategies for students with ADHD reported that their levels of self-efficacy stayed the same or increased after training (Woodcock & Jones, 2020). Creating an inclusive instructional environment for a hyperactive distracted student requires a high degree of self-efficacy from a teacher. Successful teaching outcomes with overly active, distracted students increase teacher self-efficacy (Hanisch et al, 2020; Woodcock & Jones, 2020).

A feeling of self-efficacy benefits not only a teacher, but also coworkers and students in their classroom (Toropova et al., 2021). Teachers with self-efficacy believe they can contribute to positive outcomes within a group. They are inclined to participate and contribute because they trust their knowledge base and competence as an asset to the school. Likewise, teachers who enjoy self-efficacy have a positive effect on their students learning. These teachers maintain that their students are capable of learning (Werner et al., 2021). They view themselves adept at analyzing a student's needs and developing and executing instructional plans. This results in a successful student and minimal classroom disruption. Werner et al. (2021) suggest that students with self-efficacious teachers are not singled out for their differences or shortcomings but rather are celebrated upon the attainment of goals and consequently can feel a sense of camaraderie with their classmates.

Inadequate Self-Efficacy

Teachers lacking self-efficacy contribute little to the growth and climate of a school.

They believe they have little to give and even less to affect positive changes or solutions

(McCullough et al., 2022). Teachers who believe they cannot influence positive outcomes tend to blame others for problems and see most situations as beyond their control. This often results in teachers refusing to try in the face of difficulties (Lauermann & Berger, 2021). In the classroom a teacher lacking self-efficacy generally believes that there is little they can personally do to help a student struggling with academics or behavior issues. And because teachers occupy a position of implied authority, individual students often begin to doubt their own ability to affect change or control the outcomes of their own efforts (Perera & John, 2020). The most unfortunate consequence of a teacher who lacks self-efficacy is failing those students who are most vulnerable and would benefit from additional classroom assistance, emotionally or academically (Lauermann & Berger, 2021; Perera & John, 2020). Failing these students can set them up for present and future defeat as they see themselves as problems. A classroom teacher who lacks self-efficacy can believe themselves to be incapable of addressing the instructional needs of an overactive distracted student. They are more inclined to initially refer an overly active, distracted student for ADHD evaluation instead of first trying in-classroom instructional modifications (Lauermann & Berger, 2021).

Consequences of low teacher self-efficacy include not only poor student academic outcomes, but also ineffective classroom management and inconsistent discipline (Okoro et al, 2022). In addition, teachers with low self-efficacy are more apt to focus on student differences and are less welcoming of inclusion and accessibility (Woodcock et al., 2022). Teacher self-efficacy can become clouded within a mismatch of student and teacher demographics. Racial mismatch often results in a significantly greater perceived incidence of behavior disorder and student conflict (Kunemund et al., 2020). Restless behavior and subsequent conflicts by students can indeed impact teacher efficacy negatively. Culturally focused teacher training can possibly

mitigate some perceived classroom problems and improve teacher self-efficacy (Bentley-Edwards et al., 2020; Kunemund et al, 2020). Some teachers express fear, racial stress, and a lack of perceived classroom self-efficacy when faced with the prospect of teaching in a predominately African American and Latino urban school (Bently-Edwards et al., 2020). Management of this stress is necessary as it affects self-efficacy; and teacher self-efficacy is crucial for a quality education experience for students.

Future studies might examine the efficacy of pre and post service training opportunities. This training could assist teachers with tools for culturally inclusive instruction (Clark & Andreasen, 2021; Cruz et al., 2019; Kunemund et al., 2020). Clark and Andreason (2021) suggest that these studies could increase teacher self-efficacy and directly improve student learning by identifying productive pre-service and in-service opportunities for teachers. The gap in the literature addressed by this study is the scarcity of qualitative investigation examining the life experiences of mainstream elementary teachers who prefer to initially implement inclassroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation (Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020; Owens, 2020). As noted by McCullough et al. (2022) and Toropova et al. (2021), self-efficacy can be assisted by providing teachers with pedagogical and educational learning opportunities, mentoring, and encouragement. Positive teacher self-efficacy is reflected in a teachers' inclination toward student inclusivity in their own classrooms (Cruz et al., 2019). This study explored with mainstream elementary classroom teachers, among other factors, the contribution of self-efficacy in their own decisions to implement in-classroom instructional modifications before recommending overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment.

Teacher Burnout and Work Fatigue

Professional inefficiency, emotional exhaustion, and general cynicism define teacher burnout according to Martinez-Ramon et al. (2021). Over 30% of current teachers suffer from these symptoms of burnout. An emotionally exhausted teacher can lack the motivation or energy needed to address the academic and emotional needs of an overly active, distracted student (Salinas-Falquez, 2022).

Causes of Teacher Burn-Out

Burn-out from lack of job resources and constant administrative demands is the overwhelming reason teachers cite for leaving the profession (Russell et al., 2020). Another contributing factor to burnout is moral injury, exposure to situations that conflict with one's conscience, and no just results are possible (Sugrue, 2019). According to Sugrue (2019), knowing that children live in dangerous neighborhoods or are treated unkindly when they are at home are two examples of moral injury experienced by teachers. There are also codes of conduct, broadly expected behaviors within a society. Breaches of these codes of conduct can contribute to burnout. Examples include lack of time to provide support or instruction that specific students require, difficulty caring about certain students, and thinking about or planning to quit their job. Sugrue (2019) further suggests that when a teacher feels overall social and economic factors are stacked against the general student population of a school, and the teacher feels powerless to improve student conditions, the teacher suffers the strongest moral injury.

The emotional labor required to act professionally in the face of cognitive dissonance contributes significantly to teacher burn-out (Kariou et al., 2021). In other words, the effort necessary to behave friendly, caring, and professionally in the face of stressful negative conditions consumes emotional energy and drains teachers (Lu & Guy, 2019). Given that teachers spend most of their time with students, classroom environment contributes to the

emotional fatigue and burn-out of teachers (Jensen & Solheim, 2019). Class size and pupil to teacher ratio strongly impact the learning environment. Teachers feel more academically effective with smaller classes; they witness less violence; and they enjoy better relationships with students (Jensen & Solheim, 2019; Sugrue, 2019).

Admittedly burnout is an internal function (Droogenbroeck et al., 2021), but external factors contribute to the phenomenon. The socioeconomic home situation of students is identified as a large predictor of teacher burnout followed by the collaborative nature of the school's culture. Scheeler et al. (2021) suggest administrative support, or the lack thereof, is also a contributing factor. According to Droogenbroeck et al. (2021), another large predictor of teacher burnout is the degree to which teachers are subjected to both verbal and physical intimidation. In the elementary grades intimidation can come from students, parents, administration, and professional peers. Intimidation from professional peers is a staggering 36% higher in poor urban schools than in other school settings (Scheeler et al., 2021; McMahon et al, 2020).

Minority teachers outpace their non-minority peers leaving the profession at a 20 percent higher rate (Solomon & Lambie, 2020). The authors note many of these minority teachers cited the following challenges: (a) they were physically and emotionally exhausted and unable to help the children in their economic circumstances; (b) classroom management was a challenge; (c) they perceived covert discrimination from peers and parents; (d) they viewed administrative support as inadequate; and (e) felt compassion from peers was often lacking. In addition, male teachers often feel they are assigned the most difficult students.

Teachers report that bullying from students and peers would decrease if administration acted before the behavior escalated (McMahon et al, 2020; Scheeler et al, 2021). A more subtle

form of bullying is identified by Aronson et al. (2021) who suggest there has been a shift in society. Teachers are no longer always regarded as heroes, but rather identified as the face of what is wrong with schools today. Aronson et al. (2021) also noted, with the public not understanding that education policy is created by individuals far removed from the classroom, many teachers suffer at the hands of frustrated unhappy parents and students. This lack of parental and student support is often another external factor that contributes to teacher burn-out (Droogenbroeck et al., 2021).

Society tends to give accolades to individuals that work long hours after the school day has ended and when school is not in session. They are lauded as heroes with their loyalty and never-ending passion always on display (Amos et al., 2019). Amos et al. (2019) noted while this works for some, for others it is a burdensome expectation and not necessarily an accurate representation of teaching effectiveness.

Effects of Teacher Burn-Out

According to Martinez-Ramon et al. (2021), burnout in the workplace diminishes a mainstream classroom teachers' ability to effectively deal with an overly active, distracted student. As they approach burnout, a teacher lacks the emotional and intellectual store from which to address individual student's needs (Dexter & Wall, 2021). As some teachers detach from their work environment, they slowly cease to be an effective force for their students. The tendency to procrastinate that accompanies work fatigue leads to demotivated learners (Laybourn et al., 2019). Restrained teacher emotions result in students with negative outlooks, negative classroom behavior, and emotional distress (Braun et al., 2020). The emotional well-being of teachers has an impact beyond themselves (Braun et al., 2020; Laybourn et al., 2019). In fact, a teacher's emotional and cognitive state of being has a significant effect on students in the

classroom. Teacher burn-out or work fatigue is partly to blame for the tendency of some teachers to proactively refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation (Salinas-Falquez et al., 2022). Studies do indicate a correlation between teacher burn-out and a lack of self-efficacy (Kim & Buric, 2020). A burned-out teacher is an ineffective teacher, coworker, and employee.

Coping with Teacher Burn-Out

It is possible to mitigate some sources of stress. Self-care and assistance from peers and administrators are effective methods to address this crisis (Camacho et al, 2021). Teachers themselves should be acquainted with signs of burnout that include feelings of hopelessness, lack of self-worth, fatigue, and withdrawal from peers (Brasfield et al., 2019). Each negative symptom reinforces the others in a downward spiral. However, Camacho et al. (2021) suggested teachers who are aware of and able to regulate their emotions can project a more positive outlook which ultimately results in students experiencing increased feelings of well-being.

Self-care is one of the first suggestions given for teachers experiencing work fatigue (Murphy et al., 2020). Although well intended, this advice potentially shifts all the blame for work-related stress onto the suffering individual. There are steps that can be taken by an individual teacher to help alleviate some worry and anxiety. Although difficult, a teacher can stop bringing work home, both physically and mentally. One can also find a confidante with whom to share and access advice (Camacho et al., 2021). One can attend to one's own physical, spiritual, and emotional health in the order of personal priorities. A teacher can also take steps to become better educated on professional issues of concern. Teachers can find interests outside the workplace in which to invest emotional and intellectual capital. Self-care is not a panacea but is a good step toward alleviating work-related fatigue (Murphey et al., 2020).

A school administrator must be cognizant of healthy work boundaries and encourage employees to take personal time. Accolades must not be reserved primarily for those who blur professional and personal boundaries (Amos et al., 2019; Hester et al., 2020). School administrators bear responsibility for creating a supportive environment for teachers, staff, and students. This requires school principals to be sensitive to teacher needs while providing proactive and real-time assistance when needed (Brasfield et al., 2019). Several impactful steps principals can implement include insisting teachers use their time off and that they leave schoolwork at school at the end of the day. Administrators can provide meaningful continuing education, facilitate mentoring opportunities, maintain open channels of communication, and allow uninterrupted time for classroom instruction and regular peer interaction. Administrators must also appropriately deliver professional and personal recognition (Brasfield et al., 2019; Camacho et al., 2021; Hester et al., 2020).

The effective principal understands that productive professional development is individual by nature and should address the unique needs of each teacher (Brasfield et al, 2019). Understanding that improving self-efficacy includes vicarious learning, administrators should provide quality mentoring and opportunities for observations. The opportunity to watch another teacher successfully address a troubling issue not only models effective behavior but also assures a teacher that a positive outcome is possible (El-Abd & Chaaban, 2021). Providing teachers uninterrupted time for classroom instruction, adequate time for planning and administrative work, and time to interact with peers combine to minimize stress and alleviate anxiety. Finally, an open line of communication between a teacher and principal allows for time to share concerns and opportunities to request assistance (Scallon et al., 2021). It is not always possible to prevent

a teacher from experiencing work fatigue, but an engaged principal can recognize and reinforce healthy work habits to minimize teacher burnout (Brasfield et al., 2019; Scallon et al., 2021).

Future studies might examine characteristics fostering work engagement as it appears to mitigate burn-out (Russell et al., 2020). McMahon et al. (2020) suggest studies examining intimidation among teachers and their peers. In addition, teacher-administrator relationships could be further examined as possible mitigating factors of work exhaustion (Scallon et al., 2021).

This study addressed a gap in the literature specific to the lack of phenomenological qualitative research exploring why some mainstream elementary teachers initially implement inclassroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment (Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020; Owens, 2020). It explored with mainstream elementary teachers the possible effects of work fatigue and burn-out on their decisions to first attempt in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment.

Labeling Students

The mainstream classroom teacher is often one of the first adults in a position to note student behavior that might seem out of the ordinary. A student that is more active and more easily distracted than his or her peers presents the teacher with two immediate choices: teachers can initially try to modify their classroom instruction to meet the learning needs of the student, or they can initially refer the student for a formal assessment. Private school teachers are often freer to suggest to parents that their child be assessed for ADHD by a doctor or professional. Teachers in public schools often must follow more formal district procedures for student assessment

referrals. Whether public or private, when the classroom teacher requests a formal assessment of the problematic student behavior, they are seeking a label for that child.

ADHD is a rapidly growing diagnosis with the associated symptoms continually expanding (Owens, 2020). In the last 10 years ADHD diagnoses have risen 41%. This amounts to 6.4 million individuals, which is over 10% of all U.S. children (Owens, 2020; Wienen et al. 2019). ADHD is currently classified as a mental disorder (Metzger & Hamilton, 2020) which is both an advantage and disadvantage for students. While the classification opens the door for treatment and medication, the associated stigma and lowered expectations from classmates and teachers often result in self-fulfilling prophesies by the diagnosed students themselves.

The subjective nature of evaluations can result in either an over or under representation of demographic groups (Slobidin & Davidovitch, 2019). One standard of the American system of education is the measurement of the ability of each student against the behavior and academic output of a theoretically average learner. Those who fail to match speed, learning proficiency, or behavioral patterns are classified within a set of boundaries. Students in the higher and lower subsets are typically referred for evaluation (Boda, 2021; Cuba et al, 2021). Whether an evaluation results in modified educational procedures or not, an individual child has now been identified as different. Given the potential stigma often associated with being assessed for ADHD, an examination of the effects of labeling a child is warranted. Educators who detect the potential need of some students for instructional modifications and physical assistance will request an official assessment (Verlenden et al., 2021). When results of this testing fall between predetermined parameters students are labeled and then become eligible for targeted assistance.

At this time, with no detectable biological markers, ADHD is classified as a mental illness or neurodevelopmental disorder (CDC, 2022). The CDC lists common observable

behaviors to indicate ADHD. They include difficulty attending and completing many tasks, impulsiveness, and excessive activity. Symptoms can present in varying degrees and combinations. Educators can unwittingly project biases and assumptions onto children's behaviors. Boda (2021) suggests that some teachers unintentionally minimize the recognition of overly active behaviors in some children and exaggerate the degree of activity in others.

Beneficial Effects of Student Labeling

Medication and more tailored educational accommodations allow the most severely affected overly active, distracted students to enjoy a more productive school experience. Student assistance can come in the form of physical accommodations, instructional modifications, and emotional support (Schmitterer & Brod, 2021; Verlenden et al., 2021). When possible, modifications for these labeled students are made within mainstream classrooms as this is the least restrictive learning environment (Wilson et al, 2020). Some students benefit more from a hybrid educational plan where they spend time in both the mainstream classroom and in a specialized learning environment. Others are best served in an entirely self-contained learning environment (Giangreco, 2020). The intended benefit of testing and labeling students is to secure the most productive learning opportunities for their specific needs (Verlenden et al., 2021). In addition, specific labels make state and federal funds available to schools and districts to assist with the added expenses incurred for their education. Many students benefit from special academic accommodations that accompany being labelled with certain learning requirements (Sperling, 2020). For these students, special accommodations are the difference between success and failure in school.

Negative Effects of Student Labeling

Typically, in the rush to label a child with ADHD a single instrument, often a behavioral checklist, is used for diagnosis (Lawrence & Mathis, 2020). According to Lawrence and Mathis (2020) the children identified as at-risk tend to fall academically behind the general student population. These students slowly accept that they are different from their peers (Zeinalipour, 2022) and begin to regard themselves as less competent, less able, and less intelligent.

With some exceptions, a referral for assessment generally infers that a student is deficient in some way (Cuba et al., 2021). Depending on the outcome of the assessment, a combination of counseling, teaching modifications, and medications are initiated. When changes to the mainstream educational process are officially recommended for a student, that student has been labeled (Boda, 2021). This label can come at a significant cost to the student. The benefits of a diagnosis must be weighed against the drawbacks. Diagnostic labels unintentionally act as cues to the general population and often trigger associated stereotypes (Gillespie-Lynch et al., 2020). Again, many students benefit from special academic accommodations (Sperling, 2020). Special accommodations can be the difference between success and failure. But, according to Boda (2021), for other individuals labeling can bring with it a lifetime of low expectations from themselves and from society.

The interaction between teacher and student is one predictor of how a student identifies who they are socially and academically (Tran & Burman, 2019). The onus of deciding to have an elementary grade student referred for labeling is not without consequence for the child (Bauer et al., 2022) nor should it be taken lightly. According to Owens (2020), this is significant for students who are minimally affected by active distracted tendencies. These children are often diagnosed with ADHD after beginning formal schooling. The labeled students often suffer over

the long term, faring worse academically and socially than their undiagnosed active distracted peers (Owens, 2020; Tran & Burman, 2019).

For a student, self-efficacy is the belief that their personal effort can positively affect the outcome of an endeavor (Bauer et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2022). Schunk and DiBenedetto (2020) identify three types of self-efficacy affected by formal confirmation of a disability: performance, self-regulation, and learning. A student's assessment of their own physical and intellectual shortcomings affects their belief that they have control over their ability to learn, perform, and successfully live in society (Tus, 2020). Unnecessarily or prematurely inferring to a child that he or she is possibly defective can rob them of hope which is a crucial component of all self-efficacy (Zeinalipour, 2022).

Children as young as seven years of age are aware of the concept of success at school. Primary school students compare themselves to other students. As labeled students watch their classmates succeed, often with different curriculum requirements or grading scales, they can feel powerless and socially subordinate (Hargreaves et al., 2021). The talents that these students do have are often not recognized by teachers as they are not valued to the same degree as math or reading (Frances et al., 2017; Hargreaves et al., 2021).

Many teachers expect less academically from diagnosed students and the students consequently expect less from themselves (Owens, 2020; Wienen et al. 2019). Metzger and Hamilton (2020) suggest that an ADHD diagnosis is a double-edged sword. Students can gain access to extra learning resources but are often seen by current and future teachers as less capable and less productive than their non diagnosed classmates. A teacher's beliefs regarding students with ADHD affect his or her own behavior when working with them. Negative teacher beliefs also reinforce negative student behavior (Dort et al, 2020). This can lead to the

continuous decline in student conduct and academic progress. In other words, results of the Dort et al. (2020) study suggested teachers can behave toward students in ways that elicit unintended student behavior.

Another consequence of labeling a student with ADHD is the effect it has on fellow classmates (Beristain & Wiener, 2020, Normand et al., 2022). Many of their peers neither make accommodations for nor bully a labeled child. They interact just as they do with their other classmates (Normand et al., 2022). A percentage of classmates display overtly helpful behavior, assisting them as they are able. They interpret the label to mean that the student is less capable in some way and in need of assistance (Zava et al., 2019). This message is conveyed to and is internalized by the labeled student, affecting their self-efficacy and motivation to try.

Finally, there are the students who are ostracized, called names, hit, or are the target of rumors. This scenario is not uncommon whether or not observed by a classroom teacher (Wood & Orpinas, 2021). It is naïve to think that a labeled student will not be the target of school and home bullying. Some of the bullying episodes can be brought about by themselves. Those suffering with severe symptoms of ADHD often initiate aggressive and socially inappropriate behavior eliciting hostile and forceful responses from classmates (Bong et al., 2021). The authors determined most bullying does not fall into the bully-victim category. Most bullying is initiated by a classmate or family member for the sole purpose of tormenting the victim. Wood and Orpinas (2021) suggested children who require special educational modifications are four times more likely to become victims of school related violence than their peers.

As with so many things done with good intentions, there are unintended consequences of labeling children. Further research is recommended on the social interaction between children

labeled with ADHD and their peers (Normand et al., 2022). A mindful approach to dealing with overly active, distracted students could mitigate unnecessary victimization of some students.

Medication and Classroom Management

The management of students with ADHD has been studied from both psychiatric/psychological and educational perspectives. Unfortunately, the literature suggests that there is too little communication between the two professions (Dort et al., 2020); consequently, a disconnect exists. There are several approaches to management of students diagnosed with ADHD. One approach suggests that proper medication should precede instructional classroom modifications (Schatz et al., 2021). Dort et al. (2020) recommend a system of instructional modifications be used before the move to medication. The third targets behavior using action-consequence or reactive responses to shape desired classroom behavior (Henley, 2022). Each approach has both strong proponents and strong critics.

The last 20 years have seen an increase in the percentage of mainstream classroom teachers who initially recommend an ADHD assessment for overly active, distracted children before trying in-classroom instructional modifications (Schatz et al., 2021). In 1999 most teachers implemented instructional and behavioral modifications before referring students for ADHD testing. According to Schatz et al. (2021), by 2019 labeling and medication for overly active, distracted students had become the path of choice for many teachers.

Medication for a child first requires a medical diagnosis, a label. The decision to initiate the process of labeling a child should be carefully considered as it often carries with it life altering repercussions (Hargreaves et al., 2021). ADHD is the most diagnosed neurodevelopmental condition in U.S. children ages 2-17. (Chang et al., 2020). Psychosocial interventions alone are often effective but less than half of identified children are ever offered

any behavioral treatment. The CDC (2022) concludes nine out of 10 children identified with ADHD are treated with medication alone with dosing usually adjusted up toward the maximum dose for that child (Coles et al, 2020). For pre-school and elementary school children the most frequently prescribed psychostimulants include methylphenidate, mixed amphetamine salts, and dextroamphetamine. Atomoxetine, clonidine, and guanfacine are also prescribed for children as young as 6 years of age (Chang et al., 2022).

Medication First Approach

Among teachers surveyed in 2019, the majority prefer initializing the administration of nervous system stimulant treatments prior to or in leu of instructional modifications and classroom management (Schatz et al., 2021). Schatz et al. (2021) suggested many current inservice teachers note the need for support and training to improve their classroom management skills. These teachers simply do not feel qualified to adapt their classroom instruction or management to meet the needs of students exhibiting overly active, distracted behavior. They believe problems can be solved more quickly and easily with medication (Schatz et al., 2021).

There are critics of the medication-first approach to the management of students with overly active, distracted behavior. ADHD is a condition that is often misdiagnosed and excessively diagnosed in children (Schefft et al., 2019). In addition, critics note conflicts of interest inherent in advice given by some individuals. Most notable are those compensated by pharmaceutical companies and those who stand to gain financially from assessments and testing. Schefft et al. (2019) contend that before exposing children to various stimulants, restless distracted behavior should be addressed with non-pharmacological therapies. When provided access to behavioral counseling, nearly half of students five to 13 years old diagnosed with

ADHD were able to successfully minimize or eliminate nervous system stimulant treatment (Coles et al., 2020).

Labeling a child with ADHD and proceeding to immediately medicate is fraught with potential consequences, not the least of which can be a diminished sense of self-efficacy and powerlessness (Hargreaves et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2022). Many teachers, present and future, expect less from these labeled medicated students, and the students learn to expect less from themselves (Owens, 2020; Wienen et al., 2019). In addition, labeling and medication can negatively affect a child's relationships with schoolmates (Wood & Orpinas, 2021). Minimally symptomatic overly active, distracted children who were immediately placed on medication managed much worse academically and socially over the long run than their undiagnosed active distracted peers (Owens, 2020; Tran & Burman, 2019).

Classroom Management

In 1999, teachers were more apt to initially address overly active, distracted student behavior using classroom management and instructional modifications (Schatz et al., 2021). Most teachers in 1999 felt competent to address behavioral and management issues associated with symptoms of ADHD. Classroom management of overly active, distracted students is not necessarily an either-or proposition. The choice does not need to be made between a pharmacological or management remedy. Multimodal treatment is often the most effective strategy (Coles at al., 2020).

Proactive and reactive management strategies are two approaches to creating and maintaining an effective classroom. Proactive management attempts to prevent classroom problems (Henley, 2022). According to Alasmari and Althaqafi (2021), students in a proactively managed classroom stay engaged, the teacher is active and physically near students, and

expectations are understood in advance. Reactive management, on the other hand, responds to misbehavior with pre-set understood consequences. Studies suggest that proactive management can result in an environment that is generally less stressful for the teacher and students. There are benefits to both proactive and reactive approaches (Alasmari & Althaqafi, 2021; Henley, 2022). And despite in-service training and knowledge of proactive classroom management most teachers and staff report using reactive management techniques in the classroom (Domsch et al., 2022; Szep et al., 2021).

Instructional Modifications

Given the abundance of instructional modification research available to educators, strategies for adapting to the needs of individual learners is within the understanding of the classroom teacher (Strelow et al., 2021). Research suggests there are several reasons that teachers hesitate to implement instructional changes in their classrooms (Domsch et al., 2022; Szep et al., 2021). The three most cited reasons for lack of instructional or managerial modifications reported by teachers are actual class sizes, the number of ADHD students within one class, and time constraints (Szep et al., 2021). Studies indicate that these same teachers' rationales are also echoed by their support staff (Domsch et al., 2022). Szep et al. (2021) note many in-service teachers agree that instructional modifications should be tried before medication is recommended, but the reality is that school and district academic expectations often make it impractical.

There is a substantial gap between clinical findings and classroom practice. Future studies must go beyond existing short-term and clinically situated settings. Evaluation, treatment, and classroom management studies must draw on actual classroom environments and allow for variables in age and social situations (DuPaul et al., 2020).

The Influence of Administrators and Fellow Teachers

Teachers do not work in a vacuum. Attitudes and professional practices are influenced both formally and informally by the individuals with whom teachers interact. While education mandates originate at federal, state, district, and school levels (Guenther, 2021) the behaviors and attitudes of most teachers originate with their principals, fellow teachers, and previous experience. Teachers do not fall neatly into one level of experience. There are teachers new to a school freshly out of teacher education programs, seasoned teachers who are new to a school and district, and seasoned teachers changing disciplines or grade levels (Zhang et al., 2020). Each new teacher brings varying levels of knowledge and classroom competence. Assistance sought from fellow teachers can run the spectrum of how it is done, to how it is done here.

Influence of School Administrators

Scallon et al. (2021) suggest that a school principal often influences the selection of professional education and mentoring opportunities for his or her teaching staff. Exposure to instructional techniques specific to the needs of overly active, distracted students, and opportunities for collegial interaction are directly within the purview of the school principal. According to Scallon et al. (2021) the types and quality of professional education for teachers is often influenced by a principal's personal longer-term goals (Scallon et al., 2021). This matters for the teacher and the school. Scallon et al. (2021) noted that a principal whose primary goal is his or her advancement in a school district will often manage differently from one whose aim is to tailor a learning environment optimal for teachers and the students in their care. The agenda of a politically motivated principal often originates with those who control their career opportunities. Their school management practices might seem impersonal and regimented as the approval they value rests outside the school itself (Guenther, 2021). Scallon et al. (2021) further

note the agenda of a facility-oriented principal is generally shaped by the needs of teachers and students in their school. The type of principal management has a great deal of influence on teacher practices.

The role of principal leadership in quality teacher mentoring is illuminated by Hong and Matsko (2019). The authors report that strong principal leadership better facilitates new teacher access to quality mentors. This mentoring includes organization, management, and best practices. Conversely, poor school leadership provides little formal support for new teachers who by necessity turn to informal and personal sources of information and support. Strong leadership facilitates teacher empowerment, professional development, collaboration, and quality mentoring of individuals new to the organization (Hong & Matsko, 2019; Scallon et al., 2021). A strong principal protects new teachers from the effects of poor mentors (Scallon et al., 2021).

Influence of Fellow Teachers

Much practical and emotional support springs from teachers' peers. However, one must acknowledge the different needs of new teachers, seasoned teachers but new to a school, and seasoned teachers changing certifications. These differences must be addressed in the types of help offered. Each teacher needs comradery and direction specific to their needs (Rodriguez-Triana et al., 2020). It is normal for a new teacher to want to be accepted by the group. New teachers find value working with more seasoned teachers (Wexler, 2019). A new teacher is also likely to begin to adopt the foundational attitudes and practices of their fellow educators. New teacher expectations of students and parents often originate from their peers and are reinforced through experience (Mowrey, 2020). The assistance provided by fellow teachers in the form of formal mentoring and informal guidance shapes teachers feelings of competence, resilience, and classroom practice (Morettini et al., 2020; Mowrey, 2020).

Teacher beliefs and practices can be fluid and depend in part on the teachers with whom they associate (Mowrey, 2020). Ideally, the new teacher-mentor relationship would be carefully designed and implemented in a way that supports and guides the beginning teacher in both day to day and theoretical circumstances (Wexler, 2019). Wexler (2019) suggests that mentor feedback that includes reflection and inquiry are productive techniques for new teacher guidance.

Mentoring of new teachers should include social relationships, an understanding of observable professional competence, knowledge of pedagogy, and opportunities for professional development (Reitman & Karge, 2019). Quality mentoring is extremely important but difficult to successfully execute or maintain often due to barriers of cost and maintenance. Although monetary limitations can affect formal sources of new teacher advice, collaboration with fellow teachers can continue informally.

New teachers themselves feel that the most important sources of support they can receive during their early years of teaching are informal individual relationships followed by pedagogical knowledge and mentoring (Morettini et al., 2020). Morettini et al. (2020) note the importance of the identification and development of capable peers. Wilhelm et al. (2020) found that teachers use informal sources of information which they refer to as *Intentional Professional Networks* (IPN). IPN's are individuals that teachers choose to go to for advice about teaching, collegiality, and emotional support. Over time these informal IPN's exert influence over teacher behavior and practice in the classroom. Marz and Kelchtermans (2020) suggest that the reality faced by new teachers is often not fully acknowledged or addressed through formal mentoring programs.

Formal mentoring can lack collegiality, emotional support, and classroom specific relevance (Marz & Kelchtermans, 2020; Wilhelm et al., 2020). Sikma (2019) prioritized the influences of both formal and informal support systems for new teachers giving the highest value to emotional

support provided by informal relationships. In addition, new teachers value co-planning and collaboration as well as interactions with other teachers (Redding & Smith, 2019). Those who experienced higher levels of emotional support and peer interaction expressed greater job satisfaction and personal well-being. New teachers who were denied opportunities for emotional support and teacher interaction reported a lack of well-being and job satisfaction (Guenther, 2021; Sikma, 2019).

Peers influence the practice of teaching, classroom management, and general school climate for newer teachers. (Sikma, 2019; Vasiliki et al., 2020). Generally, formal mentoring opportunities encourage administrative compliance, familiarity with pedagogy, and strengthen cognitive skills. Informal mentoring can provide this assistance, but it also addresses social and emotional needs of new teachers. (Morettini et al., 2020). Informal associations develop freely and the bonds between individuals often more deeply influence future attitudes and behaviors of new teachers (Colognesi et al., 2020; Hong & Matsko, 2019; Vasiliki et al, 2020).

According to Vasiliki et al. (2020), seasoned teachers new to a school also benefit from mentoring and can find informal relationships often more impactful than those more formal. Seasoned teachers, including those changing areas of certification, often arrive with established attitudes about students. However, in a new environment those attitudes can be influenced by administrative directives and other teaching professionals (Vasiliki et al., 2020).

Despite the positive impact of mentors on new teachers, little research has identified salient qualities, dispositions and traits of the individuals who provide the mentoring experience (Aresi et al., 2020). The greatest predictor of mentor success is the quality of personal relationship between the two teachers. Aresi et al. (2020) suggest motivations for someone to undertake the responsibilities of mentorship are as varied as there are individuals. Some are

prompted by a desire to be recognized as important. Some are inspired by a belief in teamwork and driven by altruistic and humanitarian motives (Teye & Peaslee, 2020). Official mentors are most often recruited by word of mouth or using cash incentives (Biggers et al., 2019).

The effect of both formal and informal mentors should not be underestimated. A negative mentor-protegee relationship can be detrimental to both individuals and it can sour the climate of schools as easily as contribute to a wholesome work environment (Hu et al., 2019). The subject of informal mentors in schools is incomplete without mentioning informal leadership. Apart from the official administrative chain of command, leadership that is found among the ranks of teachers themselves influences teachers' attitudes and practices (Clohessy et al., 2021). These informal leaders hold sway among fellow teachers as they are recognized by their peers as possessing knowledge and experience worthy of acknowledgement and imitation (Gordon et al., 2020). Successful mentor modeling in an authentic teaching environment, along with the opportunity to co-teach with the mentor, equips new teachers with the skills and confidence to implement these techniques in their own classrooms (Moody et al., 2022). A mentor can effectively provide a mentee with the determination that that they can attempt in classroom instructional modifications before referring an overly active, distracted student for an ADHD evaluation.

Much like a mentor, an informal leader can contribute to a cohesive productive teaching staff or a destructive work environment detrimental to academic or scholarly success (Merritt & Wang, 2022). Much attention is paid to the impact of the unofficial school leader usually concentrating on the positive skills of individuals. The authors suggested the converse must be acknowledged as well, conceding that sometimes an informal leader contributes to a discordant atmosphere for learner and teacher alike.

New teachers are often impressionable as they lack real life classroom experience against which to form a judgement. More seasoned educators can draw from their own experiences when weighing the influence of an informal leader, but social pressure can still sway an individual toward conformity (Gordon et al., 2020; Merritt & Wang, 2022). School administration, mentors, and informal leaders can shape teachers' beliefs and classroom practices. The influence of each affects individuals differently based on teaching experience and level of self-confidence.

Considerations for future research must include the quantitative measurement of peer and mentor influence at differing points in a teacher's career (Mowrey, 2020). Biggers et al. (2019) suggest more research is needed to identify the traits of a quality teacher mentor. Research should include a demographically varied selection of teachers and their mentors (Wexler, 2019). New and experienced teachers are different and bring with them varying strengths and weaknesses. Hong and Matsko (2019) recommend that studies include variables associated with the quality of the principal and the acknowledgement that new and experienced teachers possess different degrees of academic and social skills. Research targeting informal teacher support systems is needed (Marz & Kelchtermans, 2020). Shank and Santiague (2022) suggest further studies exploring the benefits of experienced educators and mentors modeling successful and productive classroom management.

Summary

Teaching does not exist in a vacuum. Teachers are social creatures and much of their behavior is learned through direct experience and by watching others (Bandura, 1977).

Bandura's (1977) social learning theory guided this search for relevant literature. The literature selected for this review is a compilation of studies examining factors that influence teachers' decisions to implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active,

distracted students for testing. Results of these studies quantified and qualified teacher behaviors and measured the impact of teachers' decisions on students. Seven categories of literature were investigated: (a) teacher bias and prejudice; (b) teacher self-efficacy; (c) teacher burn-out; (d) teacher burnout, (e) student labeling; (f) administration and peer influence; and (g) teacher use of social media. The literature selected examined the influence of these categories on general teacher behavior toward students exhibiting overly active, distracted behavior.

An understanding of influences affecting teachers' professional experiences would add to the body of knowledge. This study contributed more than a numerical explanation of what has already been studied. This study provided an opportunity for mainstream classroom teachers to explain in their own words the factors that led them to initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. Overly active, distracted students are defined as constantly active, fidgety, mentally restless, and displaying difficulty attending (Barkley & Peters, 2012; Bob & Konicarova, 2018; Lange et al., 2010). This chapter begins with an explanation of transcendental phenomenological research and why it is applicable for this study. The research questions are followed by a description of the setting and participants. Researcher positionality identifies my role in the study as well as my values, beliefs, and views on the subject (Holmes, 2020). Social learning and self-efficacy theories guide the exploration of teachers' lived experiences (Adams, 2006; Bandura, 1986). Permissions and recruitment of participants is addressed under the procedure section. Data collection explains individual interviews, writing prompts, and focus group facilitation. Data synthesis explains all three collection methods, analysis, triangulation, and synthesis. The final part of chapter three examines trustworthiness and the quality of qualitative research which is defined by credibility, transferability, confirmability, and ethical considerations (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; O'Kane et al., 2019).

Research Design

The problem that was the basis of this study is that some mainstream elementary classroom teachers refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment before implementing inclassroom instructional modifications (Chunta & DuPaul, 2022; Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020). Qualitative research is inductive (Creswell & Creswell, 2020). Induction is

explorative and remains open to unexpected insight relying on experiences and observations from which generalizations and conclusions can be drawn (Corley et al., 2020). Qualitative research seeks to build knowledge and understanding (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Tomaszewski et al., 2020). This study wanted to understand those lived experiences of mainstream teachers that predispose them to initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD assessment.

This design used a transcendental phenomenological approach. Phenomenology attempts to understand the meaning of a lived experience, or phenomenon, as perceived by individuals directly involved (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). In this study the phenomenon was a teacher's decision to implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referral of overly active, distracted students for ADHD assessment. The term transcendental refers to the way a phenomenon is interpreted. Moustakas (1994) separates the transcendental experience into two categories: noema, and noesis. Noesis can be understood as the subjective interpretation or description of an actual event or phenomenon with which one has direct knowledge. It allows an individual to physically describe an outward event as they perceived it, less the accompanying emotions or affective interpretation. *Noema* can be described as the subjective reaction to a phenomenon by an individual with first-hand knowledge. Noema provides an opportunity for an individual to attach meaning to the phenomenon. The author suggests that it is through the blending of *noema* and *noesis* that an individual forms understanding and interpretation of an event (Moustakas, 1994). Therefore, transcendental refers to both the perceived description and personal interpretation of the phenomenon that occurred.

As noted in Creswell and Poth (2018), phenomenological research begins with a phenomenon to be explored. In this study, the phenomenon was the practice of some mainstream

elementary teachers of overly active, distracted children to postpone referral for formal testing and diagnosis until after in-classroom instructional modifications are tried. A transcendental, phenomenological, qualitative study was most appropriate for several reasons. The term *transcendental* refers to the referenced event being recalled in a fresh way (Moustakas, 1994). Participants were encouraged to share their experiences in their own words. According to Moustakas (1994) the term *phenomenological* suggests that the essence of the study is based on the actual experience of each participant, not the researcher's interpretation of the event. Participants' own words were used as the source of data. Van Manen (1990) suggests that *qualitative* data is exclusively human based, tapping into experience as uniquely understood by an individual. In this study participants were asked to describe experiences as they occurred in their own life. Following the explanation of the phenomenon and philosophical assumptions I will discuss how I collected data through interviews, focus groups, and written prompts. From the data, themes and clusters of meaning evolved. This enabled me to develop and report significant findings.

Research Questions

The central research question reflects the purpose of the study. Sub-questions are informed by the framework of Bandura's (1977) social learning and self-efficacy theories.

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who initiate inclassroom instructional modifications to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation?

Sub-Question One

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers have inhibited initially implementing in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students?

Sub-Question Two

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers forged their use of in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation?

Sub-Question Three

What lived experiences beyond the classroom have influenced mainstream teachers who implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for an ADHD evaluation?

Setting and Participants

The Internet was the platform for this study. A study conducted completely on-line is rife with not only opportunity but also obstruction. As noted by Marks et al. (2017) recruitment of participants is a key component of research, and the Internet can provide broad geographical access to potential volunteers. As a high percentage of individuals use the Internet daily (Charbonneau-Gowdy, 2017) real time interaction with participants is possible. Lack of physical proximity requires a researcher to be creative as they sell the research project to potential volunteers and keep participants engaged through frequent reminders and virtual contact. In addition, the hesitancy of some individuals to invite close inspection of their lives is made even more suspect by the electronic nature of the potential relationship (Nichols et al., 2021). Extra time requirements arising from unanticipated obstacles due to glitches in technology were built into the study (Marks et al., 2017).

Setting

The study was conducted on-line utilizing technology and social media. Charbonneau-Gowdy (2017) suggests that research is changing and is starting to incorporate more technology for methods of data collection. Researchers will often be physically located far from participants as will participants be separated from one another. The author reminds the reader that physical distance must not be used as an excuse to maximize data at the expense of personal communication and subjective interpretation (Charbonneau-Gowdy, 2017). To the contrary, socially driven technology allowed for a collection of data derived directly from individuals across broad geographical locations. With expanded use of technology and less physical proximity it is vital that precautions be taken to assure the safety of participants (Beck, 2005; Charbonneau-Gowdy, 2017). Data security must be attended to as technology becomes a common tool for distance data collection (Charbonneau-Gowdy, 2017; McLeod & O'Connor, 2019).

It was unrealistic to think that there would be a surplus of teachers in one geographical location willing and able to participate in this study. The criterion for participation was narrow. The number of available participants was unknown; therefore, it was anticipated that the study would need to enlist teachers from across a broad U. S. geographical boundary.

Participants

This study invited participants: (a) who were current or former licensed classroom teachers; (b) with four or more years of mainstream classroom teaching experience; (c) in any combination of K- 6th grades; and (d) who as a professional practice initiated in-classroom instructional modifications for overactive distracted students before referring them for ADHD assessment. Both private and public-school teachers were considered for participation. The intent

of this study was to explore why some teachers initially try in-classroom instructional modifications before a referral for assessment. According to the CDC (2022), when a teacher suspects a child has hyperactive distracted symptoms, they are referred for an evaluation and possibly medication. Teacher participants were solicited from across the United States using online social media, on-line groups, and personal referrals. Personal referrals, also called snowball referrals, allowed participants to recommend other individuals who possibly fit the criteria for participation (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Interviews and discussions utilized audio and/or video technology available to both the researcher and each participant.

Creswell and Poth (2018) suggest phenomenological research utilizes from five to 25 individuals who have experienced a given phenomenon. This study initially recruited between 10 and 23 participants. Allowing for attrition, the final number of participants was 10 individuals. Eligibility for participation required individuals (a) be a current or former classroom teacher, (b) with a minimum of four years mainstream classroom teaching experience, (c) at any combination of K - 6th grades, and (d) who routinely initiated in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD assessment (Lowe et al., 2019). Data was collected until saturation, which according to Creswell and Poth (2018) is the point at which interviews result in no new data or information being disclosed. Qualified participants were identified via questionnaires or phone interviews (Appendix H). The questionnaires or phone calls posed identical qualifying questions, the answers to which allowed me to identify or reject potential participants. After a volunteer was identified as qualified, they were e-mailed a consent form for electronic signature. As noted in Creswell and Creswell (2018), purposeful selection of participants helps the researcher truly understand the problem. It increases intentionality which assists the researcher in maintaining participant focus on the

phenomenon (Vagle, 2018).

Researcher Positionality

The motivation for this study was to understand why some teachers in mainstream $K-6^{th}$ grade classrooms choose to implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD assessment. The study solicited teachers who fell into this category. Data gained from participants did shine a light on unifying personal and professional experiences and beliefs that these teachers have in common. The study was guided by three philosophical assumptions: ontological, axiological, and epistemological, which are discussed in the following sections.

Interpretive Framework

This study was interpreted through a lens of social learning and self-efficacy theories. Social learning theory suggests that people are products of their cumulative experiences, hence they understand a phenomenon through the complex filter of their personal backgrounds (Creswell and Poth, 2018). Self-efficacy examines the successful experiences, encouragement, mental well-being, modeling, and visualizing that result in an individual believing they are competent to attain a goal. According to Creswell and Poth (2018), phenomenological research gathers and records the lived experiences of individuals and from that data generates patterns. An individual's social and personal experiences influence the way they interpret a given phenomenon. What is determined to be a problem and how that problem should be addressed or solved is very much constructed socially (Bronack et al., 2006). It is the social nature of learning that informs this framework. The premise that all learning occurs on a social level guided the collection of data (Vygotsky, 1978). Building on the framework of social learning and self-efficacy theories, this study fleshed out an understanding of participants' personal and

professional lived experiences, and why these teachers elect to delay or avoid sending overly active, distracted students for an ADHD evaluation.

Philosophical Assumptions

Investigating social and behavioral phenomenon requires an examination of experiences as interpreted by individuals. This naturalistic inquiry differentiates itself from rationalistic inquiry in the positionality of theory. In naturalistic research, theory is grounded in the collected data (Guba & Lincoln, 1982); the naturalistic researcher does not look for data to prove a preconceived theory. In contrast, rationalistic research begins with theory and collects data to substantiate that theory. Guba and Lincoln (1982) suggest that the values and beliefs of the naturalistic researcher influence the way a study is selected and conducted. Understanding a researcher's values and beliefs, their personal philosophies, helps a reader better understand how and why a study was organized and data was interpreted. The following sections will briefly address my own *ontological*, *epistemological*, and *axiological* assumptions.

Ontological Assumption

Jacquette (2014) defines ontology as the nature of being, but not in the biological or scientific sense. It can be described as one's belief about what is real. My own ontological assumption is reflected in the words of St. Augustine (A.D. 354-430) "All truth is God's truth" (NAE, 2015). This is not to imply that every thought or interpretation by a human is God's truth. To the contrary, humans are fallible and prone to base judgements and conclusions on faulty preconceptions and clouded interpretations. There are not multiple realities, but multiple interpretations of individual experiences. I believe that the lived experiences of others, shared, grouped, and honestly analyzed, can bring us closer to understanding what and why things are perceived to exist as they do.

Epistemological Assumption

As defined by Gutek (2011), epistemology refers to knowledge and the ways that knowledge is known or understood. For a constructivist researcher it is reflected in the assumption that knowledge will be constructed through individual perceptions of social experiences (Cuthbertson et al., 2020). My own epistemological assumption is that knowledge gained through qualitative research is fluid. To be effective it is necessary to stay flexible and open to providing participants with opportunities to relay their own experiences through their own understanding. It is also important to maintain a presence that facilitates transmission of information, simultaneously keeping interactions on topic, and remaining sensitive to opportunities to expand participant contributions (Guest et al., 2017).

Axiological Assumption

In qualitative research the axiological assumption defines the nature of values and ethics that inform the study (Cuthbertson et al., 2020). Here I repeat my ontological assumption based on St. Augustine's teachings "All truth is God's truth" (NAE, 2015). From this position my values and beliefs in relation to this study originate. I measure every interaction between a child and the educational system in relation to how it affects the child cognitively, emotionally, spiritually, and physically. There are few things that concern me more than the lasting effects on children of decisions made by adults charged with their care. I hold that one should be extremely hesitant to have a child labeled or to, without question, accept the label of a child who enters their classroom. Children unconsciously live up or down to expectations placed on them, and it is unconscionable to unnecessarily codify a child's limitations, if at all avoidable.

Acknowledging these values and beliefs it was imperative that I effectively bracketed that bias while conducting this research (Creswell & Poth, 2017). The purpose of questions and

follow-up questions posed during interviews, focus groups and written prompts was to reflect the experiences of participants, not my experiences. Each participant's life experiences and history in the classroom is unique. The purpose of this research was to understand how and why these teachers react to certain students the way they do. Participants' experiences are due respect and freedom from judgement.

Researcher's Role

My teaching experience in elementary and early childhood classrooms has spanned nearly 20 years. It has included public and private schools, at all economic levels, and working alongside both seasoned and inexperienced teachers. Through those years, I observed teachers who as a matter of practice made in-classroom accommodations for overly active, distracted students, as well as teachers who immediately referred students exhibiting the same behaviors for testing. Appreciating more active and interesting educational settings myself, I seldom see overly active or distractable students as problematic.

As the human instrument in this study my goal was to provide participants adequate questions and opportunities to holistically explore the meaning of their own experience with the phenomenon of overly active, distracted students (Creswell & Poth, 2018). As with any instrument, constant effort was made to keep the instrument calibrated correctly. In this case, calibration required that I, the human instrument, remained focused on the participants and on the phenomenon (Becker, 2019). Peredaryenko and Krauss (2013) suggest that a researcher must remember that the reality of the phenomenon comes only from the participant. Appropriate responses by me encouraged participant sharing and promoted receptivity to participants sharing unexpected information.

I selected a transcendental phenomenological design because I wanted to understand those lived experiences that led teachers to prefer to initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students. I am not interested in the number or percentage of teachers that proactively refer students. A Likert type questionnaire would not provide the depth of understanding that a qualitative study could explore. I had no relationship with any of the participants. Participants were drawn from volunteers responding to requests posted on social media and referrals from participants and education professionals. My role in the research setting consisted of directly interviewing participants, facilitating focus groups, sending out reflective writing prompts, and analysis. As Peredaryenko and Krauss (2013) note, research is about the participants and recording and analyzing their personal experiences accurately. Synthesis and analysis of data was carried out objectively.

Procedures

To promote credibility, this transcendental phenomenological research followed outlined steps in the execution of this study which included obtaining permissions and explaining procedures. Moustakas (1994) encourages researchers to approach research systematically and analytically. According to Moustakas (1994) thoughtful reduction requires targeted collection, careful interpretation, and synthesis of data when looking for a reasonable universal essence. The aim of transcendental phenomenology is to systematically collect each source of data independently and through analysis and synthesis identify unifying themes (Creswell et al., 2007). Each step should be presented clearly and logically to the reader. The authors note that most modern funding of research requires concrete descriptions of procedures and processes followed. In the absence of seeking research funding Gaudet and Roberts (2018) suggest transparent consistency and rigor be recorded throughout the study to lend validity and

credibility to the research.

Permissions

To protect participants, permissions and consents were necessary for conducting an ethical study. As suggested by Crow et al. (2006), informed consent addresses several issues critical to volunteers. The first issue is that participants are given sufficient details of the study to be able to make an informed decision about involvement. The second is that they understand participation is completely voluntary and that there will be no repercussions from withdrawing from the study.

This was an Internet-based research study that did not involve the use of a physical site. The use of the Internet allows for a larger geographical pool from which to solicit participants as it does not involve the necessity of travel (Kaiser, 2009). The lack of a physical setting dictated that permissions and consents be sent, signed, and returned electronically or via mail. The use of technology was discussed in detail in the *Settings* section.

The permission process began with an application to the Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB ensures a study is structured ethically and that participants are protected mentally and physically (Moon, 2011). Following Liberty IRB approval (see Appendix A), a search for participants commenced. Qualified potential volunteers were furnished with details of the study, and if they agreed to participate, all necessary consent forms were provided. All consents, including the right to withdraw without repercussions, were signed and securely stored before participation in the study began.

Recruitment Plan

To secure an adequate pool of participants requests for volunteers were advertised in a private Facebook group (Appendix C) and e-mailed to associates and potential participants

suggested through snowball recommendations (Appendix D). Facebook was an established private teacher-only group. All volunteers answered the qualifying questionnaire (Appendix H). They were then sent a consent form for electronic signature (Appendix B). The purpose of the study was to examine K-6th grade mainstream classroom teachers who make in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for testing. Using the purpose of the study as a guide, participants qualified by: (a) being a current or former mainstream elementary teacher; (b) in any combinations of grades K-6; (c) having taught at this level four or more years; and (d) routinely implemented in-classroom instructional accommodations for overly active, distracted students before referring them for testing. A \$25.00 gift card was provided to all study volunteers who participated in all three modes of data collection, individual interview, focus group, and reflective written prompt.

Creswell and Poth (2018) recommend five to 20 participants to achieve saturation for a qualitative study. This study initially recruited between 15 and 20 volunteers (Lowe et al., 2019). Allowing for attrition, the final sample size was 10. Lowe et al. (2019) suggest that four to six years of experience teaching in the classroom is the amount of time necessary to establish individual job stabilization. For this study, the requirement of four or more years teaching in a mainstream K- 6th grade classroom provided adequate time for a teacher to incorporate learning from other classroom teachers and to have developed their own habits of classroom management. Data was collected until saturation which according to Creswell and Poth (2018) was the point at which no new data or information was collected from interviews. Before being accepted potential participants were informed of precise study details and requirements, provisions made for their own anonymity and safety, voluntary protections, and digital consent forms.

Data Collection Plan

No data was collected until all necessary IRB approvals were received. Data was collected only from volunteers that satisfy all participant requirements. Data derived from experienced-based sources provides a higher degree of validity than data from sources presented with hypothetical situations (Pulakos & Schmitt, 1995). Therefore, teachers who routinely refer students for testing before implementing instructional modifications were excluded from the study. This helped ensure the same phenomenon was being examined by all participants. Each participant saw and experienced the same phenomenon uniquely to some degree (Creswell & Poth, 2018)

This study triangulated using three sources of data to determine themes (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Van Manen and van Manen (2021) suggest that a phenomenon is simply a thing. It is the data, the individual detailed perception of the phenomenon, that conveys the unique properties of the experience and provides dimensional understanding. This study collected data from three sources conducted in the following order: (a) semi-structured individual interviews; (b) written reflective prompts; and (c) a focus group. The following sections describe the data collection type and provide the reasons and rationale for each.

Individual Interviews

Creswell and Poth (2018) recommend the adoption of epoch, bracketing one's own feelings about a phenomenon as one begins research. Suspension of a researcher's preconceived notions and interpretations, concentrating solely on exploring an event as experienced by participants, is vital to objective research and is the essence of phenomenological reduction (Husserl, 1901). Whereas structural description allows for participant recollection of an event,

imaginative variation invites a less mechanical interpretation of an event or phenomenon (Turley et al., 2016). Questions and follow-up questions encouraged imaginative variation.

Guest et al. (2017) note that an extremely important factor in interview and focus group data collection is the degree to which participants are comfortable and identify with the interviewer. The individual interview was an effective way to gather information that contains precise details. This is echoed by Baillie (2019), suggesting that most individuals are comfortable discussing personal details of an experience during a one-on-one interview. An interviewer can better control the narrative during individual interviews. Baillie (2019) also raises the notion that a drawback to individual interviews is that some participants are less quick to disclose sensitive information in the absence of others with the same experience. This was remedied by including a focus group later in the study.

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) define an interview as the process of a researcher questioning individual participants and recording their replies. When direct observation of a phenomenon is neither possible nor practical an interview allows a researcher to reconstruct a phenomenon through accounts rendered by participants as they reply to questions (Taylor et al., 2019). In an interview setting data is collected by asking the participant questions. A semi-structured interview allows a researcher to begin with predetermined questions, but with the flexibility to follow up with questions specific to participants responses. All interview questions were approved by experts before being presented to participants. Following receipt of the signed consent form I provided each participant with a choice of dates and times for an individual interview. For this study, the individual interview was hosted on Microsoft Teams. In addition, Microsoft Teams transcription software ensured responses were accurately and securely recorded. In the event of a Microsoft Team software failure the individual interview was

transferred to a Facebook chat platform. Following two general get-to-know-you questions meant to make the participant feel at ease a projected five questions with follow-up were asked using a semi-structured interview format. The individual interview was estimated to last one hour. I closed by allowing participants the opportunity to add unsolicited thoughts. Conducting an individual semi-structured interview first enabled me to establish a relationship with the participants (Moustakas, 1994) before asking them later to respond independently to journal prompts or with others in focus groups.

Individual Interview Questions

- 1. Briefly describe your professional and educational background. CRQ
- 2. How do you define an overly active, distracted student in your classroom? CRQ
- 3. Why do you choose to initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for evaluation? SQ2
- 4. Which overly active, distracted students do you feel are most likely to benefit from inclassroom instructional modifications? SQ2
- 5. How might student demographics affect your decision to attempt in-classroom instructional modifications or to immediately refer them for evaluation? SQ1
- 6. Describe how personal and professional stress impacts your desire to try in-class instructional modifications before referring students for an evaluation. SQ1
- 7. What personal or professional experiences have most influenced your tendency to attempt in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation? SQ3

8. What recommendations would you suggest that would help more mainstream classroom teachers initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for their overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation? SQ3

The purpose of interview questions one and two was to establish a rapport with and learn about the participants (Baillie, 2019; Moustakas, 1994). Question three directly addressed the topic of research. Question four probed teachers' positive experiences and expectations with inclassroom instructional modifications (Taylor et al., 2019). Interview questions five and six explored negative influences that affect teachers' willingness to try in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for testing. Questions seven and eight invited participants to add information they felt was pertinent to the issue and possibly left unexamined (Moustakas, 1994). Minor changes to questions unaffecting interview substance were made following the initial interview.

Participant responses allowed me to measure the salience of questions. Salience is the measure of how often a topic is mentioned in response to open ended questions (Weller et al., 2018). The wording of each question clearly framed the context of information sought. Salience of responses helped determine the direction of later exploration incorporating reflective prompts and focus group questions.

Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

Analysis is the process of coding data, organizing themes, and begins the process of synthesis and interpretation. Individual interviews were digitally recorded and transcribed.

Before beginning any data analysis each participant was given the opportunity to review their personal transcript for accuracy (Creswell & Poth, 2018). DiCicco-Bloom and Crabtree (2006) suggest that transcripts can sometimes be transcribed incorrectly because mechanical voice to

text programs often misunderstand speech patterns. Consequently, it was a good idea to allow each participant to verify their own transcript for errors and accuracy. Following return of the transcripts I examined any edits, added memos as needed, and horizontalized significant verbiage and statements. Horizontalized coding identified individual contributions of data. This allowed me to organize clusters of themes, and eventually led to descriptions of what happened, and how it happened (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Finally, the overlapping invariant, the essence of the experience, began to emerge. To assist in triangulation, all interview transcriptions, notes, and horizontalizations were made in a color specifically assigned to individual interviews.

Coding cycles were recorded in chart form. The need to adjust questions became apparent as the study unfolded. Any adjustments did not alter the substance of the study.

Transcendental phenological study is inductive in nature and requires analysis that fleshes out experiential commonalities from which to identify an invariant essence (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The invariant essence is the common or unifying experience of all participants (Moustakas, 1994). Creswell and Poth (2018) suggest that steps for data analysis in a phenomenological study are not carved in stone and often evolve as the study proceeds. These interrelated steps, however, do follow a logical sequence. According to Creswell and Poth (2018), they are spiral in nature, repeating and refining data until resulting findings are revealed. Moustakas (1994) describes the process as columnar. According to Moustakas (1994) the initial step in phenological data analysis is *horizontalization*. Moustakas describes horizontalization as placing all data related to the phenomenon before the researcher, assigning equal value to every participant statement. Every initial statement is assigned equal value at this time. The second step involves assignment of *meaning* to the statements. Next the assigned meanings are *clustered* into what are called *themes*. At this point duplicate statements are removed. Moustakas (1994)

suggests it is from themes that *textural and structural descriptions* are extrapolated and the quintessence of the phenomenon is recognized.

Reflective Prompts

Creswell and Poth (2018) include journaling in their list of acceptable types of documents from which to collect research data. Reflective writing prompts, like journaling or solicited diaries can elicit more visceral, emotional, and complex participant thoughts than other data collection methods (Filep et al., 2017). Personal writing lacks the strict time constraints inherent in interviews and focus groups. The authors maintain that rigor designed to strengthen validity is as important in written prompts as it is from other data sources (Filep et al., 2017). Prompts should be narrowly phrased so written reflections address specific topics. Rigor and validity require that reply content be recorded as the writer intended (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The journal reflections consisted of four total prompts. The reflective prompts were e-mailed or texted to participants one week after the individual's semi-structured individual interview. Each prompt included the due date.

Reflective Prompt Questions

- 1. **First 2 prompts** (following individual interview)
 - a) What personal experiences have you had that influenced your feelings about modifying classroom instruction before referring overly active, distracted students for assessment? SQ3
 - b) What professional experiences, whether as a student teacher or professional, have influenced your propensity to modify in-classroom instruction for an overly active, distracted student before referring them for ADHD evaluation? SQ3
- 2. **Second two prompts** (following focus groups) –

- a) Why do you not immediately refer overly active, distracted students for ADHD evaluation? CRQ
- b) Why do you personally try in-classroom instructional modifications first for your overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation? CRQ

The first journal reflection asked two questions that investigated professional and personal influences on classroom practices (Adams, 2006; Bandura, 1986). The second reflection posed two questions inviting any data that might be unexpected or was overlooked (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Reflective prompts were adjusted for relevance based on data collected during individual interviews or focus groups. Adjustments did not alter the substance of the study but were necessary to prevent redundancy or to elicit additional data.

Reflective Prompt Data Analysis Plan

Epoch, bracketing one's own feelings about a phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018), was important to developing and analyzing the reflective prompts. Participant replies were examined as intended by the participant, not as interpreted by the researcher. The structure and content of written prompts explored events as experienced by the participants. This is the essence of phenomenological reduction (Husserl, 1901). Structural description allows for participant recollection of an event, and imaginative variation invites a less mechanical more creative and personal interpretation of the event or phenomenon (Turley et al., 2016).

Following the individual interview, written reflective prompts were provided to participants. Prompts were sent to and received from individual participants via email. In the unexpected instance of email failure, a text message was sent. Participants were asked to complete and return the prompts within one week. Because data from the reflective written prompts came directly from the participant, they were not returned to the participants for

clarification. Analysis of reflective prompts included coding data, organizing themes, and interpretation. I examined all the completed written reflections, added memos as needed, and horizontalize significant verbiage and statements. To assist in triangulation later, all notes and horizontalizations were made in a color specific to the reflective written prompt. From horizontalization coding themes emerged. Following horizontalized coding I organized clusters of themes describing what happened, and how it happened according to participants (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Finally, the overlapping invariant, the essence of the experience, began to emerge (Moustakas, 1994). Coding cycles were recorded in chart form. Coding data, organizing themes, and synthesis and interpretation of responses is the task of analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I was seeking the common or unifying experience of participants (Moustakas, 1994).

Focus Groups

As mentioned in the individual interview section, Guest et al. (2017) suggest that the most important factor in interview and focus group data collection is the degree to which participants identify or are comfortable with the interviewer. The focus group setting can encourage individual participants to disclose sensitive information of a more personal nature because they often feel more secure among others with the same experiences. Interviewer presence is less noticeable so interaction among participants often encourages deeper discussions (Baillie, 2019).

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) define a focus group as a collection of individuals gathered for the purpose of data collection. The composition of a focus group can be determined by its purpose (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Each focus group meeting was anticipated to include four to six participants and last approximately 30 to 60 minutes.

Moser and Korstjens (2018) suggest that a productive focus group will include

individuals who share similar characteristics or experiences and will contribute to investigation as their combined experiences allows for more in-depth topic exploration. For this study, I attempted to assign participants to a focus group based on similarity of responses to the interview questions and the reflective written prompts. Every participant would participate in one focus group. Two focus groups were anticipated. Focus groups encouraged participants to explore more deeply each other's experiences and continued the discussion of teacher reactions to overly active, distracted students in their mainstream classrooms. The suggested topics of exploration for each focus group were intentionally crafted so as not to repeat previously covered questions but followed up on prior interview and writing prompt findings (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

Focus groups were scheduled at times convenient to all participants. The Microsoft Teams platform was used. Microsoft Teams transcription software transferred sound recording to transcription. In the event of a Microsoft Team software failure the focus group conversation transferred to a Facebook chat platform. The necessity of adjustments to focus group questions became apparent as the study unfolded. Any adjustments did not alter the substance of the study.

With focus group research, Creswell and Poth (2018) recommend the adoption of epoch, bracketing one's own feelings about a phenomenon. I suspended preconceived notions and interpretations concentrating solely on exploring an event as experienced by participants (Husserl, 1901). Questioning that supports imaginative variation invites less mechanical interpretation of the event or phenomenon (Turley et al, 2016). Focus group questions and follow-up questions encouraged imaginative variation.

Focus Group Questions

As the atmosphere in a focus group often feels less formal than the other data collecting settings participants are often more willing to share their lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Participants in a focus group can feel more supported and less vulnerable. Therefore, I remained flexible with my line of questioning and with follow-up questions.

- 1. What are your concerns when you initially realize a child in your classroom is more distracted and significantly more active than his or her classmates? CRQ
- 2. What do you think a typically overly active, distracted student in your classroom is feeling? CRQ
- 3. When deciding between modifying your in-classroom instruction or immediately referring an overly active, distracted child for evaluation, what are your priorities? CRQ

Focus group questions were intended to isolate affective responses to overly active, distracted students in the classroom. They were intended to give relevance to the central research question by examining teacher feelings and their interpretations of student feelings. Focus group questions were subject to modification to meet research needs but changes did not alter the substance of the study.

Focus Group Data Analysis Plan

Each focus group participant was offered a transcribed copy of the focus group conversation for review and an opportunity to clarify their own contributions. Following return of the written transcripts from participants I examined the edited transcripts, added memos as needed, and horizontalized significant verbiage and statements. For confidentiality, Sim and Waterfield (2019) suggest each participant review only their own group's transcript for accuracy. Volunteers were informed that in a situation where participants might know one another, ingroup sharing could affect the confidentiality of focus group transcripts. In this study, participants were expected to be unknown to one another, and locations were not shared. All focus group data was recorded in one color specific to focus groups. This aided in triangulation

later. From horizontalization, coding, themes emerged allowing me to develop participant descriptions of events, and how they interpreted that event. Finally, an overlapping invariant, the essence of the experience, was identified (Moustakas, 1994). Coding cycles were recorded in chart form.

Data analysis aligned with the method proposed by Moustakas (1994) for use with a transcendental phenomenological study. The initial stage of analysis was horizontalization. At this stage all collected data was laid out and considered equal in importance. Next, each bit of horizontalized data was assigned meaning. From meaning units data was clustered by common meaning called *themes*. According to Moustakas (1994), it is from these clusters of meaning that the researcher will develop textural descriptions of the phenomenon. It was these textural descriptions that provided structure for the discovery of the essence of the phenomenon. Rather than a columnar form, Creswell and Poth (2018) describe the shape of data analysis as a spiral. They suggest a spiral infers that each layer of analysis is dependent upon both prior and subsequent layers. Though the number of steps and vocabulary differ slightly, both Moustakas (1994) and Creswell and Poth (2018) begin analysis by scrutinizing original data and then systematically regrouping the data into meaningful units from which to construct the essence of the phenomenon.

Data Synthesis

The result of a study, the invariant essence, is the common or unifying experience of participants (Moustakas, 1994). Coding data, organizing themes, and interpretation of responses is the task of analysis. From this analysis the invariant structure of the phenomenon will emerge. Creswell and Poth (2018) use the illustration of a spiral to describe qualitative data analysis, circling steadily through an overlapping shrinking sequence from general data down to invariant

themes. Phenomenological research approaches data analysis through systematic steps and guidelines. Regardless of the source of data, the process of assay follows the same general steps. This transcendental phenomenological study required bracketing of the researcher, also called epoch (Moustakas, 1994). Bracketing called for me to remove myself from the study. I was not an interpreter nor part of the study but instead objectively collected and organized data. Data analysis begins with horizontalization, where data is examined for significance and repetition (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The authors go on to note that significant statements are grouped into clusters of meaning and eventually themes. From these themes structural and textural descriptions of participants' experiences, what happened and how, are formulated into the essence of the experience, the invariant. The invariant is defined as that which is constant and does not change (Merriam-Webster, 2022).

The same individuals participated in each method of data collection, so all data received equal weight (Carter et al., 2014). Charts displaying clusters and themes amassed from data gathered through interviews, written prompts, and focus groups, were revisited for convergence, similarity, redundancy, and disparity. Recurring themes among the three sources of data - interviews, focus groups, and reflective prompts - were summarized and tabulated. It is important to maintain the intended meaning of the data source as reflective of the phenomenon (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019). The first round of analysis of each individual document was coded and reviewed for similarities or inadvertent redundancy. Relationships among sources of data including both similarities and outliers must be reflected as synthesis is conducted. Data displays and cross-classified matrices allow for comparisons and the emergence of the essential invariants (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019).

In addition to testing the validity of research findings, triangulation is another tool that assists in understanding the data (Carter et al., 2014). Creswell and Miller (2020) describe triangulation as a systematic process of data convergence. Through triangulation, I corroborated data gathered from several different sources. Following analysis of interviews, written prompts, and focus groups, data was analyzed and synthesized seeking to answer the larger research questions. According to Carter et al. (2014), this use of data gathered using different methods called is method triangulation. The authors submit that using several methods of data collection allows for the discovery of information that may have been overlooked by a researcher using just one method.

Using triangulation, data and themes from each collection method was recorded and then evaluated against the results of each of the other methods. An additional check for validity is called disconfirming evidence (Creswell & Miller, 2020). During this process, I examined the totality of data and themes for evidence of conflict or inconsistency. The authors note that the search for disconfirming evidence is contrary to the search for data that supports themes, but its use as a tool contributes to validity of results. Creswell and Miller (2020) suggest disconfirming evidence supports the validity of final findings because real life is complex and imperfect.

All steps of data analysis and synthesis followed a clearly defined plan of action and a transparent audit trail provided me a point of reference, minimized bias, reduced uncertainties, and avoided duplication (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This contributed to trustworthiness. As recommended by Moustakas' (1994), synthesis consisted of horizontalization of initial data, followed by clustering, identification of themes, and finally a description of structures and textures. All steps were thoroughly documented.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is defined as the degree of confidence in a study (Connelly, 2016). To establish trust in methods and results a qualitative researcher must effectively and transparently collect and manage data (White et al., 2012). It was suggested by Guba (1981) that naturalistic inquiry, which includes phenomenological study, follows systematic procedures to increase the trustworthiness of studies. Guba (1981) recommended naturalistic studies address four aspects of trustworthiness: (a) credibility; (b) transferability; (c) dependability; and (d) confirmability. While collecting and analyzing data to answer research questions all four aspects of trustworthiness were incorporated into this study.

Credibility

Credibility is the degree to which the researcher accurately reflects the experience, or phenomenon, as described and understood by participants (Cutcliffe & McKenna, 2001). As oral and written contributions of participants are gathered and analyzed credibility is established through documentation that reflects sensitivity and demonstratable understanding of participant intent (van Manen, 1984). The readers have confidence that what is reported in fact reflects the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who routinely initiate in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for assessment. To ensure written results were credible, and that I correctly interpreted communication from participants the following techniques were used: (a) I personally interacted with participants individually and in groups; (b) I provided opportunities for participants to check written interview and focus group transcripts for accuracy and clarification; and (c) there was both triangulation and disconfirmation of data.

Transferability

Tracy (2010) compares transferability to generalizability. Are the findings of a study applicable in other situations? For qualitative research transferability can be compared to quantitative external validity. To enhance transferability, IRB guidelines were strictly adhered to beginning with the IRB application process. The final judgement of the transferability of a study rests with the reader (Tracy, 2010). This research included thorough thick, and rich descriptions of methods and findings that informed readers of possible applicability or pertinence to other studies.

Dependability

The degree to which a study can be replicated in its entirety, resulting in the same findings each time, is a measure of its dependability (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). According to Korstjens and Moser (2018), dependability can be addressed by allowing participants to evaluate findings, recommendations, and interpretations based on participant provided data. Following each individual interview, a written transcript of the conversation was emailed to the participant. This gave the participant the opportunity to review the written transcript for perceived errors or needed clarifications to ensure the record accurately reflected the experience of the participant. Each focus group participant was emailed a transcribed copy of their groups' conversation and asked to evaluate that it accurately reflected their own words and lived experience. In addition, I maintained a clear detailed audit trail throughout the study. At Liberty University, dependability was addressed via an inquiry audit by the Qualitative Research Director and dissertation committee.

Confirmability

Dependability addresses consistency, and confirmability addresses neutrality (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Neutrality requires findings and results that are not swayed by the researchers'

opinions, prejudices, or preferences. As with dependability, confirmability can be addressed with a thorough and transparent audit trail. An audit trail detailed each step taken throughout the entirety of this study. This helps to demonstrate that findings were driven by data not opinion (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This study informed confirmability using participant reviewed transcripts and detailed audit trails.

Ethical Considerations

Creswell and Poth (2018) emphasize that ethical considerations include all potential issues that the researcher can anticipate. In addition, issues of ethics can arise at any time during the research process. Ethical considerations in this study began with Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (see Appendix A). No site approval was necessary as the study was on-line, soliciting participants through Facebook, personal, and snowball recommendations. Care was taken that there was no semblance of power dynamics. Participant volunteers were presented with both a consent form (see Appendix B) and a prospectus of study details listing the voluntary nature of their participation, details of researcher-participant interactions, confidentiality, anonymity, security of data, and purpose of the study. Risks and benefits of the study to the participant and to the educational community were also addressed. Confidentiality remained paramount throughout the study as it encourages accurate and thorough contributions from participants. Participants were aware of the study's purpose, their own voluntary status, and their freedom to withdraw at any time. Creswell and Poth (2018) also suggest a researcher should display sensitivity to participants differences, therefore formal consent of participants was collected (see Appendix B). They also suggest that while collecting data the researcher build trust with participants, inform participants of the purpose of the study,

maintain participant privacy, remain neutral, and keep data safe. Participants were able to review written transcripts of their own conversations before data was recorded by the researcher.

Data and all identifying paperwork were secured on password protected hardware locked away from public access. When analyzing data, I included data from several sources and included conflicting data. Names and locations used in the study were given fictitious pseudonyms. Also, in accordance with Creswell and Poth (2018), to ethically report data I was honest, kept language appropriate for the audience, and incorporated accurate composite stories.

Summary

Chapter Three addressed the framework of the study, the bones that provided its shape. Rossman and Rallis (2017) remind the reader that it is not possible to examine all aspects of any given topic. A study requires a researcher to narrow down what is to be examined and how it is to be accomplished. Circling back to the beginning of this chapter, Rossman and Rallis (2017) suggest that it is the structural framework that keeps the qualitative study consistently within its stated boundaries, topic, questions, and ensuing procedures and methods.

The chapter began by explaining why a transcendental phenomenological approach was most applicable for this study. Following the research questions were descriptions of the research setting and participants. Researcher positionality presented my role in the study, my values, beliefs, and views (Holmes, 2020). Social learning and self-efficacy theories explored teachers' lived experiences (Adams, 2006; Bandura, 1986). The procedure section addressed permissions and recruitment of participants. Data collection explained individual interviews, writing prompts, and focus group facilitation. All three collection methods, analysis, triangulation, and synthesis were described in the data synthesis section. The chapter three conclusion examined trustworthiness and the quality of qualitative research which was defined by credibility,

transferability, confirmability, and ethical considerations (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; O'Kane et al., 2019).

Qualitative research seeks to understand why and how individuals behave the way they do (Sutton & Austin, 2015). According to the authors, unlike quantitative research, it is not the intention of qualitative research to generalize beyond its own participants or sources of data. Consequently, the sources and results of qualitative data collection allow for rich descriptions reflecting the experiences of participants. Creswell and Guetterman (2019) mention steps required of all ethical research: (a) data is never falsified; (b) participants have access to reports; (c) data is provided in its' entirety; (d) plagiarism is avoided; (e) conflicts of interest are disclosed; and (f) authorship is clearly defined.

"How far that little candle throws his beams" (Shakespeare, 1596/2022, Act V Scene 1). If a reader concludes that trust cannot be placed in any one of the methods or results reported in a study, it is rendered effectively meaningless. Each step of this study was presented with transparency and sufficient detail to instill confidence in the reader. Guba (1981) suggests four foundations on which trustworthiness can be built: (a) transferability; (b) confirmability; (c) dependability; and (d) credibility. This study included ethical considerations as a seminal foundation. Like Shakespeare's candlelight, integrity and transparency in all reporting supported the trustworthiness of this study.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream classroom teachers to initially modify inclassroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. Social learning theory (Bandura, 1977) is the lens through which this study was examined. Tables and narratives identify and describe the participants and explain their positions within the study. Using induction, data is organized and synthesized into the essential themes and sub-themes. Chapter four concludes by answering the research question and sub-questions. Tables detailing participant contributions are included throughout.

Participants

Table 1
Teacher Participants

Teacher Participant	Years Taught	Highest Degree Earned	School Type	Grades Taught
Anne	16	Education Specialist	Public	2 - 3
Adelle	8	Bachelor's	Private Secular	K - 5
Beth	25	Master's	Public	K - 5
Chris	38	Master's	Private Christian	1 - 5
			& Public	
Deb	20	Master's	Private Christian	Pk – K & 2
Fran	23	Education Specialist	Private Christian	1 - 5
			& Public	
Gwen	23	Bachelor's	Private Secular	K - 2
			& Christian	
Lori	6	Bachelor's	Public	K - 2
Meg	15	Master's	Public	3 - 4
Pam	16	Education Specialist	Public	K - 2

Participants were a combination of ten current, former, or retired teachers who had spent a minimum of four years teaching in a mainstream K-6 classroom. The most crucial criterion to be accepted as a volunteer was acknowledgement that they preferred to modify their instruction for overly active, distracted students before referring them for any type of formal assessment. All willingly joined the study and met all of the participation criteria. Two participants were solicited

through a private Facebook group, three teachers volunteered to participate after teaching associates told them about the study, and five were referred by those three volunteers. They all resided within the United States; one in Florida, one in Pennsylvania, and the remainder in different cities in the state of Georgia. They were all Caucasian and females, and ages ranged from 30 to 68. Two of the ten were recently retired. One was currently a full time K-3 reading consultant working in a public school system. One split her time between administrative duties and mainstream classroom teaching. Two were currently teaching gifted students. And four were currently teaching in mainstream classrooms. All teachers had spent a minimum of four years teaching mainstream classroom students in grades K-6. See Table 1 for participant professional descriptors.

In this section narratives and tables familiarize the reader with the participants. Their specific lived experiences varied, but without exception, each person held the belief that mainstream classroom teachers should modify or adjust instruct for overly active, distracted children to afford them every opportunity to succeed before steps are taken toward a formal referral for assessment. Using their own words, participants described overly active, distracted children using much the same verbiage, as shown in Table 2.

Table 2
Overly Active, Distracted Student Descriptors

Participant	Description of Overly Active, Distracted Students		
Adelle	"a lot of fidgeting and wiggling - pen clicking - unable to stay in their seat"		
Anne	"makes poor choices – play in their desk – short attention span"		
Beth	"disturbing others probably making noises - can't control impulsive behavior"		
Chris	"difficulty attending - wound up inside like a motor is activating them"		
Deb	"struggle to sit still - struggle to attend - weren't as engaged - overly explorative"		
Fran	"can't stay in their seat - I say their name several times - constantly redirect"		
Gwen	"they're all over the place - easily frustrated - not participating with classmates"		
Lori	"struggle to sit still - doodle all day - struggle to stay engaged"		
Meg	"tapping - unable to stay in their seat - lack of impulse control - always running"		
Pam	"talks a lot - less focused - more energy - hard time with body control"		

Meg

Meg is currently a public-school elementary teacher. She is perusing an Ed.D. in educational leadership. Her experience as a parent is instrumental in how she approaches children in her classroom. In her interview she shared, "My middle child has all the symptoms of having ADHD. We really wanted to not medicate her. Your first instinct is to teach her strategies and mechanisms to cope". In addition, professionally she feels that some overly

active, distracted behavior of students is a result of prior teachers' negligence or unstructured classrooms. Meg suggested that through no fault of their own some students "just don't know how to behave because they've never been in a really structured environment."

Gwen

Gwen is currently a secular private school kindergarten teacher. Gwen's school caps kindergarten class size at 12 students. As a youngster, Gwen's own overly active child often suffered at the hands of classroom teachers. Gwen shared during her interview, "I remember some teachers that would lift my child up. I also remember that my child would come home and cry because of some teachers, every day...every day!" As a teacher Gwen's empathy for overly active, distracted students is tempered with professional expectations, her own, and school administrators. My job is to teach every child in my room." She stresses the difference between her school and public schools. "This isn't a public school where the masses come. Our families are clients, and expectations for children here are higher."

Lori

Lori is a public-school 5th grade math and science teacher. Lori herself was that overly active, distracted child growing up. During her interview she said,

I was one of those goofy, can't sit still types. Teachers made accommodations for me. It's kind of a pay it forward thing. Like I would rather do everything I can to make school enjoyable for you rather than force you to go through an evaluation, or be on medication, which I don't personally believe in.

In Lori's words, "I'm a boy mom, and boys sometimes have different learning needs." Lori shared that she does tend to "look out for the wiggly boys in class." It is her observation that

"boys are often referred for testing more frequently than girls, for behavior that should be addressed in the mainstream classroom."

Anne

Anne is a retired public-school teacher. Anne was also that wiggly child in class. But unlike Lori, her personal experience in the classroom was not encouraging or uplifting. During her interview Anne remembered, "I had trauma in my life at that (*elementary school*) age. I always thought I was stupid...never thought I was smart enough." Anne prefers to assist overly active, distracted students herself as evaluation tools are onerous and "more trouble than what I was actually implementing in my own classroom." Anne graduated from college as an older individual. She suggests "being an older woman gives me a bigger toolbox (*to meet student needs*) than young teachers right out of college."

Pam

Pam is currently a K-2nd grade reading specialist in public school and consults with mainstream teachers when requested. She is currently perusing an Ed.D. At one time she found herself alone in a kindergarten containing more than 20 students, two of whom were extremely active and distracted children. In addition, Pam had no assistant teacher and was denied any type of support when she reached out to her school leaders for help. She shared during her interview, "I will try, and I will always give the best that I can for my kids....yea, that was hard." She notes, "There is no such thing as a true teacher manual. Teaching is an art as much as a science." Her belief is "Do what's best for each child."

Chris

Chris currently teaches gifted children in public school. Many of Chris' students come to her from impoverished homes and neighborhoods. In her interview she shared, "Getting to know what's going on with kids behind the scenes...we have to know what these kids are living with." She has experienced first-hand that there are many factors affecting classroom behavior. Chris also shared that regardless of her personal beliefs, her school requires compliance with Response to Intervention (RTI). "I'm expected to go through a litany of procedures. I'm expected to do that because our district adopted the RTI." Her school adopted the inclusion model over ten years ago, consequently, a special-ed teaching partner is usually in her classroom. The addition of that extra teacher allows her to be more sensitive and supportive to overly active, distracted students.

Fran

Fran is currently an education specialist teaching gifted students in public school. For Fran, holding off a referral for an overly active, distracted child is more pragmatic. During her interview she remembered,

If you go through the whole process (of a formal assessment) and then they don't meet certain things, then they're done with them. If they're not eventually identified as something, ADD, ADHD, other health impaired, then if they don't fit whatever their parameters are, it's like you're done and you're back to square one.

She is also a parent to a child that she describes as "different." She shared that it gives her a different outlook on other children as a whole. Fran also team teaches gifted children, so she always has support when there's a "different" child in the classroom.

Deb

Deb currently works in a private Christian school. Her time is split between teaching second grade and administrative responsibilities. In addition to classroom duties, she is responsible for teacher development at her school. During her interview she noted her attitude toward overly active, distracted students, "Address the whole child, always. Why wouldn't we

modify?" She believes modifying how you teach can be the difference between a person finishing high school or dropping out. Deb's beliefs stem from her strong Christian values. "I feel like everyone is created the way they're supposed to be. I don't think of it as a negative. If you learn differently, I think that it's on purpose." For Deb, the minimum goal of education is producing a person who "can finish high school, get a job, and take care of their family" Deb wants teachers to remember the long-term goal.

Beth

Beth is a retired public-school teacher. In her interview Beth remembered reading a book about "a teacher working with a special ed child." She shared, "No one else was able to get to that child." She also has strong memories of her experience with a handicapped child that she used to babysit. That profoundly influenced her thoughts about children in the classroom. For Beth, working with overly active, distracted students is like "solving a puzzle." "It's kind of detective work...figuring out what a child needs to succeed," she noted. She loves prescriptive teaching.

Adelle

Adelle teaches in a secular private school. During her interview she shared that at one time she worked in a pediatric office. She saw first-hand the challenges many parents encountered trying desperately to help their wiggly, distracted children. "We had parents who tried really hard to keep their children off medication. Just seeing all the things they did in order to make things work (*for their child*)." For Adelle, how a teacher helps a child in class "gives them tools to use later in life." To her, a teacher teaches children how to help themselves in the future.

Results

Three themes emerged as data was analyzed and synthesized: Self-agency, School

Leadership, and Parents. To arrive at these themes three methods of data collection were used: an individual interview, four written reflections, and a focus group. To mitigate the subjectivity of data inherent in a qualitative study, and to increase validity of results, triangulation was employed. Codes, sub-themes, and themes were determined for each of the three collection methods. Triangulation, findings that were confirmed by the other two collection methods, suggested validity. There were no outliers identified.

Table 4
Themes, Sub-themes, and Codes

Themes	Sub-themes	Codes
Theme 1 Self- Agency	Motivation	Self -Driven Career Goals Professionalism Personal Ethos
	Influential Experiences	Self- Experiences Family Experiences Other Experiences Successful Students
Theme 2 School Leadership	Unhelpful	Lack of Administrative Suppor Lack of Training Inadequate Staffing
	Supportive	Clear Policies Accessible Relevant Training Adequate Staffing
Theme 3 Parents	Subversive Parents	Undermine Teacher Disinterested
	Supportive Parents	Consistency Between Home an School Reinforce Teacher Support Teacher Authority

Theme 1 – Self-Agency

The first of the three themes identified is Self-agency. The findings in this study suggest Self-agency combines motivation and first-hand experiences. The self-expectation to proactively adjust their instruction for overly active, distracted children was well articulated by Chris during

her interview, "It's my training but it's also my nature. I'm going to try to handle it myself."

During the individual interviews all 10 of these teachers suggested that they were motivated to adjust instruction for the overly active, distracted students absent any school mandates or parental support.

Sub-Theme 1 – Motivation

For this group of participants, personal values, professional work ethic, and self-efficacy strongly influence their classroom practices. Taken separately, any of those findings could be motivating. Together they suggest an individual who feels both a duty to act and capacity for action. In their personal interviews or written reflections, six of 10 participants cited spiritual or personal beliefs as a motivating factor in their classroom practices. Deb's spiritual beliefs, shared in her written reflection, reflect her belief about the intrinsic worth of each child, "If you learn differently, I think that's the way God made you. So, I try to intervene myself." In her written reflection Pam echoed those feelings,

The traits these children have are not by accident. It's part of who they were designed and created to be. Providing for them I am serving my God who put each of these students in my care.

Work ethic was another motivating finding. In her interview Gwen shared that she is motivated by the pride she feels from a job well done. "It's my job. I have a responsibility to the school, parents, and the kids to earn their respect." And in her written reflections Chris also wrote about her professional motivation, "I believe there are many types of giftedness and that we all have unique strengths. I am the adult in charge of the atmosphere of acceptance in my classroom.".

The motivating finding of self-efficacy is illustrated in Fran's written reflection, "I always want to see improvements in student learning. I am always looking for 'lightbulb moments' for struggling students". Meg too shared in her written reflection, "It is important for me to understand these students' behavior. I am always developing a bank of instructional resources that will support these students." In their own words, participants suggested that strong work ethic, personal principles that recognize the value of all people, and self-efficacy moderate the motivation of mainstream teachers who prefer to modify their instruction for their overly active, distracted students.

Sub-Theme 2 – Influential Experiences

Teachers' own first-hand experiences with wiggly, distracted individuals are foundational components of their motivation. Personal first-hand experience was common for seven of 10 participants (Table 3). Fran summed up her personal early experience during her interview,

I have a whole different outlook on those (*overly active*, *distracted*) students who can't memorize even one word a week because my second born is different. She helped me with my empathy for struggling students and their parents.

Also shared during her interview, Lori said that she was herself a wiggly, distracted student, "I was one of those goofy, can't sit still types, and teachers made accommodations for me. I try to pay it forward."

Two of 10 participants shared influential professional first-hand experiences with overly active, distracted children that affected how they later interacted with these children in their classrooms. In her interview Fran shared,

There was a little African American fellow who just wouldn't sit still or pay attention. I thought both he and his mom disliked me because I was White. And

she never cared enough to come to a parent meeting. Finally, she came to one. I let her talk and she revealed she was a single mother who was diagnosed with stage four cancer... Yea, that popped into my mind.

Deb recalled an influential experience that happened during her first year of teaching. She shared during her interview, "I had a couple of really challenging kindergarten students my first year. They weren't just wiggly. They had lots of life for being so young. Lots of life. They graduated high school last year and are headed to college with big dreams." She continued, "Along the way I have found that accommodations and accountability make all the difference for these wiggly kids." First-hand experience with overly active, distracted is a common experience among participants. Eight of 10 teachers explicitly said first-hand experiences with other overly active, distracted individuals influenced their desire to help these children themselves.

Theme 2 - School Leadership

Participant experiences of unsupportive and supportive leadership is described in the subthemes. In their written reflections, eight of eight participants noted that the search for assistance intensifies when facing a difficult classroom situation. During her interview Pam recounted finding herself in one of these tough circumstances with an overly active, distracted student " I remember asking for help from my principal; telling him I want to do right by this child. I didn't have enough time or enough hands. I was told there wasn't any help."

All of the participants try to support overly active, distracted students in their classroom, regardless of the support provided by school leaders. These mainstream teachers welcome guidance and support from their school leaders as they work to meet the needs of overly active, distracted students in their classrooms. Unfortunately, five of 10 teachers have no policy

directives from their schools (Table 4). And seven of 10 participants suggested in their written reflections that they are not offered opportunities for professional training to address the learning needs of overly active, distracted students.

Sub-theme 1 – Unsupportive School Leadership

It is unfortunate that many schools do not provide policy or training opportunities for teachers with overly active, distracted students. Meg wrote in her written reflection,

My school has not provided me with any training, resources, or physical material that would prepare me or help me implement any instructional modifications or accommodations in my classroom. I am solely responsible, which is quite frustrating.

And in her written reflection Gwen shared that her school offers no training or guidance. "My school provides no in-service days to focus on working with wiggly, distracted students. If I want to attend a class they might help financially, but that's it." In Pam's written reflection she related,

We are required to use the MTSS system...They have provided little training...My school has not provided any formal professional development for that...I turn to colleagues who are gifted working with these kids. It's how I pick up skills and strategies.

And Chris shared in her written reflection that her school mandates teachers follow RTI but at the same time "focus very little on training and implementation." Later she wrote,

My peers are often baffled by the fact that, while the district expects them to regularly monitor these students (*RTI*), they have never provided the tools to do

so. Sometimes a good teacher will document faithfully for an entire year only to find the instruments they used are not accepted in the program.

Sub-theme 2 – Supportive School Leadership

According to Table 3, five of 10 participants note that their school leaders require compliance with specific policy regarding overly active, distracted students. But according to participant input from interviews and written reflections, only three of 10 teachers feel supported by leadership to carry out these mandates. One of those three is just recently. Supportive schools provide direction and support for teachers through policy or mandate, professional training opportunities, adequate staffing, and ample time needed for duties.

Deb's work time is split between teaching second grade and directing teacher development at her school. Her school has, up until last year, provided no help to teachers working with overly active, distracted students. With the addition of her new administrative responsibilities, her school is taking steps to develop teachers to more effectivity meet the needs all students, including those of overly active, distracted students. In her individual interview she shared, "I am the one leading the charge here to help teachers provide accommodations and teaching modifications to support all students." From her written reflection Beth wrote, "At our school we are instructed on RTI procedure annually, and we are provided resources for accommodating instruction." And in her written reflection Fran shared,

Our district has provided mandatory online tutorials for professional development. Additionally, our faculty attends IB conferences to enhance our knowledge of best practices. Our district has PBIS committees that visit the school to assess the implementation of PBIS. As a result, modifications to in-class instruction can be done to foster student success.

Theme 3 - Parents

The third theme is Parents. During the focus group eight of eight teachers suggested support from parents is a strong factor in student success in the classroom. Beth put it succinctly in her written reflection, "Trust between the school and the family must be built to be successful in meeting the needs of the student." And in her interview Meg stated, "Parental support plays a part in whether classroom modifications work."

Sub-theme 1 – Unsupportive Parents

Tremendous damage can be done to the teacher-student relationship by unsupportive parents. This damage can result in a student who is unwilling to cooperate in their own learning. Gwen's experience with parents has resulted in strong feelings on this topic. She shared in her individual interview,

When there's no support by the parent there can be drastic consequences to the student. I had a student who at home was told he was a prodigy, and that the teachers don't know what they're talking about. The student offered no cooperation in class. He failed on every level. You have to have parent support.

Chris noted in her interview,

Sometimes I go nine months trying to help a student that I don't seem to be reaching. I know that child goes home and hears parents say bad thing about me. It's a testament to the human spirit that they even come back to school and trust me.

In her interview Lori mentioned, "Sometimes I have a parent that's pushing for it (*ADHD* assessment) so that's when I really keep an eye out."

Sub-theme 2 – Supportive Parents

Parents who are supportive of teachers' efforts can provide struggling students with continuity of expectations and assistance needed for their success. Anne shared her approach to building parental support. "Parents of wiggly, distracted children already know how their child is. For me great relationships begin when I send home notes praising their child early in the school year. They never expected praise reports." In the focus group Emily shared, "For me, any parent who supports me, who reinforces consistency with the child between home and school, is the greatest ally I can have."

Pam shared during her interview that she has no problem reaching out to parents because they can make a difference for a child. She related,

I remember contacting a parent and saying we need to fight because your child can be successful in my classroom. He reads better than 3/4 of my class. He's happy and thriving. School administration just didn't want to provide support or put a person in there to support him.

In the focus group Chris discussed her relationship with the parent of one former overly active, distracted student,

The family of a former wiggly, distracted student still considers me a friend. It is because out of concern for his falling grades I offered to tutor him (at no charge) the year after I was his homeroom teacher.

Research Question Responses

Table 5
Alignment Between Themes and Research Ouestions

Theme	Sub-theme	Research Question	
Self-Agency		CQ	
	Professional Motivation	SQ2, SQ3	
	Personal Experiences	SQ2, SQ3	
School Leadership		CQ	
	Lack of Support	SQ1	
	Supportive	SQ2	
Parents		CQ	
	Subversive Parents	SQ1	
	Supportive Parents	SQ2	

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who initiate inclassroom instructional modifications to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation? The answer to the central research question required a synthesis of the three themes: Self-agency, School Leadership, and Parents. According to the participants, life experiences both negative and positive, personal, and professional, contributed to their preferences to make in-classroom instructional adjustments for overly active, distracted students. This was reflected beautifully by Adelle. "If you don't acknowledge that your whole job is to get the child to learn, if you're unwilling to learn yourself, and make

changes in order for your goals to be accomplished...there's no reason for you to be there." The sentiment was continued by Gwen. "No child wants to be labeled. No child wants to be told they aren't capable. By not modifying the overly active child's environment they are just telling the kild they're not good enough. To me, when a kild gets labeled, it's all over."

Sub-Question One

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers have inhibited initially implementing in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students? The answer to sub-question one draws from a synthesis of themes two and three: lack of School Leadership support and negative interaction with Parents. Participants responses indicated that a lack of professional training can inhibit their ability to respond appropriately to a student. Lack of parental support also has detrimental effects on the teacher-student relationship. From Gwen's experience, "Instructional modifications done wrong can make a kid not even want to come to school...and also when there's no parental support there can be drastic consequences for the child."

Sub-Question Two

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers forged their use of in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation? The answer to sub-question two integrates themes one, two, and three: Self-agency, School Leadership, and Parents. Teachers' responses reflected combinations of professional and personal experiences, and school leadership and parental experiences. Anne's professional values are reflected in her words, "Teachers have a job to do. If you don't want to do it, you're in the wrong profession." Chris explained why it was necessary for her to take control of instructing the wiggly children in her class, "My peers and I are often baffled that the

district expects us to carry out their policies without providing any of the tools to do so." And Pam explained the importance of parental support, "Parents are the experts on children because they know them best. When we can communicate openly and regularly the student benefits...we celebrate successes together."

Sub-Question Three

What lived experiences beyond the classroom have influenced mainstream teachers who implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for an ADHD evaluation? Self-Agency is the essence of theme one, and it answers subquestion three. The participants voiced that their own personal motivations stemmed from professional and personal values, and personal experiences. Fran shared from personal experience. "There might be kids along the way that impacted how I work with struggling kids, but the one that impacted me the most was my own kid." The value of professionalism is reflected in Lori's comment, "There's no such thing as a student who can't learn, who doesn't benefit from some kind of instructional adjustment. Whether it's a wiggle chair, an exercise ball, a standing desk, or just space to pace back and forth, there's no student who won't benefit from some sort of modification...period."

Table 3 illustrates the lived experiences of participants that influenced their attitudes toward attempting to assist overly active, distracted students in their own mainstream classrooms. Responses fell into five categories: personal experiences, classroom experiences, professional values, personal values, and school policy. Every participant had more than one influence.

Table 3
Experiences That Shaped Teacher Attitudes About Overly Active, Distracted Students

Teacher	Personal Experience	Classroom Experience	Work Ethic	Personal Values	School Policy
Adelle	X		X		
Anne	X		X	X	X
Beth			X		X
Chris		X	X		X
Deb			X	X	
Fran	X		X		X
Gwen	X		X	X	
Lori	X		X	X	
Meg	X		X	X	
Pam	X	X	X	X	X

Summary

Chapter four presented the results of this study, the exploration of lived experiences of mainstream teachers who prefer to modify their classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overactive, distracted students before they recommend them for a formal assessment. The participants welcomed exploration of their lived experiences, and the in vivo data collected was unambiguous and detailed. Analysis of this data resulted in three themes: Self-Agency, School Leadership, and Parents. The theme of Self -Agency was defined by first-hand experiences, professional and personal values, and self-efficacy. The theme of School Leadership culminated from participant experiences of strong and poor school administrative practices. These examples

included classroom support, professional training, policies, and adequate staffing. The third theme was Parents. This was informed by participant recollections of positive and negative parent interactions. The three themes rejoin the central research question and inform the subquestions. The findings of this study suggest that themes of Self-Agency, School Leadership, and Parents strongly influence mainstream teachers who prefer to modify their classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overactive distracted students before they recommend them for a formal assessment.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream elementary teachers to initially modify inclassroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. Gascon et al. (2022), Greenway and Edwards (2020), and Owens (2020) concur that there is a need for qualitative research examining mainstream classroom teachers who prefer to address the needs of overly active, distracted students in their own classrooms. The study is examined through the lens of Bandura's (1977, 1986) social learning theory and self-efficacy theory. This chapter begins with a general discussion about the study followed by a summary of thematic findings. The summary includes both empirical and theoretical discussions as well as implications for theory, empirical research, and practice. Next, limitations and delimitations describe the parameters that constrain this study, followed by two recommendations for future research. The chapter concludes with a summary.

Discussion

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream elementary teachers to initially modify inclassroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. Qualitative studies exploring this topic are limited. Gascon et al. (2022), Greenway and Edwards (2020), and Owens (2020) suggest the need for qualitative research examining mainstream classroom teachers with overly active, distracted students. Social learning theory suggests people learn how to think and how to behave from others (Bandura, 1977), and is the lens through which the study was examined. This phenomenological study

examined the lived experiences of ten mainstream classroom teachers relayed through their own words. Data collected were the recollections of those lived experiences as recounted by the participants. The answers to four research questions were sought through individual interviews, written reflections, and a focus group. A set of codes and sub-themes emerged following analysis and synthesis of participant contributions. Further scrutiny of the findings suggested three themes: Self-Agency, School Leadership, and Parents. These findings confirm and extend previous studies noted in the literature review. Overly active, distracted students benefit when mainstream classroom teachers create supportive learning opportunities, school leaders provide critical professional support for their teachers, and parents reinforce teachers' efforts.

Summary of Thematic Findings

The thematic findings of this study were sufficient to answer the four research questions. As discussed in Chapter Four, a synthesis of data resulted in three essential themes: Self-Agency, School Leadership, and Parents. Self-Agency suggests that first-hand experiences, personal values, work ethic, and self-efficacy have a significant impact on the willingness of teachers to work outside their comfort zones to address the needs of individual students. The theme of School Leadership conveys how school leaders impact teachers by making available professional development, classroom support, policies, and adequate staffing. The third theme is Parents. Both supportive and subversive parents can influence the willingness of teachers to modify their instruction for a student. These themes satisfactorily addressed the research questions.

Implications for Practice

Productive implications for practice were suggested by participants during the individual interviews. All 10 teachers unequivocally voiced the importance of their work ethic. Findings of the study suggested work ethic is an important sub-theme of Self-agency. Self-agency both girds

and provides the foundation for mainstream teachers who prefer to modify their in-class instruction for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD assessment. Self-agency is clearly a critical attribute for the teachers of these students. Self-agency develops in part through experience, and both the teacher and school leadership bear responsibility for its development and reinforcement. School leaders are uniquely positioned to support the development of self-agency of all teachers, especially teachers struggling to assist overly active, distracted students. Providing recognition of effective teaching and facilitating a broad range of support that includes professional continuing education and mentorship opportunities would contribute to increased success in mainstream classrooms.

The teachers in this study were all receptive to useful information that would make their teaching more effective. School leaders who provide appropriate learning opportunities can minimize teachers hunting for classroom solutions that don't support best practices. It is imperative that school leaders offer on-going professional education to all classroom teachers. All students will benefit when even the least skilled and least motivated teachers become acquainted with techniques that better meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students.

Eight of 10 participants in this study related their own first-hand experiences with overly active, distracted individuals. First-hand experiences often mitigate erroneous preconceived beliefs. First-hand experiences, provided by school leaders, often change teachers' expectations of students with whom they have previously lacked personal interactions. Opportunities for teachers to be mentored by successful effective peers can bolster understanding by providing these teachers examples of successful interactions with overly active, distracted students.

Study participants want School Leadership to be active and competent. Effective school leaders make sure teachers are well supported so they can carry out their jobs. To serve the needs

of overly active, distracted students, classrooms must be adequately staffed with reasonable teacher to student rations. Teachers must be provided with sufficient instructional and planning time. They need access to continuing professional development that helps them do their jobs. And they need the materials and classroom furnishings that will help their overly active, distracted students succeed.

Teachers in this study also shared their own experiences with building relationships with Parents. Although not always critical to student success, parental support can be very important. Cooperative parents reinforce their children that they are capable and reinforce the self-discipline that students will need in order to be successful at school. Consistent reinforcement of goals and expectations always benefits students. School Leadership and teachers must make Parents aware of the pivotal position they hold in their child's educational journey. Teachers should establish relationships that demonstrate respect for parents and support for their children.

Empirical and Theoretical Implications

The findings in this study are important because of the lack of current qualitative phenomenological research exploring the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who prefer to address the learning needs of their overly active, distracted students themselves. The study's themes in the context of current literature are discussed here.

Empirical Implications

This study examined the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who prefer to modify instruction for their overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD assessment. The study added to literature about effective mainstream classroom teachers who work with overly active, distracted students. It addressed a need for more qualitative research on this topic (Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020; Owens, 2020).

Participant input was shaped only by the questions asked in the interviews, written reflections, and the focus group. Each teacher was free to explore her own personal experiences. Open-ended and follow-up questions encouraged deep exploration of why they prefer to address these children's needs themselves. This methodology contrasts with quantitative research that is limited by numeric variables. The qualitative nature of this study considered all data, and ultimately recognized the findings and themes that emerged.

In the individual interview participants were invited to describe their own first-hand experiences with overly active, distracted individuals. Two participants recalled no special first-hand interactions with any overly active, distracted people. Six of 10 participants shared influential first-hand experiences that happened outside the classroom. One participant had strong first-hand experiences both outside and within the classroom. And one teacher's attitudes about overly active, distracted individuals were shaped from first-hand experiences in the classroom (Table 3). Previous first-hand experience emerged as an influence on participant preference to modify instruction for overly active, distracted students before referring them for assessment. The findings suggested that first-hand experience contributed to self-efficacy, and in turn self-agency. Mentoring opportunities that provide successful first-hand experience with overly active, distracted students may be pivotal to helping teachers who lack self-efficacy improve academic outcomes for these children.

Open-ended questions provided a platform for teachers to recount their unique experiences with school leadership, and how those experiences influence their practice in the classroom. There were no constraints on participant answers. Table 3 shows five teachers out of 10 worked in schools where there was a specific policy regarding student referrals. It was discovered during the individual interviews that those five teachers were

initially expected to address overly active, distracted students' needs in their own classrooms. Unexpectedly, data collected in the written reflections suggested that of those five teachers, only two were provided with any training to address those specific student needs. The other three teachers had to manage as best they could. The remaining five teachers taught in schools without any specific policy or training. In total, eight of 10 teachers were provided no guidance for serving the needs of overly active, distracted students in their mainstream classrooms. Responses from individual interviews, written reflections, and the focus group suggested that eight of 10 participants were disappointed that school leaders did not offer more support for teachers. Qualitative research allowed for open-ended questioning and the ability to ask if there was anything participants would like to add. Meg shared it best in her written reflection.

My school or district has not provided me with any training, resources, or physical materials that would prepare me for implementing instructional modifications in my classroom. I am solely responsible for determining student needs and instructional modifications and instruction, which is quite frustrating.

And Pam commented during her interview, "Usually administration doesn't provide any

help. I don't know, I just have to figure it out."

The semi-formal structure of questions led participants to explore their answers in the context of their own experiences. A thread loosely woven throughout many of the individual interviews was the influence of parental support on academic success of overly active, distracted students. This was also unexpected. In the individual interviews, no questions specific to parents were asked. Yet the topic of 'parents' found itself casually inserted into individual interview responses by nine of 10 participants. Four teachers

mentioned the influence of supportive parents on improved academic outcomes for their overly active, distracted children in the classroom. Three participants shared stories of uncooperative parents who undermined the teacher's efforts with their children. And two teachers brought up the importance of understanding the child's parental situation, and how that might affect the outcome of modifying instruction for their children.

Participants in this study relayed experiences that suggested parental attitudes might influence the success or failure of instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students.

This qualitative research offered an opportunity to explore with these effective mainstream teachers why and what led to their preference to address the needs of overly active, distracted students themselves. Teachers own words were the source of the data collected. That data was analyzed, coded, and synthesized to discover the essence, the unifying nucleus of participant experiences (Table 4). The results suggested the essential themes of Self-agency, School Leadership, and Parents. The findings in this study are noteworthy because of the scarcity of qualitative research on the topic (Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020; Owens, 2020).

An unexpected theme that emerged from this study was Self-agency. In this study Self-agency included motivation and first-hand experiences. Self-agency is incredibly important. To put it into context, these specific teachers choose to modify their in-class instruction for overly active, distracted students often without the support of school leaders or parents. Self-efficacy explains these teachers' feelings of competence, personal values and work ethic drive the implementation. In other words, they do what they believe needs to be done for the student.

Despite the wide range of lived experiences among participants, the one constant is Self-agency, the self-drive they feel to help these children learn. Chris explained,

A mechanic knows what to do if I drive in and say my brakes are squeaking. If I've got a third grader who's squeaking, I'm going through my litany of procedures. I'm in charge of what's happening in my classroom. I have lots of experience with young children so I'm going to try and handle it myself. It's my job as that child's teacher.

10 of 10 participants expressed work ethics and professional competence during their individual interviews. They conveyed that addressing the individual needs of each student, regardless of the effort involved, is their job. It is why they are in the classroom. It was clearly apparent that all of these effective mainstream classroom teachers working with overly active, distracted students had high professional work ethics to which they held themselves. This is well summed up in the words of Adelle, "If you don't acknowledge that your whole job is to get the child to learn, if you're unwilling to learn yourself, and make changes in order for your goals to be accomplished…there's no reason for you to be there."

Self-agency aligns with Bandura's (1986) self-efficacy which he defines as believing one can and should determine and carry out one's responsibilities. Self-agency also confirms other research addressing teacher confidence and professionalism. According to Gonzalez-DeHass et al. (2021), the ability of a teacher to assess a learning situation, set, and then achieve goals reinforces confidence in that teacher. In addition, a teacher's willingness to acknowledge and respond to the needs of a given student, even outside of that teacher's experience, indicates self-efficacy (Cruz et al., 2019). In this study all 10 teachers indicated during their interviews (Table 3) that it is their professional duty to determine the learning needs of any overly active, distracted

student, and then to accommodate or modify their instruction to best help that child to learn. Based on participant responses to individual interviews and written reflections, each teacher was open to accommodating children. Deb noted during her interview, "If I can intervene myself, I feel like I can protect a little person from a label or lots of doctor visits, or medicine that might not be so good for them as people think...so I do." They were also open to learning new teaching approaches and techniques that would help these children become successful learners. These findings corroborate Daumiller et al., (2021), and Gonzalez-DeHass et al., (2021), who suggest that teachers with self-efficacy believe they can assess and address the needs of their students. In her interview Deb noted,

Some children have true learning disabilities, and some are just really active...The academic struggle can get in the way of a kid who just needs a lot of modifications...So little Johnny who truly had ADHD is going to respond really well to wiggle seats, alternative activities, a little check-in chart...and students who have a hidden issue like dyslexia, usually the accommodations don't help them.

The findings of this study concur with research that suggests the detrimental effects on students of teachers who lack self-efficacy. A lack of self-efficacy is reflected in the behavior of teachers who fail to give any classroom assistance to overly active, distracted students. These teachers believe there is little they can do that will help the student, and they often refuse to try (Lauermann & Berger, 2021). Teachers who lack self-efficacy take a staggering toll on the students in their care. Overly active, distracted students begin to doubt their own abilities (Perera & John, 2020). They begin to see themselves as inadequate (Lauermann & Berger, 2021), and this self-fulfilling belief unfortunately can set them up for a dismal future.

A mainstream classroom teacher who believes that their own actions can influence academic success for an overly active, distracted student enjoys positive self-efficacy. According to Gonzalez- DeHass et al. (2021), both teacher and student benefit when the teacher feels self-efficacious. These teachers measure their abilities against their goals and are motivated to take necessary steps to increase their chances of success (Lauerman & Berger, 2021). Anne is an example of one of those teachers. She shared in the focus group,

I got a student that was targeted by her previous teacher as a behavior problem student. When I got her, I was able to work with her and help her see her gifts. When it came time for her to move to the next grade all the teachers had discussed that they did not want her in their classrooms. I saw this as a system failure and decided to loop up with that class so none of those teachers would get that student. This student is an adult now and an engineer. Highly gifted, and still wiggly and distracted!

The theme of Self-Agency emerged from a synthesis of personal motivations and influential experiences. These influential experiences with overly active, distracted students included self-experience, experiences with family members or friends, and having successful outcomes with students. 8 of 10 participants had a significant meaningful interaction with at least one overly active, distracted individual outside the classroom over their lifetimes. This first-hand experience affected their willingness to modify instruction or accommodate the learning needs of students in their classroom. In her individual interview Fran recounted,

I told my first-grade team I have a whole different outlook on students who can't sit still and can't learn since having my second child...My second born is different...(*Before her*) I used to send out emails saying your child ought to be

able to do this and that. And along came my own child and she couldn't do it. She really helped with my empathy for struggling children and their parents. It influenced what I do in the classroom.

Pam's first-hand experience included her brother. She shared,

My own brother struggled with ADHD and school. He is extremely smart. I watched first-hand what he needed to be more successful. He needed a lot of additional prompting and extra reminders. His cognitive abilities were strong, and he needed to be in a regular classroom with regular instruction, not limited expectations. If he had been evaluated for ADHD, he would have gotten an IEP and maybe been put in a classroom that wouldn't have given him the learning he needed.

Findings of this study are in agreement that teachers' classroom practices and attitudes are informed by many factors, not the least is previous experience (Zhang et al., 2020). Attitudes toward students are subjective (Gibbs et al., 2020) and student behaviors that are interpreted as problematic differ among teachers (Boda, 2021). Findings also align with Slobidin and Davidovitch (2019) who note that the evaluation of a student's behavior is incredibly subjective. This subjectiveness can result in under or over representation of some demographic populations.

Inarguably, first-hand experiences with any target student population affect teacher attitudes (Lee et al., 2021). First-hand experiences of this study's participants with overly active, distracted students influenced the way these teachers interpreted, reacted to, and addressed their needs. The participants believe they can attend to the learning needs of these students in their own classrooms. These teachers feel that they have the ability to teach almost any child (Clark & Andreasen, 2021). Similarly, beliefs a teacher has about groups of individual students, and their

own ability to meet the students' needs, affect their willingness to modify lessons and adapt instruction (Clark & Andreasen, 2021; Kunemund et al., 2020).

A second theme that emerged from this study was School Leadership. There is little research exploring school leadership and teacher access to targeted in-service education. Inservice learning refers to educational opportunities offered to teachers who are already working in the field. Teachers who possess Self-agency welcome in-service learning opportunities. They want access to targeted classes that will help them better address the needs of their overly active, distracted students. The teachers in this study want to do their jobs well. They want to serve the learning needs of their overly active, distracted students, and they welcome any and all learning opportunities for themselves. The teachers in this study also want to strengthen their professional knowledge and they have several available avenues. They can wait for school leadership to provide appropriate learning opportunities, they can seek out mentors, and they can find information on their own. Findings in this study agree with Carpenter et al. (2020) that teachers actively look for a professional community. They want to share professional experiences and find sources of information and solutions to classroom problems. Given the depth and breadth of quality information available on technology platforms it is not unreasonable to expect that school leadership could assimilate it as a resource for teacher continuing education. This study supports Carpenter and Harvey (2019) as they suggest that it is the responsibility of school and district leaders to tailor training to teacher needs. Social media and educational technology platforms can be prolific reference points for teachers who desperately want solutions to their classroom issues (Team Leverage Edu., 2021). Findings of this study also agree that when on-site training fails to meet teacher needs or available mentors prove to be unproductive, teachers who enjoy selfefficacy look outside their professional community for classroom solutions (Simoncini et al., 2021). In her written reflection Gwen shared,

Our school has never provided in service days to focus on modifications for distracted students. I look around for information. Now if I found a professional development class I wanted to attend on my own, they might would help out financially.

Aguilar et al. (2021) predict that teachers will continue to access social media and technology platforms for professional development and professional camaraderie. Most participants noted a lack of opportunities for targeted professional development which aligns with Brasfield et al. (2019) who notes the importance of professional development that is unique to each teacher's needs.

Effective School Leadership establishes policy and provides ongoing professional education for teachers. It also provides the physical tools that allow teachers to implement those policies. Teachers want School Leadership that works to increase the academic success of their overly active, distracted students. Participant classified School Leadership as either unhelpful or supportive. Participant experiences suggested that unhelpful School Leadership was reflected by lack of administrative support to both response to student behavior and a lack of teacher training and classroom staffing. There were several examples of school leadership failure shared by participants during the focus group. Chris' experience was as follows,

One failure for many, if not all wiggling, distracted students has been our school system's required RTI process. The behavioral aspect of the process is a joke and teachers know it. Diligently keeping records and behavioral charts on students result in nothing.

Lori shared,

I taught at a school that would remove wiggly students who disrupted the learning of others, fill them up with sugar or junk food and return them to class very quickly. This was always very unhelpful and oftentimes the student escalated, and the class had to be interrupted again. Yea, it was super frustrating. Eventually I stopped calling for help and just handled stuff in house (*myself*).

And Pam added, "Teachers can't give what they don't have, so we need to make sure they have the tools that they need to be successful."

Conversely, supportive School Leadership included clear policies, accessible relevant training, and adequate classroom staffing. The findings of this study aligned with current research that suggest the quality of School Leadership can quite simply be the difference between a seamless integration of an overly active distracted student into a mainstream classroom, or a stressful unproductive experience for both teacher and student. Frankly, excessive administrative demands often result in emotional fatigue and teachers' inability to function productively in their own classrooms (Russell et al., 2020). This reflects in the words of Pam, shared during the individual interview,

Teachers are stressed and overwhelmed. Some are management issues and behavior that is hard to manage. A lot of teachers just don't have anything left in the tank to give...Sometimes I don't have the time or enough hands to give a student what he needs.

The finding of this study concurs with Scallon et al. (2021), in that an teachers needs adequate planning time, uninterrupted classroom instruction, and time set aside to work among peers.

Scallon et al. (2021) note the importance of comfortable and receptive communication with

administrators. Teachers need to feel comfortable requesting assistance. Feelings of overwhelming stress can lead to teacher burnout. This study's findings agreed that large classes sizes and excessive teacher to pupil ratio prevent teachers from establishing productive relationships with their students (Jensen & Solheim, 2019; Sugrue, 2019).

Parents emerged from this study as a third essential theme. Several participants highlighted their experiences with subversive parents. Findings suggested that Parents who undermined the efforts of the teacher effectively neutralize any academic and behavioral progress achieved in the classroom. This confirms the results of literature researched for this study. Droogenbroech et al. (2021), note that a lack of parental support is a factor that often contributes to teacher burnout. Teacher-parent conflict not only not only consumes emotional energy, but also drains teachers (Lu & Guy, 2019). Unfortunately, there are parents who actively demonstrate little faith or interest in their child's ability to succeed (Orpinas, 2021). This regrettably leads children to believe that they have no control over their ability to perform, succeed, and live well in society (Tus, 2020). Hargreaves et al. (2021) suggest that the concept of self is evident in children as young as seven years. Even at this early age they begin to compare themselves to others and start to judge their own competence. There can be no doubt that an overly active, distracted child who is poorly supported will internalize the negative messages affecting their motivation to try in school (Zava et al., 2019). A lack of support from parents can effectively rob a child of hope. And hope is crucial for self-efficacy (Zeinalipour, 2022).

Conversely, supportive parents maintain consistency of expectations between school and home, reinforce the teachers' efforts, and support teacher authority. Positive outcomes for overly active, distracted students increase with the positive participation and support of their parents. These teachers look for ways to include Parents in their child's academic experience.

This study's findings corroborate current literature. The teachers in this study possess self-agency. They believe themselves to be competent and capable and behave in ways that are productive in the classroom (Clark & Andreasen, 2021; Cruz et al., 2019). These teachers also appreciate supportive School Leadership and Parental backing (Droogenbroech et al., 2021; Russel et al., 2020). None of the findings in this study diverged from current empirical research. As previously noted, existing literature that qualitatively explores the desire of some mainstream classroom teachers to address the needs of overly active, distracted students in their own classrooms is very limited.

An unexpected finding that should be further explored within the literature is that of teacher work ethic and its possible relationship to mainstream classroom teachers working effectively with overly active, distracted students.

Theoretical Implications

Bandura's (1977) social learning theory and Bandura's (1986) theory of self-efficacy were the lenses through with this study was conducted. Social learning theory suggests that humans acquire how they think and behave through interaction with others. Self-efficacy (Bandura, 1987) explains the self-belief that one is competent to successfully plan and execute what is necessary to accomplish a goal. It was the intention of the study to identify lived experiences; those human interactions that led these teachers to try to address the learning needs of their overly active, distracted students by modifying their own instruction. Social learning and self-efficacy were appropriate theoretical choices as they guided the exploration of actual lived experiences that influenced these teachers' subsequent beliefs and behaviors.

Bandura's (1977) social learning theory informs each of the study's three findings: Self-agency, School Leadership, and Parents. Bandura's (1977) social learning theory frames this

study, and the findings align with social learning theory literature. People learn what to think and how to behave through interactions with others.

Bandura (1986) suggests that individuals use internal regulation to measure their own behavior against how they believe they should act. Internal regulation aptly speaks to selfagency, a theme of this study. Self-agency is reflected in part in the participants self-identified professional work ethic. All 10 teachers in this study hold themselves to a very high standard of work ethic. This study's findings suggest that teachers' work ethic is honed through a variety of learning situations: personal and classroom experiences, personal values, and school policy. Effective mainstream classroom teachers enjoy strong Self-agency that is supported by their strong work ethic. This results in an openness to adjust their instruction to accommodate the needs of their overly active, distracted students.

Bandura's (1977) social learning theory, the theory that suggests humans know what they know by interacting with each other, is especially relevant to the theme of self-agency which includes the sub-theme of personal and professional experience. Prior first-hand experiences that teachers in this study had with overly active, distracted individuals influenced their opinions about other overly active students that they later encountered in their classrooms. Second, prior first-hand experiences also influenced their beliefs that they can effectively attend to overly active, distracted students' learning needs. According to Bandura (1977) new information is constantly interpreted, assimilated, analyzed, and categorized against what is already known. Human interaction is the catalyst for learning (Bandura, 1986).

Data analysis also suggests a theme of School Leadership. School Leadership is in a unique position to demonstrate Bandura's (1977) social learning theory at its most functional level. Social learning opportunities provided by school leaders can take the form of providing

classroom teachers access to best practices and addressing professional learning needs, opportunities for peer interaction, and quality mentors. Effective school leaders facilitate effective teaching. They provide tools, knowledge, and other support to enhance teachers' effectivity with their students. These teachers appreciate opportunities to learn from more knowledgeable others. Through direct and vicarious learning experiences, and practice alongside successful co-workers, teachers can improve their own classroom practices and ultimately improve instruction for students.

The third theme of this study is Parents. Social learning theory suggests that humans need each other in order to learn (Bandura, 1977). According to the study's participants, these teachers attempt to team with parents of overly active, distracted children for a couple of purposes; (1) to reinforce strategies for behavioral and academic success, and (2) to reinforce strategies to build in the student feeling of self-efficacy. The finding of parental inclusion corroborates Bandura's (1986) observation that social interaction is the catalyst for processing acceptable behavior and attitudes. For overly active, distracted students occurs not just at school but also among family and peers. To increase the chances of successful outcomes with an overly active, distracted child it is incumbent upon the classroom teacher to attempt to enlist assistance from parents and available adult family members. Bandura's (1977) social learning theory aligned with the findings of this study.

It must be noted that analysis of the data also strongly indicates that self-determination theory might also be considered a lens through which this study be examined. Self-determination theory (Gagne and Deci, 2005) includes individuals' autonomy, competence, and relatedness.

The unexpected finding of work ethic, a sub-theme of self-agency, begs an expansion of the theoretical framework. When examining mainstream classroom teachers who prefer to modify or

accommodate their instruction to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students in their classroom, self-determination theory and its' implications for motivation should be included.

Because one of the three identified themes in this study is Self-agency, it could be argued that self-determination theory might have appropriately been included as a foundational theory. Participants indicated that autonomy, competence, and personal interaction informed their desires to initially address the learning needs of their overly active, distracted students themselves. According to Gagne and Deci (2005) autonomy, competence, and relatedness is foundational to motivation. Social learning theory is appropriate in the context of first-hand experience. Self-efficacy theory does explain why teachers think they are capable of addressing the needs of overly active, distracted students. But self-determination theory would guide the exploration of personal motivation in this query and would have been an appropriate addition to the theoretical foundation. Although this study corroborates Bandura's (1977, 1986) social learning and self-efficacy theories, the theme of Self-agency suggests that self-determination theory (Gagne and Deci, 2005) also comes into play with mainstream teachers who prefer to address the needs of their overly active, distracted students.

In the context of this study, Bandura's social learning theory suggests that teachers who prefer to address the learning needs of overly active, distracted students in their own classrooms have experienced some first-hand or vicarious learning from others. Eight of 10 participants had their attitudes shaped by first-hand experiences with overly active, distracted individuals in their own homes or with friends. This suggests that teachers lacking self-efficacy might benefit when school leaders provide opportunities for them to mentor with teachers who do prefer to modify

their instruction for overly active, distracted students. Before referring them for an ADHD assessment.

Limitations and Delimitations

The following is a breakdown of the study's limitations and delimitations. Limitations, mostly uncontrollable variables, were anticipated by the researcher and minimized as much as possible during the study. Delimitations were limits set by the researcher prior to starting the study.

Limitations

The uncontrollable aspects of a study are its limitations. This study lacked physical proximity to the participants, so reliance on technology was elemental to its success. Technology failure and the inability of any participant to reliably navigate an audio-visual technology platform could potentially have a serious impact on data collection. To ensure data was collected despite potential problems an auxiliary voice recorder was used during all interviews.

Demographic composition of participants was wholly dependent on who chose to volunteer. In addition to personal referrals, the study was posted in a Facebook group with diversified membership. All individuals who met the study criteria were welcome to join. It happened that all volunteers were female and white.

The decision to follow through with their agreement to participate in the study was completely at the discretion of each volunteer. Participation in all three data collection methods was not controllable. To increase the chances of successful participation, the researcher sent a text message reminder to each participant the day before and the morning of the individual interviews and the focus group. Participants were comfortable texting the researcher with any

needed schedule changes or questions. Open lines of communication facilitated robust participation by volunteers.

Another limitation of concern to the researcher was that of participant honesty. It was not possible to really know if the participants were truthful in their representations of themselves and their experiences. Eight of the 10 participants were referred by other teachers, which increased the odds of them being who they represented themselves to be. The researcher also attempted to build a genuine relationship with each participant. Again, open lines of communication created an environment where participants felt comfortable and hopefully less inclined to be deceptive.

The limitations of technology, volunteer participation, and participant honesty were addressed by the researcher. There was no way to anticipate power outages, illnesses, or accidents over which there is no control. The back-up preparations were sufficient to address the identified limitations.

Delimitations

Delimitations are established parameters that define the boundaries of the study. The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation.

The choice of a qualitative study was made based on an unmet need for non-numerical research in this area (Gascon et al., 2022; Greenway & Edwards, 2020; Owens, 2020). Phenomenological research allowed the researcher to interact personally with teachers. Their lived experiences with overly active, distracted students became the collected data. Established boundaries to participate in the study mandated that individuals had to: (1) be a current or former certified mainstream classroom teacher, (2) have taught for a minimum of four years, (3) taught

in any combination of kindergarten through sixth grades, and (4) preferred to modify inclassroom instructional before referring an overly active, distracted student for ADHD assessment. Participants were provided with a consent to participate form after they had been successfully screened, either by phone or via an electronically signed form.

Possessing state teaching certification ensured all participants had a roughly equal minimum level of education. A minimum of four years teaching experience allowed for individual teachers to have established their own routines and procedures in their classrooms (Lowe et al., 2019). The study was limited to teachers in grades K-6. Participants understood that the study would involve no personal proximity, and that technology, AV platforms, email, and the telephone would facilitate our communication. Creswell and Poth (2018) recommend between five and 25 participants for a phenomenological study. The number of participants for this study was 10.

Recommendations for Future Research

Further qualitative exploration of effective mainstream classroom teachers and their willingness to address the learning needs of their overly active, distracted students is recommended. Findings discovered in this study suggest two areas for additional exploration. The first suggestion is an examination of effective mainstream classroom teachers who were themselves overly active, distracted children. A second area for consideration might explore the theme of Parents through the lived experiences of parents of overly active, distracted children; interactions with classroom teachers that influence support.

One finding of this study was the importance of first-hand experience for teachers of overly active, distracted students. First-hand experience supports teacher beliefs about students, and strengthens teacher self-efficacy (Daumiller et al., 2021; Kim & Buric, 2020). Teachers in

this study who were themselves overly active, distracted students view these same children through a unique lens. They personally understand the need to weigh the possible benefits of a diagnosis against negative consequences of a label (Hamilton, 2020; Owens, 2020; Weinen et al., 2019).

This study examined the phenomenon through the lived experiences of the general population of mainstream classroom teachers. It was discovered during the individual interviews that among the 10 participants of this study two had themselves been overly active, distracted students. Research could be enhanced by limiting participants to only teachers who themselves had been overly active, distracted elementary age students. They could possibly present very different lived experiences resulting in enhanced insight into the phenomenon.

A second finding of this study that warrants further exploration is parental buy-in as partners in the education of their overly active, distracted children. Parents very often misunderstand the overly active, distracted behavior of their child. They can also fail to grasp the implications of their child being diagnosed with ADHD. As such these parents often act more as impediments to their child's well-being and sometimes hamper their academic success (Orpinas, 2021). This study could be expanded with a phenomenological exploration of parents with overly active, distracted children, and their experiences of inclusion or exclusion in their child's educational journey. Examining the lived experiences of parents of overly active, distracted children could provide insight into expectations and wishes about their child's teacher and school leadership.

Conclusion

The purpose of elementary education is to instill in children an understanding of the basic subjects. Elementary education lays the foundation for a well-rounded, self-effective, motivated

individual. It is critical that not one student be unnecessarily labeled or needlessly punished or ostracized. But the addition of an overly active, distracted student to a mainstream classroom compounds the job of a classroom teacher exponentially. This study is important as it explores personal and professional experiences that influence mainstream classroom teachers' preferences to modify their in-classroom instruction for these students.

Social learning theory (Bandura, 1977) guides this study as people learn what they know from other people. In addition, Bandura's self-efficacy (1986), also explains teacher behavior in the classroom. Unexpectedly, the study's findings also strongly suggest that the theory of self-determination would also have been an appropriate theoretical lens through which to examine this phenomenon. Its link to Self-agency and motivation is undeniable. But this was not apparent until the after the findings and themes were recognized.

The participants welcomed exploration of their lived experiences, and data collected was unambiguous and detailed. Analysis of data collected from personal interviews, written reflections, and a focus group resulted in three themes: Self-Agency, School Leadership, and Parents. The theme of Self -Agency was defined by personal experiences, and professional and personal lived values. The theme of School Leadership included availability of classroom support for teachers, professional training, policies, and adequate staffing. The third theme, Parents, included participant recollections of positive and negative parent interactions. The three themes provided answers to the central research question and the sub-questions.

The implications of these findings suggest the following: (1) teachers with self-efficacy expect themselves to meet the needs of their students and feel competent to do so, (2) school leaders must actively take steps to improve the effectiveness and professionalism of their teaching staff, and (3) parents can play an important role in student success. The teachers in this

study want to improve, and school leaders can provide opportunities that develop the quality and effectiveness of all teachers. Effective school leaders shape and strengthen their teaching staff. With support from school leaders, mainstream classroom teachers can better meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students. It is unconscionable to allow any child to be subjected to a less than equitable education because school leaders fail to develop their teaching staff.

Further research on this topic is invited. Exploring the lived experiences of teachers, school leaders, and parents, and how they affect cognitive and affective outcomes for overly active, distracted students is critical. This is crucial because mainstream classroom teachers strongly influence what overly active, distracted students believe about themselves. And teachers also influence what other teachers, students, and parents believe about overly active, distracted students. Positive outcomes for an overly active, distracted child strongly hinge on the self-agency of a teacher, effectiveness of school leaders, and support from their parents.

References

- Adams, P. (2006). Exploring social constructivism: Theories and practices. *International Journal of Primary, Elementary, and Early Years Education*, *34*(3), 243-257. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/03004270600898893
- Aguilar, S., Rosenberg, J., Greenhalgh, S., Futterer, T., Lishinski, A. & Fischer, C. (2021). A different experience in a different moment? Teachers' social media use before and during the covid-19 pandemic. *AERA Open*, 7(1), 1-17.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2613256167?parentSessionId=257%2BHEL6aLC5A

 XnMmWT88p1FFPxRdYAXbbytwd%2BL0y4%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Alasmari, N. & Althaqafi, A. (2021). Teachers practices of proactive and reactive classroom management strategies and the relationship to their self-efficacy. *Language Teaching Research*. https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/epub/10.1177/13621688211046351
- Amodio, D. & Cikara, M. (2021). The social neuroscience of prejudice. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 72, 439-469. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-050928
- Amos, C., Zhang, L. & Read, D. (2019). Hardworking as a heuristic for moral characher: Why we attribute moral values to those who work hard and its' implications. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 158(4), 1047-1062. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s10551-017-3725-x
- Anderson, A. & Johnston, B. (2016). From information literacy to social epistemology: Insights from psychology. Chandos. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=1-

- $\frac{8QCgAAQBAJ\&oi=fnd\&pg=PP1\&dq=anderson+\%26+johnson+2016+social+constructi}{vism\&ots=91nog7N6vq\&sig=cv-cjjc8lsrYfdzLlFpCOEhTHlI#v=onepage\&q\&f=false}$
- Aresi, G., Pozzi, M. & Marta, E. (2020). Program and school predictors of mentoring relationship quality and the role of mentors' satisfaction in volunteer retention. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 31(2), 171-183. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/casp.2495
- Aronson, B., Anderson, A., Ellison, S., Barczak, K. & Bennett-Kinne, A. (2021). "The last refuge of the incompetent": Urban teacher perceptions of their positions in public discourse. *Educational Studies*, *57*(1), 21-36. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/00131946.2020.1863804
- Baillie, L. (2019). Exchanging focus groups for individual interviews when collecting qualitative data. *Nurse Researcher*, 27(2).

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2241342736?parentSessionId=UPXaRX1dePBib6%

 2FaSeWgGkDxBUHDCXX62nTNjh85JVA%3D&pq
 origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.

 Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175-1184. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0003-066X.44.9.1175
- Bandura, A. (2011). The functional properties of perceived self-efficacy revisited. *Journal of Management*, 38(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/0149206311410606

- Barkley, R. & Peters, H. (2012). The earliest reference to ADHD in the medical literature?

 Melchior Adam Weikard's description in 1775 of "attention deficit" (mangel der aufmerksamkeit, attentio volubilis). *Journal of Attention Disorders, 16*(8). https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F1087054711432309
- Bauer, E., Compton-Lilly, C., Li, G. & Razfar, Z. (2022). Categorization in literacy contexts:

 The short-term and long-term effects of labeling students and their literacies. *Journal of Literacy Research*, *54*(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F1086296X221076610
- Beck, C. (2005). Benefits of participating in internet interviews: Women helping women.

 *Qualitative Health Research, 15, 411- 422. https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/abs/10.1177/1049732304270837
- Becker, K. (2019). Beyond researcher as instrument. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(4), 426-437. https://www-emerald-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/insight/content/doi/10.1108/QRJ-02-2019-0021/full/html
- Bekalu, M., McCloud, R., Minski, S. & Viswanath, K. (2020). Association of social participation, perception of neighborhood social cohesion, and social media use with happiness: Evidence of trade-off. (JCOP-20-277) *Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(2), 432-446. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1002/jcop.22469
- Bellocchi, A. (2019). Early career science teacher experiences of social bonds and emotional management. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *56*(3), 322-347. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1002/tea.21520

- Bently-Edwards, K., Stevenson, H., Thomas, D., Adams-Bass, V. & Coleman-King, C. (2020).

 Teaching scared: Pre-service teacher appraisals of racial stress, socialization, and classroom management self-efficacy. *Social Psychology of Education*, 23(5), 1233-1257.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2573640868?accountid=12085&parentSessionId=SQ

 OrevhvXXH68FG1ADThABJJ3%2BDzc81CNwAzlv2AFNU%3D&pq
 origsite=summon
- Beristain, C. & Wiener, J. (2020). Finding true friendships: The friendship experience of adolescents with ADHD. *Canadian Journal of Child Psychology*, *35*(4), 280-298. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0829573520931679
- Biggers, M., Miller, A., Zangori, L. & Whitworth, B. (2019). Alignment in mentorship:

 Exploring challenges to pre-service science teacher preparation. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 30(4), 344-356. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/1046560X.2018.1562812
- Bob, P. & Konicarova, J. (2018). *Historical and recent research on ADHD*. Springer. https://link-springer-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-96494-2_2
- Boda, P. (2021). The conceptual and disciplinary segregation of disability: A phenomenograpy of science education graduate student learning. *Research in Science Education 51*, 1725-1758. https://link-springer-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/article/10.1007/s11165-019-9828-x#citeas
- Bogdanov, A. (1912). *The universal science of organization*. Centre for Systems Study Press. https://monoskop.org/images/e/e9/Bogdanov_Alexander_Tektology_Book_1.pdf

- Bong, S., Kim, K., Seal, K. & Kim, J. (2021). Bullying perpetration and victimization in elementary school students diagnosed with attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 62, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2021.102729
- Brannstrom, M. (2021). Instead of passing the test: Passing as a "normal" student in the mainstream classroom. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/00313831.2021.2006302
- Brasfield, M., Lancaster, C. & Xu, Y. (2019). Wellness as a mitigating factor for teacher burnout. *Journal of Education*, 199(3). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/0022057419864525
- Brashears, K. (2014). Examining teacher perceptions of the Appalachian dialect in one rural Appalachian elementary school. *The Rural Educator*, *35*(2), 1-10.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1526338121?accountid=12085&parentSessionId=Ne

 oMZs0dcxqT7nIKK1sGtnV0FYv57O144JK9zeb%2B1Ro%3D&pq-origsite=summon
- Braun, S., Schonert-Reichl, K. & Roeser, R. (2020). Effects of teachers' emotions regulation, burnout, and life satisfaction on student well-being. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 69, July August. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101151
- Bronack, S., Riedl, R. & Tashner, J. (2006). Learning in the zone: A social constructivist framework for distance education in a 3-dimentional virtual world. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 14(3), 219-232. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.622.6445&rep=rep1&type=pdf

- Camacho, D., Hoover, S. & Rosete, H. (2021). Burnout in urban teachers: The predictive role of supports and situational responses. *Psychology in the Schools*, *58*(9), 1816-1831. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/pits.22561
- Carpenter, J. & Harvey, S. (2019). "There's no referee on social media": Challenges in educator professional social media use. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 86. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102904
- Carpenter, J., Shelton, C., & Schroeder, S. (2022). The education influencer: A new player in the educator professional landscape. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*.

 https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/15391523.2022.2030267
- Carpenter, J., Morrison, S, Craft, M.& Lee, M. (2020). How and why are educators using Instagram? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 96, November. https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S0742051X20313408?via%3Dihub
- Carpentier, G., Mukamurera, J., Leroux, M. & Lakhal, S. (2019). Validation of a typology of novice teachers' support needs and comparative analysis based on sociodemographic characteristics. *McGill Journal of Education (Online)*, 54(3), 582-603.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2414856922?parentSessionId=1DQFhWwDtB2QPE3u%2FCFXlfO2oCgQv2FROqWH7mLi%2FJI%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A. Blythe, J. & Neville, A. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(5), 545-547.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1559261620?parentSessionId=SK2tMOcsrWNHjILd
 <a href="https://www.proque

- Charbonneau-Gowdy, P. (2017). Moving outside the box: Researching e-learning in disruptive times. *Journal of E-Learning*, *15*(1), 59-69.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1895306507?parentSessionId=3L%2FDwoaZW3tiB
 cW4b%2FUY9ozJ6Xq2AglvDd%2BaloxDI88%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Castro-Felix, E. & Daniels, H. (2018). The social construction of a Teacher Support Team: An experience of university lecturers' professional development in STEM. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 44(1), 14-26. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/02607476.2018.1422610
- Cavendish, W., Connor, D., Gonzalez, T., Jean-Pierre, T. & Card, K. (2020). Troubling "the problem" of racial overrepresentation in special education: a commentary and call to rethink research. *Educational Review* 72(5), 567-582. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/00131911.2018.1550055
- CDC (2022). National prevalence of ADHD and treatment: Information on children and adolescents. *CDC.gov*. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/adhd/features/national-prevalence-adhd-and-treatment.html
- CDC (2022). National treatment profile: What types of treatment do children with ADHD receive? *CDC.gov*. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/adhd/features/kf-national-treatment-profile-adhd-nsdata.html
- Chambliss, J. (2009). Philosophy of education today. *Educational Theory*, *59*(2), 233-251. https://www.proquest.com/docview/214135206?accountid=12085
- Chang, J., Cimino, F. & Gossa, W. (2020). ADHD in children: Questions and answers. *American Family Physician*, 102(10), 592-602. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33179887/

- Chowdhury, M. (2019). What is the mental health continuum model? *Positive Psychology*, 1 July 2022. https://positivepsychology.com/mental-health-continuum-model/
- Chunta, A. & DuPaul, G. (2022). Educational diagnostic label and teacher self-efficacy: Impact on classroom intervention choice. *School Psychology*, *37*(4), 297-308. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/spq0000509
- Clark, S. & Andreasen, L. (2021). Exploring elementary teacher self-efficacy and teacher beliefs:

 Are we preparing teachers to teach culturally diverse students? *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 49(1), 128-142. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/1359866X.2020.1777528
- Clohessy, L., Bowles, R. & Chroinin, D. (2021). Follow the leader? Generalist primary school teachers' experiences of informal physical education leadership. *International Journal of Primary, Elementary and Early Years Education*, 49(6), 661-673. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/03004279.2020.1765835
- Coles, E., Pelham, W., Fabiano, G., Gnagy, E., Burrows-McLean, L., Wymbs, B., Chacko, A., Walker, K., Wymbs, F., Mazzant, J., Garefino, A., Hoffman, M., Massetti, G., Page, T., Waschbusch, D., Waxmonsky, J. & Pelham, W. (2020). Randomized trial of first-line behavioral intervention to reduce need for medication in children with adhd. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 49(5), 673-687. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/15374416.2019.1630835
- Colognesi, S., Nieuwenhoven, C. & Beausaert, S. (2020). Supporting newly-qualified teachers' professional development and perseverance in secondary education: On the role of informal learning. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(2), 258-276. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/02619768.2019.1681963

- Connelly, L. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6). https://web-s-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/chc/pdf?vid=0&sid=d5319d72-f36a-4cba-a676-76d69c20579a%40redis
- Connor, D., Cavendish, W., Gonzalez, T. & Jeane-Pierre P. (2019). Is a bridge even possible over troubled water? The field of special education negates the overrepresentation of minority students: A DisCrit analysis. *Race, Ethnicity, and Education*, 22(6), 723-745. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/13613324.2019.1599343
- Coplan, R., Hughes, K., Bosacki, S. & Rose-Krasnor, L. (2011) Is silence golden? Elementary school teachers' strategies and beliefs regarding hypothetical shy/quiet and exuberant/talkative children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102(4), 939-951. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0024551
- Crawford, J. & Brandt, M. (2019). Who is prejudiced and toward whom? The five big traits and generalized prejudice. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 45(10).

 https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/0146167219832335?utm_source=summon&utm_ediscovery-provider
- Creswell, J. & Creswell, J. (2018). Research design (5th ed). Sage.
- Creswell, J. & Guetterman, T. (2019). Educational research: Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (6th ed.). Pearson.
- Creswell, J., Hanson, W., Clark, V., & Marales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs:

 Selection and implementation. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *35*(2), 236-264.

 https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/pdf/10.1177/0011000006287390

- Creswell, J. & Miller, D. (2020). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory into practice*, 39(3), 124-130. https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/stable/1477543?pq-origsite=summon&seq=3#metadata_info_tab_contents
- Creswell, J. & Poth, C. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed). Sage.
- Croes, E. & Bartels, J. (2021). Young adults' motivations for following social influencers and their relationship to identification and buying behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 124, November. https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S0747563221002338?via%3Dihub
- Crowe, G., Wiles, R., Heath, S. & Charles, V. (2006). Research ethics and data quality: The implications of informed consent. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 9(2), 83-95. <a href="https://web-s-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=18a78453-7621-4e9f-a9bd-6f764ba3aa5b%40redis&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#AN=20855672&db=sxi
- Cruz, R., Manchanda, R., Firestone, A. & Rodl, J. (2019). An examination of teachers culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, *43*(3). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0888406419875194
- Cuba, M., Massaro, V., Waters, C., Watson, S., Cody, A., & Stemhagen, (2021). Beyond the label: Using a multi-level model of intersectionality to explore the educational experiences of Latino English learners. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 20(1), 62-77. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/15348431.2018.1540351

- Cutcliffe, J., & McKenna, H. (2001). Establishing the credibility of qualitative research findings:

 The plot thickens. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *30*(2), 279-533. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1046/j.1365-2648.1999.01090.x
- Cuthbertson, L., Robb, Y., & Blair, S. (2020). Theory and application of research principles and philosophical underpinning for a study utilizing interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Radiography*, 26(2), 94-102. https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S1078817419302548?via%3Dihub
- Damianidou, E. (2021). Obligatory professional training for in-service teachers: worthy time or a waste of time? *European Journal of Teacher Education*, July 2021. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/02619768.2021.1961734
- Daumiller, M., Janke, S., Hein, J., Rinas, R., Dickhauser, O. & Dresel, M. (2021). Do teachers' achievement goals and self-efficacy beliefs matter for student learning experiences?

 Evidence from two studies on perceived teaching quality and emotional experiences.

 Learning and Instruction, 76, Dec. 2021. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2021.101458
- Day, M. (2022). Top educational YouTube channels. *Net Influencer*.

 https://www.netinfluencer.com/top-educational-youtube-channels/
- Dexter, C. & Wall, M. (2021). Reflective functioning and teacher burnout: the mediating role of self-efficacy. *Reflective Practice*, 22(6), 753-765. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/14623943.2021.1968817
- Davis, S. & Yi, J. (2022). Double tap, double trouble: Instagram, teacher, and profit. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 19(3). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F20427530211064706

- DiCiccio-Bloom, B. & Crabtree, B. (2006). The qualitative research interview. *Medical Education*, 40(4). https://web-s-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=aa1bca05-fce6-41d6-a79b-1dae8fde121d%40redis
- Dijck, J. (2013). *The culture of connectivity: A critical history of social media*. Oxford University Press.
- Domsch, H., Ruhmland, M. & Lissmann, I. (2022). Effective but not feasible What support staff in all day primary schools think of pedagogical interventions with regard to children with ADHD. *Sustainability*, *14*(3), 1393. https://www-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/2627846214?pq-origsite=summon
- Donelson, G. (2021). List: Top 15 educational influencers helping brands capitalize on back to school marketing. *Tagger*. https://www.taggermedia.com/blog/top-15-education-influencers
- Dort, M., Strelow, A., French, B., Groom, M., Luman, M. Yjorell, L., Biele, G. & Christiansen, H. (2020). Bibliometric review: Classroom management in ADHD Is there a communication gap concerning knowledge between the scientific fields psychiatry/psychology and education? *Sustainability*, *12*(17), 6826.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2437323367?parentSessionId=aWMCQbLD5Nb1Liv42%2B8A2A%2FAimupu8wzc6NBsBtJCp0%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Dort, M., Strelow, A., Schwienger, M. & Christiansen, H. (2020). Working with children with ADHD A latent profile analysis of teachers' and psychotherapists attitudes.

- Sustainability, 12(22), 9691. https://www-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/2463892812?pq-origsite=summon
- Droogenbroeck, F., Spruyt, B., Quittre, V. & Lafontaine, M. (2021). Does the school context really matter for teacher burnout? Review of existing multilevel burnout research and results from the teaching and learning international survey 2018 in the Flemish and French speaking communities of Belgium. *Educational Researcher*, 50(5). http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0013189X21992361
- Duffy, B. (2020). Social medial influencers. *Wiley*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119429128.iegmc219
- DuPaul, G., Evans, S., Mautone, J., Owens, J. & Power, T. (2020). Future directions for psychosocial interventions for children and adolescents with ADHD. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 49(1), 134-145. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/15374416.2019.1689825
- D'Urso, G. & Petruccelli, I. (2021). New and old forms of prejudices among teachers: An explorative study. *World Futures*. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/02604027.2021.2012873
- El-Abd, M. & Chaaban, Y. (2021). The role of vicarious experiences in the development of preservice teachers' classroom management self-efficacy beliefs. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 29(3), 282-297. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/09669760.2020.1779669
- Evans, D., Butterworth, R. & Law, U. (2019). Understanding associations between perceptions of teachers' emotional experiences. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 82, 55-68.

- https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S0742051X17317304
- Ewe, L. & Aspelin, J. (2022). Relational competence regarding students with ADHD An intervention study with in-service teachers. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 37(2), 293-308. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/08856257.2021.1872999
- Fadus, M., Ginsburg, K., Sobowale, K., Halliday-Boykins, C., Bryant, B., Gray, K. & Squeglia, L. (2020). Unconscious bias and the diagnosis of disruptive behavior disorders and ADHD in African American and Hispanic youth. *Academic Psychiatry*, 44, 95-102. https://link-springer-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/article/10.1007/s40596-019-01127-6
- Fernandez, S., Luz, L., Alonso, M. & Fernandez-Andujar, M. (2021). Effectiveness of a long term training program for teachers in attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder on knowledge and self-efficacy. *Mathematics*, 9(12).

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2545003921?parentSessionId=K4sM7Qsz%2BM2O

 GLRLb9OeJybYgvX%2F51gMZhoxmj3W%2B4c%3D&pq
 origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Filep, C., Turner, S., Eidse, Thompsen-Fawcett, M. & Fitzsimons, S. (2017). Advancing rigour in solicited diary research. *Qualitative Research*, 18(4). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/1468794117728411?utm_source=summon&utm_medium=discovery-provider
- Fisher, A., Fisher, B. & Railey, K. (2021). Disciplinary disparities by race and disability: Using DisCrit theory to examine the manifestation determination review process in special education in the United States. Race, *Ethnicity, and Education*, 24(6), 755-769.

https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/13613324.2020.1753671

- Francis, B., Connolly, P., Archer, L., Hodgen, J., Mazenod, A., Pepper, D., Sloan, S., Tayler, B., Tereshchenko, A. & Travers, M. (2017). Attainment grouping as self-fulfilling prophesy. A mixed methods exploration of self-confidence and set level among Year 7 students.

 **International Journal of Educational Research*, 86, 96-108. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.ijer.2017.09.001
- Franz, D., Lenhard, W., Marx, P. & Richer, T. (2021). Here I sit making men in my own image:

 How learning disorder labels affect teacher student's expectancies. *Current Psychology*,

 (2021). https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12144-021-02250-0
- Gagne, M., & Deci, E. (2005). Self-determination theory and work motivation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 26(4), 331-362.

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/4093832?saml_data=eyJzYW1sVG9rZW4iOiI5OWYxMm

 QxMC03MThkLTQ3MmMtODlhOS1iNTIyMmVlNzViYWMiLCJpbnN0aXR1dGlvbkl

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/4093832?saml_data=eyJzYW1sVG9rZW4iOiI5OWYxMm

 QxMC03MThkLTQ3MmMtODlhOS1iNTIyMmVlNzViYWMiLCJpbnN0aXR1dGlvbkl

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/4093832?saml_data=eyJzYW1sVG9rZW4iOiI5OWYxMm

 QxMC03MThkLTQ3MmMtODlhOS1iNTIyMmVlNzViYWMiLCJpbnN0aXR1dGlvbkl

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/4093832?saml_data=eyJzYW1sVG9rZW4iOiI5OWYxMm

 QxMC03MThkLTQ3MmMtODlhOS1iNTIyMmVlNzViYWMiLCJpbnN0aXR1dGlvbkl

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/4093832

 <a href="https://www.jstor.org/
- Gare, A. (2000). Aleksandr Bogdanov and systems theory. *Democracy and Nature*, 6(3), 341-359.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/248981084 Aleksandr Bogdanov and System
 s Theory
- Gascon, A., Gamache, D., St-Laurent, D. & Stipanicic, A. (2022). Do we over-diagnosis ADHD in North America? A critical review and clinical recommendations. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/jclp.23348

- Gaudet, S. & Robert, D. (2018). A journey through qualitative research: From design to reporting. Sage. https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/book/a-journey-through-qualitative-research/i376.xml
- Gemmink et al. (2021). How contextual factors effect teachers' pedagogical practices.

 *Educational Research, 63(4), 396-415. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/00131881.2021.1983452
- Giangreco, M. (2020). "How can a student with severe disabilities be in a fifth-grade class when he can't do fifth-grade level work?" Misapplying the least restrictive environment.

 *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities, 45(1), 23-27.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1540796919892733
- Gibbs, S., Beckmann, J., Elliott, J., Metsapelto, R., Vehkakoski, T. & Aro, M. (2020). What's in a name: the effect of category labels on teachers' beliefs. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 35(1), 115-127. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/08856257.2019.1652441
- Gillespie-Lynch, K., Daou, N., Obeid, R., Reardon, S., Khan, S. & Goldknopf, E. (2020). What contributes to stigma towards autistic university students and students with other diagnosis? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*, 459-475. https://web-p-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=218a1ed9-e024-48b7-bcbb-92dd5b7822e2%40redis
- Gil-Quintana, J., & de Leon, E. (2021). Educational influencers on Instagram: Analysis of educational channels, audiences, and economic performance. *Publications*, 9(4), 43. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2612837002?parentSessionId=nY4tapa5VKxne%2B

- <u>%2FI%2BtZr8H239Bowe4YWYBmGIMcwjFw%3D&pq</u>origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Gledd, J. (2019). The enigma of neuroimaging in adhd. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, July 2019. https://ajp-psychiatryonline-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19050540
- Glinitzer, K., Gummer, T. & Wagner, M. (2021). Learning facts about migration: Politically motivated learning of polarizing information about refugees. *Political Psychology*, *42*(6), 1053-1069. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/pops.12734
- Gnas, J, Mack, E. & Preckel, F. (2022). When classmates influence teacher judgement accuracy of student' cognitive ability: Studying frame-of-reference effects in primary school.
 Contemporary Educational Psychology, 69 May 2022.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2022.102070
- Godfrey, E., Fuermaier, A., Tucha, L., Butzbach, M., Weisbrod, M., Aschenbrenner, S. & Tucha, O. (2020). Public perceptions of adult ADHD: Indications of stigma? *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 128, 993-1008. https://web-p-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=d9e0fd0a-2c5d-456e-9f0c-7ea962605707%40redis
- Gonzalez-Dehass, A., Furner, J., Vasquez-Colina, M. & Morris, J. (2021). Achievement goals as predictors of female pre-service elementary school teachers' self-efficacy for learning math in a methods course. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/10901027.2021.1955052

- Gordon, S., Jacobs, J., Solis, R. & Croteau, S. (2020). Informal teacher leaders: Who they are, what they do, and how they impact teaching and learning. *Journal of School Leadership*, 31(6). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/1052684620924468
- Greenhalgh, S., Rosenberg, J. & Russell, A. (2021). The influence of policy and context on teachers' social media use. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *52*(5), 2020-2037. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/bjet.13096
- Greenway, C. & Edwards, A. (2020). Knowledge and attitudes towards attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A comparison of teachers and teaching assistants.

 *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties, 25(1), 31-49. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/19404158.2019.1709875
- Groark, C., Eidelman, S., Kazmarek, L. & Maude, S. (2011). Early childhood intervention:

 Shaping the future for children with special needs and their families. Praeger.

 https://books.google.com/books?id=7f3XYHfH5hAC&pg=PA9&lpg=PA9&dq=weintrau

 b++mills+vs+board+of+education&source=bl&ots=0n01VgXWI1&sig=ACfU3U22Uwg

 NzuLZcvvU4Acgq5xdhsvp0A&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwjcvNP8tIL4AhU0tYQIHc

 AsBBYQ6AF6BAgkEAM#v=onepage&q=weintraub%20%20mills%20vs%20board%20

 of%20education&f=false
- Guba, E. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiry. *Educational Communication and Technology*, 29(2), 75-91.

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/30219811?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- Guba, E. & Lincoln, Y. (1982). Epistemological and methodological bases of naturalistic inquiry. *Educational Communication and Technology*, *30*(4), 233-252. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30219846?seq=19#metadata_info_tab_contents

- Guenther, A. (2021). "It should be helping me improve, not telling me I'm a bad teacher": The influence of accountability-focused evaluations on teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 108. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103511
- Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N. & McKenna, K. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews: Findings from a randomized study. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(6), 693-708. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601
- Gweon, H. (2021). Inferential social learning: Cognitive foundations of human social learning and teaching. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 25(10), 896-910. https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S1364661321001789?via%3Dihub
- Hammer, T. (2011). Social learning theory. *Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development*. https://link.springer.com/referenceworkentry/10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9_2695
- Hanford, E. (2014). The troubled history of vocational education. *APM Reports*, 2023.

 https://www.apmreports.org/episode/2014/09/09/the-troubled-history-of-vocational-education
- Hanisch, C., Eichberger, I., Richard, S. & Doepfner, M. (2020). Effects of a modular teacher coaching program on child attention problems and disruptive behavior an on teachers' self-efficacy and stress. *School Psychology International*, 41(6). https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0143034320958743
- Hargreaves, E., Quick, L. & Buchanan, D. (2021). "I got rejected": Investigating the status of 'low-attaining' children in primary school. *Pedagogy, Culture, and Society*, 29(1), 79-97. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/14681366.2019.1689408

- Helfer, M. (2021). Fairy tales and the transmission of prejudice. *Teaching German*, *54*(1)74-87. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/tger.12155
- Henley, M. (2022). Classroom management: A proactive approach. Pearson.
- Herr, S. (2009). An ADHD checklist for teachers: In 2003 approximately 4.4 million children aged 4-17 were reported to have a history of ADHD diagnosis; Of these 2.5 million (56%) were reported to be taking medication for the disorder. *Kappa Delta Kappan*, 91(1). https://go-gale-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ps/i.do?p=BIC&u=vic_liberty&id=GALE%7CA208890763&v=2.1&it=r&sid=summon
- Hester, O., Bridges, S. & Rollins, L. (2020). "Overworked and underappreciated": Special education teachers describe stress and attrition. *Teacher Development*, 24(3), 348-365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1767189
- Hetrick, L. (2018). *Teaching art*. University of Illinois Press.
- Holmes, A. (2020). Researcher positionality A consideration of its influence and place in qualitative research A new researcher guide. *International Journal of Education*, 8(4), 1-10. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1268044.pdf
- Hong, Y. & Matsko, K. (2019). Looking inside and outside of mentoring: Effects on new teachers' organization commitment. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(6). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.3102%2F0002831219843657
- Hu, B., Li, Y., Wang, C., Reynolds, B. & Wang, S. (2019). The relation between school climate and preschool teacher stress: The mediating role of teachers' self-efficacy. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 16 August 2019. https://www-emerald-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JEA-08-2018-0146/full/html

- Hu, Z., Li, J. & Kwan, H. (2021). The effects of negative mentoring experiences on mentor creativity: The roles of mentor ego depletion and traditionality. *Human Resource Management*, 61(1), 39-54. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/hrm.22076
- Huguley, J., Delale-O'Connor, L., Wang, M. & Parr, A. (2021). African American parents' educational involvement in urban schools: Contextualized strategies for student success in adolescence. *Educational Researcher*, 50(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.3102%2F0013189X20943199
- Husserl, E. (1901). *Philosophy of arithmetic*. Springer. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-94-010-0060-4
- Innes, K., Graham, J. & Bray, S. (2020). Effects of peer encouragement on efficacy perceptions and physical performance in children. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 42(4). https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32711396/
- Jackson, J., Egmond, M., Choi, V., Ember, C., Halberstadt, J., Balanovic, J., Basker, I., Boehnke, K., Buki, N., Fischer, R., Fulop, M., Fulmer, A., Homan, A., VanKleef, G., Kreemers, L., Schei, V., Scabo, E., Ward, C. & Gelfand, M. (2019). Ecological and cultural factors underlying the global distribution of prejudice. *Plos One*, *14*(9). https://www-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.ezproxy.liberty.edu/pmc/articles/PMC6730889/
- Jacquette, D. (2014). Ontology. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315710655
- Jensen, M. & Solheim, O. (2019). Exploring associations between supervisory support, teacher burnout and classroom emotional climate: the moderating role of pupil teacher ratio.

 **Educational Psychology, 40(3), 367-388. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/01443410.2019.1673881

- Kang, S., Ha, J. & Velasco, T. (2017). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder on YouTube: Framing, anchoring, and objectification in social media. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 53(4), 445-451.
 - https://www.proquest.com/docview/1884771662?parentSessionId=wCpV%2Fk1XuvUuF WF6qBh1BgjWsxPt6NyCT7exjaXuhP0%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Karimi, H., Torphy, K., Derr, T., Frank, K. & Tang, J. (2020). Characterizing teacher connections in on-line social media: A case study on Pinterest. *Proceedings on the Seventh ACM Conference on Learning*, August, 249-252.
 https://dl.acm.org/doi/abs/10.1145/3386527.3405941
- Kariou, A., Koutsimani, P., Montgomery, A. & Laindi, O. (2021). Emotional labor and burnout among teachers: A systematic review. *International Journal Environ Res Public Health*, 18(23). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8657663/
- Karlstad, O., Furu, K., Stoltenberg, C., Haberg, S. & Bakken, I. (2017). ADHD treatment:

 Children's birth month. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 45(4). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/1403494817708080?utm_source=summon&utmedium=discovery-provider
- Kauffman, J., Hallahan, D., Pullen, P. & Badar, J. (2018). *Special education: What it is and why we need it.* Routledge.
- Keller, T. & Szakal, P. (2021). Not just words! Effects of a light-touch randomized encouragement intervention on students' exam grades, self-efficacy, motivation, and test anxiety. *PLoS One*, *16*(9).

- https://www.proquest.com/docview/2572892008?parentSessionId=uAfJpveY96UQ6DW KlCMXg6NHsrdCiF6%2FwuXLgtvZH08%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Khoros (2022). *The 2022 social media demographics guide*. Khoros. https://khoros.com/resources/social-media-demographics-guide
- Kim, L. & Buric, I. (2020). Teacher self-efficacy and burnout: Determining the directions of prediction through an auto-aggressive cross-lagged panel model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 112(8), 1661-1676. https://web-p-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=60eb7b6c-37df-48d8-8c02-71857bc6e334%40redis
- Korstjens, I. & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4:

 Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 120-124.

 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kroker, K. (2021). Encephalitis lethargica: Last century's long haulers? *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 193(37), E1468-E1470. https://doi.org/10.1503%2Fcmaj.210807
- Kulakowski, K., Stojkow, M. & Zuchowska- Skiba, D. (2020). Heider balance, prejudices, and size effect. *The Journal of Mathematical Sociology*, 44(3), 129-137. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/0022250X.2019.1664509
- Kunemund, R., McCullough, S., Williams, C., Miller, C., Sutherland, K., Conroy, M. & Granger,
 K. (2020). The mediating role of teacher self-efficacy in the relationship between teacher-child race mismatch and conflict. *Psychology in the School*, *57*(11), 1757-1770.
 https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/pits.22419

- Kusche, I. & Barker, J. (2019). Pathogens and immigrants: A critical appraisal of the behavioral immune system as an explanation of prejudice against ethnic outgroups. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2412. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.3389%2Ffpsyg.2019.02412
- Lange, K., Reich, S., Lange, K, Tucha, L. & Tucha, O. (2010). The history of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, 2(4), 241-255. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs12402-010-0045-8
- Lauermann, F. & Berger, J. (2021). Linking teacher self-efficacy and responsibility with teachers' self-reported and student-reported motivating styles and student engagement.

 **Learning and Instruction, 76, Dec. 2021. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2020.101441
- Lawrence, W. & Mathis, J. (2020). Multimodal assessments: Affording children labelled "atrisk" expressive and receptive opportunities in the area of literacy. *Language and Education*, 34(2). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/09500782.2020.1724140
- Laybourn, S., Frenzel, A. & Fenzl, T. (2019). Teacher procrastination, emotions, and stress: A qualitative study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2325. https://www-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.ezproxy.liberty.edu/pmc/articles/PMC6798067/
- Lee, N., Buchanan, K. & Yu, M. (2020). Each post matters: A content analysis of #mentalhealth images on Instagram. *Journal of Visual Information in Medicine*, 43(3), 128-138.

 https://web-p-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=7db9e84b-a819-4616-abd9-f51f62c52519%40redis

- Lee, J., Lee, H. & Bong, M. (2022). Boosting children's math self-efficacy by enriching their growth mindsets and gender-fair beliefs. *Theory into Practice*, 61(1). https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/00405841.2021.1932156
- Lee, Y., Mikami, A & Owens, J. (2021). Children's' ADHD symptoms and friendship patterns across a school year. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49(5), 643-656. <a href="https://web-p-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/results?vid=0&sid=bf7644dc-6f32-491d-af5f-18fb4d444335%40redis&bquery=PM%2B33532873&bdata=JmRiPW1uaCZ0eXBIPTEmc2VhcmNoTW9kZT1TdGFuZGFyZCZzaXRIPWVob3N0LWxpdmUmc2NvcGU9c2l0ZQ%3d%3d
- Lessard, L. & Juvonen, J. (2020). Weight stigma in the school setting: The role of inclusive weight climate A commentary. *Journal of School Health*, 90(7), 507-510. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1111/josh.12898
- Lincoln, Y. & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Linneberg, M. & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice.

 **Qualitative Research Journal, 19(3), 259-270.*

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2234410819?accountid=12085
- Liu, C., Yao, X., Wang, M. & Du, L. (2020). Academic support for students with developmental disabilities in elementary schools: The roles and experiences of Chinese classroom teachers. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 66(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080%2F20473869.2019.1653659
- Lowe, G., Gray, C., Prout, P., Jefferson, S. & Shaw, T. (2019). Still keen and committed:

 Piloting and instrument for identifying positive veteran teachers. *Teachers and Teaching*,

- 25(4), 418-433. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/13540602.2019.1621829
- Lu, X. & Guy, M. (2019). Emotional labor, performance goal orientation, and burnout from the perspective of conservation of resources: A United States/ China comparison. *Public Performance and Management Review*, 42(3), 685-706.

 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15309576.2018.1507916
- Macht, J. (2017). *The medicalization of America's schools*. Palgrave/McMillan. https://link-springer-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/content/pdf/bfm%3A978-3-319-62974-2%2F1
- Maki, K., Barrett, C., Hajovsky, D. & Burns, M. (2020). An examination of the relationship between specific learning disabilities identification and growth rates, achievement, cognitive ability, and student demographics. *School Psychology*, *35*(5), 343-352.

 https://www.researchgate.net/deref/http%3A%2F%2Fdx.doi.org%2F10.1037%2Fspq000004000
- Malik, Z. & Haidar, S. (2020). Online community development through social interaction K-Pop stan twitter as community of practice. *Interactive Learning Environments*, August 2020. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/10494820.2020.1805773
- Marks, A., Wilkes, L., Blythe, S. & Griffiths, R. (2017). A novice researcher's reflection on recruiting participants for qualitative research. *Nurse Researcher*, 25(2).

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610?parentSessionId=c4TzPG%2BFYA3m
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/1953975610
 <a href="https://www.proquest.com/
- Martinez-Ramon, J., Moraled-Rodriguez, F. & Perez-Lopez, S. (2021). Burnout, resilience, and covid-19 among teachers: Predictive capacity of an artificial neural network. *Applied Sciences*, 11(17), 8206.

- https://www.proquest.com/docview/2570582363?parentSessionId=UAyIM5Fx0zyATsv Ul43NEdrqi2CXLfj5q%2BJAiQIsu9o%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Marz, V. & Kelchtermans, G (2020). The networking teacher in action: A qualitative analysis of early career teachers' induction process. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 87. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102933
- McCoach, B., Siegle, D. & Rubenstein, L. (2020). Pay attention to inattention: Exploring ADHD symptoms in a sample of underachieving gifted students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *64*(2). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0016986219901320
- McCullough, S., Granger, K. & Pandey, T. (2022). A preliminary study of BEST in CLASS Elementary on teacher self-efficacy, burnout, and attributions. *Behavioral Disorders*, 47(2)84-94. https://doi.org/10.1177/01987429211010672
- McLean, D., Eklund, K., Kilgus, S. & Burns, M. (2019). Influence of teacher burnout and self-efficacy on teacher-related variance in social-emotional and behavioral screening scores. *School Psychology*, 34(5), 503-511. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30589314/
- McLeod, J. & O'Connor, K. (2019). Ethics, archives and data sharing in qualitative research. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 53(5), 523-535. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/00131857.2020.1805310
- McMahon, S., Peist, E., Davis, J., McConnell, E., Reaves, S., Reddy, L., Anderman, E. & Espelage. (2020). Addressing violence against teachers: A social ecological analysis of teachers' perspectives. Psychology in the Schools, 57(7), 1040-1056.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22382

- Merritt, A. & Wang, Y. (2022). Destructive leaders in schools: Can they be instructional leaders?

 **NASSP Bulletin, 106(2). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/01926365221102379
- Metzger, A. & Hamilton, L. (2020). The stigma of ADHD: Teacher ratings of labeled students.

 *Sociological Perspectives, 64(2). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/10.1177/0731121420937739
- Meyer, B., Stevenson, J. & Sonuga-Barke, E. (2020). Sex differences in the meaning of parent and teacher ratings of ADHD behaviors: An observational study. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(13). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F1087054717723988
- Mikami, A., Smit, S., & Johnston, C. (2019). Teachers' attributions for students' attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder behaviors experiences with children and with classroom behavioral management in a summer program practicum. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(6), 928-944. https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1002/pits.22250
- Milu, E. (2021). Diversity of raciolinguistic experiences in the writing classroom: An argument for a transnational Black language. *Urbana*, 83(6), 415-441.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2561109488?parentSessionId=x6uDB2g9M7Yr13H

 FwWMW8CISPUyQOPGtQaPc7atzO5Y%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Moody, S., Kuo, L., Eslami, Z. (2022). Learning to be teachers: Preservice teacher descriptions of practice-based teacher education. *Issues in Teacher Education*, *31*(3), 5-25. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2738247967?pq-origsite=summon
- Moon, T. (2011). A primer on research ethics in the field of gifted education. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 55(3), 223-229. https://journals-sagepub-

com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/pdf/10.1177/0016986211412163

- Moser, A. & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3:

 Sampling, data collection, and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 918. https://web-p-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=b0740a70-8761-4e4a-97b7-cbb817f4bdad%40redis
- Morettini, B., Luet, K. & Vernon-Dotson, L. (2020). Building beginning teacher resilience:

 Exploring the relationship between mentoring and contextual acceptance. *The Educational Forum*, 84(1). https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/00131725.2020.1679933?scroll=top&needAccess=true
- Morgan, J. (2022). What do "research influencers" mean for education? *TES Magazine*.

 https://www.tes.com/magazine/teaching-learning/general/what-do-research-influencers-mean-education
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Sage. https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/base/download/BookChapter/phenomenological-research-methods/d4.xml
- Mowrey, S. (2020). Early childhood professional culture: Social networks and beliefs among pre-kindergarten educators. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 18(3). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/10.1177/1476718X20911980
- Mueller, C. (2018). Adolescent understandings of disability labels and social stigma in school.

 *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 32(3). https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/09518398.2019.1576940

- Mueller, C. (2021). "I didn't know people with disabilities could grow up to be adults":

 Disability history, curriculum, and identity in special education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 44(3). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/0888406421996069?utm_source=summon&utm_medium=discovery-provider
- Muenchhausen, S., Braeunig, M., Pfeifer, R., Goritz, A., Bauer, J., Lahmann, C. & Wuensch, A. (2021). Teacher self-efficacy and mental health Their intricate relation to professional resources and attitudes in an established manual-based psychological group program.

 Frontiers in Psychology, 12, 510183. https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffpsyt.2021.510183
- Murphy, T., Masterson, M., Mannix-McNamara, Tally, P. & McLaughlin. (2020). The being of a teacher: Teacher pedagogical well-being and teacher self-care. *Teachers and Teaching*, 26(7-8), 588-601). https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2021.1913403
- National Center for Education Statistics (2022). *Racial/ethnic enrollment in public schools*.

 NCES. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cge/racial-ethnic-enrollment
- National Resource Center on ADHD (2023). *IDEA vs. Section 504*. https://chadd.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/IDEA_vs_504_infographic.pdf
- Nelimarkka, M., Leinonen, T., Durall, E. & Dean, P. (2021). Facebook is not a silver bullet for teachers' professional development: Anatomy of an eight-year-old social media community. *Computers and Education, 173*. https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S0360131521001469?via%3Dihub
- Neuberg, S. & Sng, O. (2013). A life history theory of social perception: Stereotyping at the intersection of age, sex, ecology (and race). *Social Cognition*, 31(6), 696-711.

- https://www.proquest.com/docview/1461991193?parentSessionId=NsV4URtKnR37gozr 7RNFlXJ7qvGVl6ROoKE6wGVbpj0%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Nichols, E., Shreffler-Grant, J. & Weinert, C. (2021). Where have they gone? Recruiting older research participants. *Online Journal of Rural Nursing Health Care*, 21(1), 179-182. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8570614/
- Normand, S., Lambert, M., Guiet, J., Bakerman, R. & Mikami, Y. (2022). Peer contagion dynamics in the friendships of children with adhd. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 2022. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/jcpp.13597
- Nutter, S., Ireland, A., Alberga, A., Brun, I., Lefebvre, D., Hayden, A. & Russell-Mahew, S. (2019). Weight bias in educational settings: A systematic review. *Current Obesity Reports*, 8, 185-200. https://link-springer-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/article/10.1007/s13679-019-00330-8
- O'Connor, C., Brassil, M., O'Sullivan, S., Seery, C. & Nearchou, F. (2022). How does diagnostic labelling affect social responses to people with mental illness? A systematic review of experimental studies using vignette-based designs. *Journal of Mental Health*, 31(1), 115-130. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/09638237.2021.1922653
- O'Kane, P., Smith, A. & Lerman, M. (2019). Building transparency and trustworthiness in inductive research through computer-aided qualitative data analysis software.

 **Organizational Research Methods, 24(1). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/1094428119865016?utm_source=summon&utm_ediscovery-provider

- Okoro, A., Nwagbo, C., Ugwuanyi, C., & Ugwu, B. (2022). Evaluating the impact of teachers' self-efficacy on students' academic achievement in biology in Enugu State, Nigeria.

 Webology, 19(3). https://www.webology.org/abstract.php?id=2676
- Oner, O., Vatanartiran, S. & Karadeniz, S. (2019). Grade effects on teacher ratings of ADHD symptoms among primary school students. *National Library of Medicine*, 60(4), 304-308. https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12540
- Outlaw, J. & Grifenhagen, J. (2021). Supporting novice K-2 teachers' self-efficacy for literacy: Early literacy teacher induction for rural schools. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 60(3), 242-263. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/19388071.2020.1822474
- Owens, J., Allan, D., Hustus, C. & Erchul, W. (2018). Examining correlates of teacher receptivity to social influence strategies within a school consultation relationship.

 *Psychology in the School, 55(9), 1041-1055. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/pits.22163
- Owens, J. (2020). Relationships between an ADHD diagnosis and future school behaviors among children with mild behavioral problems. *Sociology of Education*, 93(3). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0038040720909296
- Pavlov, I. (1904). Physiology of digestion. *The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine, 1904*. https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/medicine/1904/pavlov/lecture/
- Pendlebury, S. (1998). Feminism, epistemology, and education. In David Carr (Ed), *Education Knowledge and Truth*. (Ch 11). Routledge.
- Peredaryenko, M. & Krauss, S. (2013). Calibrating the human instrument: Understanding the interviewing experience of novice qualitative researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 18(85), 1-17. https://web-p-ebscohost-

- com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/detail/vid=0&sid=21ba25c4-4bde-4cc3-8fb2-9c95826b05c1%40redis&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#AN=91747682&db=asn
- Perera, H. & John, J. (2020). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs for teaching math: Relations with teacher and student outcomes. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 61. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101842
- Pew Research (2021). https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/social-media/?menuItem=f13a8cb6-8e2c-480d-9935-5f4d9138d5c4
- Pica, R. (2020). What if we taught the way children learn? Corwin.
- Polizzi, S. Zhu, Y., Reid, J., Ofem, B., Salisbury, S., Beeth, M., Roehrig, G., Mohr-Schroeder, M., Sheppard, K. & Rushton, G. (2021). Science and mathematics teacher communities of practice: Social influences on discipline-based identity and self-efficacy beliefs.
 International Journal of STEM Education, 8(1).
 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2512388085?parentSessionId=8v%2FcJSiMFMFq4v
 gCKUZI%2FSrAZA1y1el638UhDJto6i4%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Price, V. & Archbold, J. (1995). Development and application of social learning theory. *British Journal of Nursing*, 4(21), 1263-1268. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8574105/
- Prilop, C, Weber, K. & Prins, F. & Kleinknecht, M. (2021). Connecting feedback to self-efficacy: Receiving and providing peer feedback in teacher education. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 70. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.stueduc.2021.101062
- Pukalos, E. & Schmitt, N. (1995). Experience-based and situational interview questions: Studies of validity. *Personnel Psychology*, 48(2), p289.

- https://www.proquest.com/docview/220138372/1D2020F2DF794226PQ/1?accountid=12 085
- Redding, C. & Smith, T. (2019). Supporting early career alternatively certified teachers:

 Evidence from the beginning teacher longitudinal study. *Teachers College Record*,

 121(11). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/016146811912101107
- Reitman, G. & Karge, B. (2019). Investing in teacher support leads to teacher retention: Six supports administrators should consider for new teachers. *Multicultural Education*, 47(1), 7-18. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1250205
- Rickert, N. & Skinner, E. (2021). Parent and teacher warm involvement and student academic engagement: The mediating role of self-system processes. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92(2). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/bjep.12470
- Rigoni, M., Blevins, L., Kasenhagen, L.& Rettew, D. (2020). Symptom level associations between attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and school performance. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 59(9-10). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/0009922820924692
- Rodriguez-Triana, M., Prieto, L., Ley, T., Jong, T. & Gillet, D. (2020). Social practices in teacher knowledge creation and innovation adoption: A large scale study in an on-line instructional design community for inquiry learning. *International Journal of Computer Supported Collaborative Learning*, 155(4), 445-467. https://www-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/2475200412?pq-origsite=summon
- Rossman, G. & Rallis, S. (2017). *An introduction to qualitative research: Learning in the field*(4th ed.). Sage. https://methods-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/book/an-introduction-to-qualitative-research-4e/i1090.xml

- Russell, M., Attoh, P., Chase, T., Gong, T., Kim, J. & Liggans, G. (2020). Examining burnout and the relationships between job characteristics, engagement, and turnover intention among U. S. educators. *Sage Open.* https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020972361
- Saint Augustine (2015). (In) The truth competition. *National Association of Evangelicals (NAE)*. https://www.nae.org/the-truth-competition/
- Saldana, J. (2021). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.
- Salinas-Falquez, S., Roman-Lorente, C., Buzica, M., Alvarez, J., Gutierrez, N. & Trigueros, R. (2022). Teachers' mental health and their involvement in educational inclusion.

 Behavioral Sciences, 12(8), 261. https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fbs12080261
- Saloviita, T. & Pakarinen, E. (2021). Teacher burnout explained: Teacher student and organization-level variables. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 97. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103221
- Scallon, A., Bristol, T. & Esboldt, J. (2021). Teachers perceptions of principal leadership practices that influence teacher turnover. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/19427751211034214
- Schachter, R., Gerde, H. & Hatton-Bowers, H. (2019). Guidelines for selecting professional development for early childhood teachers. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47(4), 395-408.
 - https://www.proquest.com/docview/2206835947?parentSessionId=FgO8O44F%2FgFiV

 XnrgTcgYzG8Kl%2BkeGf%2FcRaRsou2j1A%3D&pqorigsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Schatz, N., Fabiano, G., Raiker, J., Hayes, T. & Pelham, W. (2021). Twenty-year trends in elementary teachers' beliefs about best practices for students with ADHD. *School*

- Psychology, 36(4), 203-213. https://web-s-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=9adea894-bec0-4fc1-afad-c9fcefce0e6a%40redis
- Scheeler, M., Markelz, A., Taylor, J, Deshpande, D. & Wolfe, P. (2021). Teacher workplace bullying: How pervasive is the problem? *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 45(2). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/08884064211015698?utm_source=summon&utm_edicovery-provider
- Schefft, M., Schroeder, A., Liu, D., Nicklas, D., Moher, J. & Quinonez, R. (2019). Right care for children: Top five do's and don'ts. *American Family Physician*, 99(6), 376-382. https://www.aafp.org/pubs/afp/issues/2019/0315/p376.html
- Schmitterer, A. & Brod, G. (2021). Which data do elementary school teachers use to determine reading difficulties in their students? *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *54*(5), 349-364. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219420981990
- Schonfeld, I., Verkuilen, J. & Bianchi, R. (2019). An exploratory structural equation modeling bi-factor analytic approach to uncovering what burnout, depression, and anxiety measure. *Psychological Assessment, 31(8), 1073-1079.

 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30958024/
- Schroeder, S., Shelton, S. & Curcio, R. (2021). Creating the consumer teacher: Edu-influencers and the figured world of k-12 teaching. *American Educational Research Association*Annual Meeting Virtual Conference Paper.

- Schunk, D. & DiBenedetto, M. (2020). Motivation and social cognitive theory. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 60, Article 101832.

 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.101832
- Schutt, R. & Turner, J. (2019). Biology and American sociology, part 1: The rise of evolutionary thinking, its rejection, and potential resurrection. *The American Sociologist*, 50, 356-377. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2205738411?parentSessionId=oA8mRBjjvA9GSoaq8jMpIbJwec0j6jQWIRWRnpu%2F%2FxA%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Shafranek, R. (2020). Political consequences of partisan prejudice. *Political Psychology*, *41*(1), 35-51. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/pops.12596
- Shah, C. (2018). *Social information seeking*. Springer. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56756-3
- Shakespeare, W. (1596/2022). The merchant of Venice. *Shakespeare on-line*. http://www.shakespeare-online.com/plays/merchantscenes.html
- Shank, M. & Santiague, L. (2022). Classroom management needs of novice teachers. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas*, 95(1), 26-34. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2021.2010636
- Shelton, C., Schroeder, S. & Curcio, R. (2020) Instagramming their hearts out: What do eduinfluencers share on Instagram? *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 20(3). https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1267479
- Shorter, E. (2021). The first psychiatric pandemic: Encephalitis lethargica, 1917-1927. *Medical Hypothesis*, *146*. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110420

- Sikma, L. (2019). Moving beyond induction and mentoring: The influence of networks on novice teacher experiences. *Mentoring and Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 27(3), 317-341. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/13611267.2019.1630998
- Sim, J. & Waterfield, J. (2019). Focus group methodology: Some ethical challenges. *Quality & Quantity*, 53, 3003-3022. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11135-019-00914-5
- Simoncini, K., Pamphilon, B. & Smith, B. (2021). Learning from teachers like us: using video to move beyond 'secret knowledge' in Papua New Guinea elementary teacher professional development. *Teachers and Teaching*, 27(1-4). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/13540602.2021.1920908
- Simoni, Z. (2021). Social class, teachers, and medicalization lag: A qualitative investigation of teachers' discussions of ADHD with parents and the effect of neighborhood-level social class. *Health Sociology Review*, 30(2), 188-203.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14461242.2020.1820364
- Skiba, R., Horner, R., Chung, C., Rausch, K., May, S. & Yobin, T. (2019). Race is not neutral: A national investigation of African American and Latino disproportionality in school discipline. *School Psychology Review*, 40(1), 85-107.

 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02796015.2011.12087730?src=recsys
- Skinner, B. & Skinner, B. (2002). *Beyond freedom & dignity*. Hackett. https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/lib/liberty/detail.action?docID=473627
- Slobodin, O. & Davidovitch, M. (2019). Gender differences in objective and subjective measures of ADHD among clinic-referred children. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffnhum.2019.00441

- Smith, M. (2012). *Hyperactive: The controversial history of ADHD*. Reaktion Books Ltd.

 https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/lib/liberty/detail.action?docID=1127631
- Solomon, C. & Lambie, G. (2020). Hispanic teachers experiences with occupational stressors while working in title 1 elementary schools. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 19(2), 148-163. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1246112
- South, J. (2022). Ed influencers. *International Society for Technology in Education*. https://info.iste.org/ed-influencers
- Speerforck, Sven., Stolzenburg, S., Hertel, J., Grabe, H., Straub, M., Carta, M., Angermeyer, M. & Schomerus, G, (2019). ADHD stigma and continuum beliefs: A population survey towards children and adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 282. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112570
- Sperling, J. (2020). "I just want to finish high school like everybody else" Continuation high school students resist deficit discourse and stigmatization. *Equity and Excellence in Education*, 52(4), 465-484. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/10665684.2019.1691960
- Spiegler, O., Christ, O. & Verkuyten, M. (2022). National identity exploration attenuates the identification-prejudice link. *Group Processes and Intergroup Relations*, 25(4). https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1368430221990093
- Statista (2022). Frequency of using social media as a news source in the United States as of February 2022. Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1124188/us-social-media-news-consumption-ethnicity/

- Strelow, A., Dort, M., Schwinger, M. & Christiansen, H. (2021). Influences on teachers intention to apply classroom management strategies for students with ADHD: A model analysis.

 *Sustainability, 13(5). https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/5/2558
- Strohl, M. (2011). Bradley's Benzedrine studies on children with behavioral disorders. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 84(1), 27-33.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3064242/
- Sugrue, E. (2019). Moral injury among professionals in k-12 education. *American Educational Research Journal*, *57*(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.3102%2F0002831219848690
- Sutton, J. & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management.

 *Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy, 68(3), 226-231.

 *https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4485510/?tool=pmcentrez&report=abstract
- Szep, A., Dantchev, S., Zeemp, M., Schwinger, M., Chavanon, M. & Christiansen, H. (2021).

 Facilitators and barriers of teachers' use of effective classroom management strategies for students with ADHD: A model analysis based on teachers' perspectives. *Sustainability*, 13(22), 12843. https://www-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/2602249096?pq-origsite=summon
- Tak, Y., Brunwasser, S., Lichtwarck-Aschoff, A. & Engels, R. (2017). The prospective associations between self-efficacy and depressive symptoms from early to middle adolescence: A cross-lagged model. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 46(4), 744-756. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5346145/

- Taylor, D. & Raadt, J. (2020). Gay and straight sounding auditory cues elicit stereotyping about teaching effectiveness. *Journal of Research in Music Education*, 69(1). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/10.1177/0022429420948229
- Taylor, S., Bogdan, R. & Devault, M. (2019). *Introduction to qualitative research methods: A guidebook and resource*. Wiley & Sons. https://ebookcentral-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/lib/liberty/reader.action?docID=4038514&ppg=13
- Team Leverage Edu. (2021). Education influencers you should follow in 2021. *Leverage Edu*. https://leverageedu.com/blog/education-influencers/
- Teye, A. & Peaslee, L. (2020). Why mentor? A validation study of the volunteer functions inventory for use in youth mentoring. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 48(3), 1040-1058. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1002/jcop.22326
- Thapa, P., Thapa, A., Khadka, N., Bhattarai, R., Jha, S., Khanal, A. & Basnet, B. (2018).

 YouTube lens to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: A social media analysis. *BMC Res Notes, December 4*, 11(1), 854.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6277992/
- Thomas, A., Menon, A., Boruff, J., Rodriguez, A. & Ahmed, S. (2014). Applications of social constructivist learning theories in knowledge translation for healthcare professionals: A scoping review. *Implementation Science*, 9(54). https://doi.org/10.1186%2F1748-5908-9-54
- Tomaszewski, L., Zarestky, J. & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research: Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, January 2020.

- https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1609406920967174?utm_source=summon &utm_medium=discovery-provider&
- Toropova, A., Myrberg, E. & Johansson, S. (2021). Teacher job satisfaction: The importance of school working conditions and teacher characteristics. *Educational Review*, 73(1), 71-97. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1280589
- Toye, M., Wilson, C. & Wardle, G. (2018). Education professionals' attitudes towards the inclusion of children with ADHD: The role of knowledge and stigma. *Jorsen*, *19*(3), 184-196. https://nasenjournals-onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1111/1471-3802.12441
- Tracy, S. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big-tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research.

 *Qualitative Inquiry, 16(10), 837-851. <a href="https://web-s-ebscohost-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/ehost/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=6801a570-86fb-436e-a03f-ddc6af78a5aa%40redis&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#AN=55001745&db=sxi
- Tran, N. & Birman, D. (2019). Acculturation and assimilation: A qualitative inquiry of teacher expectations for Somali Bantu refugee students. *Education and Urban Society, 51*(5). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/0013124517747033?utm_source=summon&utm_edicovery-provider

- Tus, J. (2020). Self-concept, self-esteem, self-efficacy, and academic performance of the senior high school students. *International Journal of Research Culture Society*, 4(10).
- Twitter. (2022). https://twitter.com/
- Vagle, M. (2018). *Crafting phenomenological research*. Routledge. https://www-taylorfrancis-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/books/mono/10.4324/9781315173474/crafting-phenomenological-research-mark-vagle
- Van Droogenbroeck, F., Spruyt, B., Quittre, V. & Lafontaine, D. (2021). Does the school context really matter for school burnout? Review of existing multilevel teacher burnout research from the teaching and learning international survey 2018 in the Flemish and French speaking communities of Belgium. *Educational Researcher*, 50(5).

 https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0013189X21992361
- van Manen, M. (1984). Practicing phenomenological writing. *Phenomenology & Pedagogy*, 2(1), 36-69.
 - https://journals.library.ualberta.ca/pandp/index.php/pandp/article/view/14931/11752
- van Manen, M. & van Manen, M. (2021). Doing phenomenological research writing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 31(6). https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/10497323211003058?utm_source=summon&utm_ediscovery-provider
- Vasiliki, B., Papadopoulou, G. & Psoni, P. (2020). The creation and the dynamics of informal groups: The case of the teacher association in a secondary vocational school.

 International Journal of Educational Management, 34(4), 750-766. https://www-emerald-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/insight/content/doi/10.1108/IJEM-09-2019-0340/full/pdf?title=the-creation-and-the-dynamics-of-informal-groups-the-case-of-the-

- teacher-association-in-a-secondary-vocational-school
- Veirman, M. & Hudders, L. (2020). Disclosing sponsored Instagram posts: The rolle of material connection with the brand and message-sidedness when disclosing covert advertising.

 *International Journal of Advertising, 39(1), 94-130. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/02650487.2019.1575108
- Verkuyten, M. (2022). The meaning of tolerance: Discursive usage in a case of "identity politics". *Journal for the Theory of Social Behavior*, 52(2), 224-236. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/jtsb.12339
- Verkuyten, M., Adelman, L. & Yogeeswaran, K. (2020). The psychology of intolerance:

 Unpacking diverse understandings of intolerance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 29(6). https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0963721420924763
- Verkuyten, M. & Kollar, R. (2021). Tolerance and intolerance: Cultural meanings and discursive usage. *Culture and Psychology*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1354067X20984356
- Verlenden, J., Sheeren, N. & Brown, J. (2021). Steps for the implementation of universal screening for behavior and emotional risk to support multi-tiered systems of support:

 Two case studies. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 37(1), 69-107. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/15377903.2020.1780660
- Vidic, T., Duranovic, M. & Klasnic, I. (2021). Student misbehavior, teacher self-efficacy, burnout and job satisfaction: Evidence from Croatia. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 79(4), 657-673.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/2563788479?accountid=12085&parentSessionId=WnLGrJFp%2B5XhZld%2BBTpXHD2lNFw308mD%2FfDLQ2kd9EA%3D&pq-origsite=summon

- Vogels, E., Auxier, B. & Anderson, M. (2021). Partisan differences in social media use show up for some platforms, but not Facebook. *Pew Research Center*.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/04/07/partisan-differences-in-social-media-use-show-up-for-some-platforms-but-not-facebook/
- Vygotsky, L. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes.*Harvard University Press.
- Wanless, A. & Pamment, J. (2019). How do you define a problem like influence? *Journal of Information Warfare*, 18(3), 1-14, IV, VI.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2424657539?parentSessionId=hhzzLl%2BYtSBJOp3iylcdPk4qVCp81fpPF8k8Unk7OQU%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Ward, M., Ward, B., Warren, C., Silverstein, S., Ray, C., Paskhover, B. & Kornitzer, J. (2020).

 The quality of YouTube videos as an educational resource for attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatric Neurology, 103*, February, 84-85. https://www-sciencedirect-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/science/article/pii/S0887899418314012
- Weikard, M. (1787). *Der philosophische arzt*. Linz: Gedruckt bei Johann Thomas Edlen von Trattnern, t.t. Hofbuchdruckern, und Hofbuchhändlern. John Carter Brown Library, https://archive.org/details/derphilosophisch12weik/page/n7/mode/2up
- Weller, S., Vickers, B., Bernard, R., Borgatti, A., Blackburn, A., Gravlee, C. & Johnson, J. (2018). Open ended interview questions and saturation. *PLoS*, *13*(6). https://www.proquest.com/docview/2062792914?parentSessionId=Evje7LGORkiUE7Th rVqZwb%2BQrBSUesXiDyN1iatfGFE%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- Werner, S., Gumpel, T., Koller, J., Wiesenthal, V. & Weintraub, N. (2021). Can self-efficacy mediate between knowledge of policy, school support, and teacher attitudes towards

- inclusive education? *PLoS One*, *16*(9). https://www-proquest-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/docview/2574705346?pq-origsite=summon
- Wexler, L. (2019). How feedback from mentor teachers sustained student teachers through their first year of teaching. *Action in Teacher Education*, 42(2), 167-185. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/01626620.2019.1675199
- Wexler, D., Salgado, R., Gornik, A., Peterson, R. & Pritchard, A. (2022). What's race got to do with it? Informant rating discrepancies in neuropsychological evaluations for children with ADHD. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *36*(2), 264-286. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/13854046.2021.1944671
- White, A. (2022). Xenophobia, prejudice, and blame in pandemic times. *The Lancet*, 399(10324), 512-513.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/2625239744?parentSessionId=699ULchnFFjIWvT8

 kPD9AnzqFhatGETRBrO4lp0Q0jw%3D&pq-origsite=summon&accountid=12085
- White, D., Oelike, N. & Friesen, D. (2012). Management of a large qualitative data set:

 Establishing trustworthiness of the data. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*,

 11(3), 244-258. https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1177/160940691201100305?utm_source=summon&utm_medium=discovery-provider
- Wienen, A., Sluiter, M., Thoutenhoofd, E., Jonge, P. & Bastra, L. (2019). The advantages of an ADHD classification from the perspective of teachers. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *34*(5), 649-662. https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/08856257.2019.1580838

- Wilson, W., Kelly, L. & Haegele, J. (2020). "We're asking teachers to more with less":

 Perspectives on least restrictive environment implementation in physical education.

 Sport, Education, and Society, 25(9), 1058-1071. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/13573322.2019.1688279
- Wilhelm, A., Woods, D., del Rosal, K. & Wu, S. (2020). Refining a professional network:

 Understanding first-year teachers' advice seeking. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 47(3),
 96-119. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1263355
- Winters, R., Blake, J. & Chen, S. (2020). Bully victimization among children with attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: A longitudinal examination of behavioral phenotypes.

 **Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders, 28(2). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177/1063426618814724
- Wood, C. & Orpinas, C. (2021). Victimization of children with disabilities: Coping strategies and protective factors. *Disability and Society*, *36*(9), 1469-1488. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/09687599.2020.1802578
- Woodcock S. & Jones, G. (2020). Examining the interrelationship between teachers' self-efficacy and their beliefs towards inclusive education for all. *Teacher Development*, 24(4), 583-602. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1803957
- Woodcock, S., Sharma, U., Subban, P. & Hitches, E. (2022). Teacher self-efficacy and inclusive education practices: Rethinking teachers' engagement with inclusive practices. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2022.103802
- Yeung, A., Ng, E. & Abi-Jaoude, E. (2022). TikTok and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder:

 A cross-sectional study of social media content quality. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*,

 44(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F07067437221082854

- Yildirim, I. (2019). Using Facebook groups to support teachers' professional development.

 *Technology, Pedagogy, and Education, 28(5), 589-609. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/1475939X.2019.1686714
- Yoder, M. & Williford, A. (2019). Teacher perception of preschool student disruptive behavior:

 Prevalence and contributing factors. *Early Education and Development, 30*(7), 835-853.

 https://www-tandfonline-com.ezproxy.liberty.edu/doi/full/10.1080/10409289.2019.1594531
- Zava, F., Watanabe, L., Sette, S., Baumgartner, E., Laghi, F. & Coplan, R. (2019). Young children's perceptions and beliefs about hypothetical shy, unsociable, and socially avoidant peers at school. *Social Development*, 29(1), 89-109.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12386
- Zayac, R., Poole, B., Gray, C., Sargent, M., Paulk, M. & Haynes, E. (2021). No disrespect:

 Students and faculty perceptions of the qualities of ineffective teachers. *Teaching of Psychology*, 48(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F0098628320959978
- Zeinalipour, H. (2022). School connectedness, academic self-efficacy, and academic performance: The mediating role of hope. *Psychological Reports*, 25(4). https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1177%2F00332941211006926
- Zhang, S., Shi, Q. & Lin, E. (2020). Professional development needs, support, and barriers

 TALIS US new and veteran teachers' perspectives. *Professional Development in Education*, 46(3), 440-453. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1080/19415257.2019.1614967

Appendix A

IRB Approval

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

June 14, 2023

Elizabeth Minney Amy Jones

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY22-23-1385 A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF EFFECTIVE MAINSTREAM TEACHERS AND OVERLY ACTIVE DISTRACTED STUDENTS

Dear Elizabeth Minney, Amy Jones,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met: The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at

Sincerely,
G. Michele Baker, PhD, CIP
Administrative Chair
Research Ethics Office

•

Appendix B

Consent Form

Title of the Project: A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences of Mainstream

Teachers and Overly Active Distracted Students

Principal Investigator: Elizabeth I. Minney, Liberty University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must:

- (1) be over 18 years of age,
- (2) Be a current or former mainstream classroom teacher in any combination of grades K-6,
- (3) have a minimum of 4 years teaching experience, and
- (4) who routinely initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active distracted students before referring for formal assessment.

Taking part in this research project is voluntary. Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- (a) Individual interview, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams, [audio to be recorded by researcher, written transcript to be reviewed by participant within one week of receipt],
- (b) 4 Written prompts, (15 minutes each), sent via e-mail [each prompt to be returned to researcher within 1 week of receipt],
- (c) Focus group, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams [to be recorded by researcher, written transcripts to be reviewed by participants].

How could you or others benefit from this study?

By taking part in this study participants will help to shine light on the how and why some teachers choose to refer overly active distracted students for testing before implementing inclassroom instructional modifications. Contributing to this body of knowledge will enable school administrators and districts to more effectively address teacher concerns and needs as they serve this population of early elementary students.

Volunteers who participate in all three data collection methods, individual interview, focus group, and written reflection will receive a \$25 incentive gift card.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify any subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records. Data collected from you may be shared for use in future research studies or with other researchers, but if data collected from you is shared, any information that could identify you, if applicable, will be removed before the data is shared.

- Participant names and locations will not be used during data collection nor in reporting. Pseudonyms and pseudo locations will protect the privacy of participants.
- Data will be stored by the researcher on a password protected computer and disposed of after five years following completion of study.
- The researcher will have sole access to audio recordings. Recordings will be stored on password protected computers. Transcriptions of individual interviews will be provided via e-mail to the individual participant. Neither an actual name nor an actual location will be associated with an individual transcript. The original audio recording of an interview will be destroyed 5 years following the conclusion of the study.
- Confidentiality cannot be guaranteed in focus group settings. Focus group participants will not be given actual names or locations of other volunteers. While discouraged, other members of the focus group may share what was discussed with persons outside of the group.
- Confidentiality means that only the researcher will be able to link individual participants to the information provided throughout the study, but that information will remain securely unavailable to anyone except the researcher, and never shared by the researcher.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study? The researcher conducting this study is Elizabeth Minney. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you are encouraged to contact her at and and . You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Dr. Amy Jones, at

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone	
other than the researcher, you are encouraged to contact the Institutional Review Board,	
or email at	

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.

Please click the button to return the form after it is signed. Doing so will indicate that you consent to participle in the study.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

☐ The researcher has my permission to aud study.	dio/video-record me as part of my participation in this
Printed Subject Name	Preferred E-Mail Address
Signature & Date	Preferred Phone Number

Appendix C

Social Media Recruitment

ATTENTION FACEBOOK FRIENDS: I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. Degree in Curriculum & Instruction at Liberty University.

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation.

To participate, you must:

- (1) be over 18 years of age,
- (2) be a current or former mainstream classroom teacher in any combination of grades K-6.
- (3) have a minimum of 4 years teaching experience, and
- (4) routinely implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active distracted students before referring them for assessment

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- (a) Individual interview, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams [to be recorded by researcher, written transcript to be reviewed by participant]
- (b) 4 Written prompts, (15 minutes each), sent via e-mail or text
- (c) Focus group, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [to be recorded by researcher, written transcripts to be reviewed by participants].

By taking part in this study participants will help to shine light on the how and why some teachers choose to initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active distracted students for an ADHD assessment. Contributing to this body of knowledge will enable school administrators and districts to address teacher professional development needs more effectively as they serve this population of early elementary students.

If you would like to participate and meet the study criteria, please text, call, or e-mail me [
for more information, questionnaire, consent forms, and to join the study. A reminder will be emailed to you one week before your participation in the study.

Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential and in no way will be indicated anywhere in the study.

Appendix D

Verbal or Written Recruitment (E-Mail)

Hello [Potential Participant],

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph. D. Degree in Curriculum and Instruction. The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation. If you meet the participant criteria and are interested, I would like to invite you to join my study.

To participate, you must

- (1) be over 18 years of age,
- (2) be a current or former mainstream classroom teacher in any grades K-6,
- (3) have a minimum of 4 years teaching experience, and
- (4) who as a professional practice initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active distracted students before referring them for assessment.

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- (a) Individual interview, (45 60 minutes) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [recorded by researcher, written transcript to be reviewed by participant]
- (b) 4 Written prompts, (15 minutes each), sent via e-mail or text
- (c) Focus group, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [recorded by researcher, written transcripts to be reviewed by participants].

Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential and inn no way will be indicated anywhere in the study.

If you would like to participate and meet the study criteria, please text, call, or e-mail me
[for more information and to receive the screening
questionnaire. Upon return of the completed questionnaire you will be e-mailed a consent form
for electronic signature. The consent form must be signed and returned within one week to join
the study. A reminder will be e-mailed to you one week before your participation in the study.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Minney

Appendix E

Recruitment Follow-Up (Reminder)

Dear [Participant]:

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. Degree in Curriculum and Instruction. Last week a[n] [email/text] was sent to you inviting you to participate in a research study. This follow-up [email] is being sent to remind you to [respond/complete the consent form] if you would like to participate and have not already done so. The deadline for participation is [Date]. If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- (a) Individual interview (45 60 minutes) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [to be recorded by researcher, written transcript to be reviewed by participant],
- (b) 4 total written prompts, (15 minutes each), sent via e-mail or text,
- (c) Focus group, (1 hour, some 3-5 participants) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [to be recorded by researcher, written transcripts to be reviewed by participants].

Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential.

If you would like to participate and meet the study criteria, please text, call, or e-mail me for more information []] for more information, consent form, and to join the study.

The consent document contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate in this study, you will need to electronically sign the consent document that will be e-mailed to you, and then click the return button to return it to me within one week of receipt. Doing so will indicate that you have read the consent information and would like to take part in the study.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Minney

Appendix F

Permission to Solicit Participants (Facebook)

[Insert Date] [Recipient] Facebook group

Dear [Recipient],

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. Degree in Curriculum and Instruction. The title of my research project is *A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences of Mainstream Teachers of Overly Active Distracted Students*. The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation.

I am writing to request permission to post in your Facebook group (name group here) an invitation for volunteers to participate in my research study. If they agree to be in this study, I will ask participants to do the following things:

- (a) Individual interview, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams [audio to be recorded by researcher, written transcript to be reviewed by participant],
- (b) 4 written prompts, (15 minutes each), sent via e-mail or text,
- (c) Focus group, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams [to be recorded by researcher, written transcripts to be reviewed by participants].

By taking part in this study participants will help to shine light on the how and why some teachers choose to refer overly active distracted students for testing before implementing inclassroom instructional modifications. Contributing to this body of knowledge will enable school administrations and districts to more effectively address teacher concerns and needs as they serve this population of early elementary students.

Participants will be asked to contact me to schedule an interview. Participants will be presented with informed consent information prior to participating. Taking part in this study is completely voluntary, and participants are welcome to discontinue participation at any time.

A copy of the actual Facebook group solicitation post is attached below.

Thank you for considering my Facebook messenger	request. If you choose to g email	rant permission, please res or text to	spond by
Sincerely,			
Elizabeth Minney			

ATTENTION FACEBOOK FRIENDS: I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. in Education at Liberty University.

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study is to explore those lived experiences that predispose some mainstream teachers to initially modify in-classroom instruction to meet the needs of their overly active distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation.

To participate, you must:

- (5) be over 18 years of age,
- (6) be a current or former mainstream classroom teacher in any combination of grades K-6,
- (7) have a minimum of 4 years teaching experience, and
- (8) routinely implement in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active distracted students before referring them for assessment

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- (d) Individual interview, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [to be recorded by researcher, written transcript to be reviewed by participant]
- (e) 2 Written prompts, (15 minutes each), sent via e-mail
- (f) Focus group, (1 hour) via Microsoft Teams or other group meeting technology platform [to be recorded by researcher, written transcripts to be reviewed by participants].

By taking part in this study participants will help to shine light on the how and why some teachers choose to initially implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active distracted students for an ADHD assessment. Contributing to this body of knowledge will enable school administrators and districts to address teacher professional development needs more effectively as they serve this population of early elementary students.

If you would like to participate and meet the study criteria, please text, or e-mail me [] for more information, questionnaire, consent forms, and to join the study. A reminder will be emailed to you one week before your participation in the study.

Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential and in no way will be indicated anywhere in the study.

Appendix G

Screening Questionnaire

Screening Questionnaire

NAME E-MAIL
DATE CELL (I'll fill this in)

- 1) I am over 18 years of age.
- 2) I am a current, former, or retired elementary school teacher.
- 3) I do or have taught a K-6 mainstream classroom.
- 4) I have at least 4 years teaching experience.
- 5) When presented with an overly active distracted student, I prefer to first try to meet his or her learning needs in my own classroom before suggesting an ADHD assessment.

SIGNATURE			

Appendix H

Individual Interview Questions

- 1. Briefly describe your professional and educational background. CRQ
- 2. How do you define an overly active, distracted student in your classroom? CRQ
- 3. Why do you choose to initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for evaluation? SQ2
- 4. Which overly active, distracted students do you feel are most likely to benefit from inclassroom instructional modifications? SQ2
- 5. How might student demographics affect your decision to attempt in-classroom in instructional modifications or to immediately refer them for evaluation? SQ1
- Describe how personal and professional stress impacts your desire to try in-class instructional modifications before referring students for an evaluation. SQ1
- 7. What personal or professional experiences have most influenced your tendency to attempt in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for an ADHD evaluation? SQ3
- 8. What recommendations would you suggest that would help more mainstream classroom teachers initiate in-classroom instructional modifications for their overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation? SQ3

Appendix I

Research Questions

Central Research Question

What are the lived experiences of mainstream classroom teachers who initiate inclassroom instructional modifications to meet the needs of their overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation?

Sub-Question One

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers have inhibited initially implementing in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students?

Sub-Question Two

What lived professional experiences of mainstream classroom teachers forged their use of in-classroom instructional modifications for overly active, distracted students before referring them for ADHD evaluation?

Sub-Question Three

What lived experiences beyond the classroom have influenced mainstream teachers who implement in-classroom instructional modifications before referring overly active, distracted students for an ADHD evaluation?

Appendix J

Audit Trail

Data Collection	Both individual and focus group interviews were scheduled to be conducted via audio visual software platforms available to both researcher and participant. A SONY electronic voice recorder was used to record interviews. In this study, Teams Meetings and Facetime were used for individual interviews. The focus group used Skype with a back-up private Facebook group (previously set up in anticipation of audio or visual foul-up on either end). Audio recording of each individual interview was, within 24 hours, listened to, transcribed by the researcher using MS Word, and sent to each participant to verify accuracy. Paper copies of all transcriptions were placed in a notebook and stored in a locked file cabinet. They were also stored on a password protected computer. The SONY voice recorder and thumb drive backup of all data stored (continuously updated) were placed in a locked cabinet. Written contributions by participants were not returned to them for review.
Data Analysis	Saldana's Coding Manual was used to guide data analysis (breaking data down to its most simple components). All data were initially transcribed on paper verbatim. Next, in vivo coding was applied to all data the first go round for each interview, reflection, and focus group question. All handwritten notes and charts and thumb drive backup of electronic files were stored in a locked cabinet. Computer files were password encrypted.
Data Synthesis	Focused coding guided synthesis (putting ideas together for patterns and meaning). Second go round, the four research <i>questions</i> were matched with the interview, reflection, or focus group individual <i>questions</i> that best informed their answers. Interview, reflection, and focus group data was then applied to research questions. Research question/data collection question matching, and data application was continuously scrutinized and rearranged for the most appropriate match. Further synthesis produced codes, sub-themes and themes from which research questions were answered. All handwritten notes and charts and thumb drive backup of electronic files were stored in a locked cabinet. Computer files were password encrypted.
Procedural Notes	Procedural notes were preserved in a physical notebook. All other handwritten notes and charts and thumb drive backup of electronic files were stored in a locked cabinet. Computer files were password encrypted.
Signed Forms	Participant signatures were captured electronically via Docusign on consent to participate forms and most screening forms. These were

	printed and maintained in a physical notebook stored in a locked cabinet.
Other	IRB approval, interview protocols, written reflection, and focus group questions and answers were printed and stored in a physical notebook, and also stored on a backup thumb drive, all in a locked cabinet. It is also stored on a password encrypted computer. Digital and physical documents will be destroyed after three years.